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PROSPECTUS
Initial Public Offering June 9, 2021 

STACK CAPITAL GROUP INC. 

$12.00 per Unit 

This prospectus qualifies the distribution (the “Offering”) of 8,335,000 units (the “Units”) of Stack Capital Group Inc. (the “Company”, 
“Stack Capital”, “we”, “our” or “us”), a company governed by the Canada Business Corporations Act, at a price of $12.00 per Unit 
(the “Offering Price”). Each Unit consists of one common share (a “Common Share”) in the capital of the Company and one-half of 
a Common Share purchase warrant (each whole Common Share purchase warrant, an “IPO Warrant”). Each IPO Warrant will entitle 
the holder to acquire, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, one Common Share at an exercise price per share of $15.00, at any 
time prior to 4:00 p.m. (Toronto, Ontario time) on the date that is three years following the Closing Date (as defined herein). The Units 
will immediately separate into Common Shares and IPO Warrants upon issuance. See “Description of Share Capital”. 

The Company is a newly formed investment holding company. Its business objective is to maximize its long-term capital appreciation 
by seeking to achieve superior risk-adjusted investment performance. The Company intends to invest in equity, debt and/or other 
securities of growth to late stage private operating businesses (each, a “Portfolio Company” and collectively, the “Portfolio 
Companies”) in furtherance of the Company’s business objective, with such investment tailored to the specific needs and opportunities 
of the Portfolio Company. The Company will not be investing in private operating businesses smaller than $100 million in enterprise 
value. Depending on the circumstances of any particular investment opportunity and subject to compliance with applicable law, the 
Company’s investment in a Portfolio Company may range from a minority ownership position to a significant influence position, 
including control. 

The Company initially intends to invest in at least 10 growth to late stage private operating businesses located primarily in, or with 
customers, suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States, over a three-year period, 
following the closing of the Offering (the “Closing”). The Company intends to support the growth and development of its Portfolio 
Companies through active ownership, leveraging its financial strength and its manager’s industry experience and business contact 
network. Active ownership will be an integral part of the Company’s investment strategy and the support extended to Portfolio 
Companies may be provided by way of board representation, board observer rights, strategic, financial, governance and capital market 
support, and/or preparing the Portfolio Company for potential corporate transactions. 

Offering Price: $12.00 per Unit

Price to the Public Agents’ Fee(1) Net Proceeds to the Company(2)

Per Unit ......................................................            $12.00          $0.66          $11.34 
Total Offering(3)(4)(5) ................................... $100,020,000 $5,501,100 $94,518,900 

Notes: 
(1)  The Company has agreed to pay the Agents a fee equal to 5.5% of the aggregate gross proceeds of the Offering, equal to $0.66 per Unit, including any Units sold 

pursuant to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option (as defined herein). No fee will be payable to the Agents in respect of the securities issued pursuant to the 
Management Investment (as defined herein). See “Plan of Distribution”. 

(2)  Before deducting the expenses of the Offering, estimated to be $800,000, which, together with the Agents’ fee, will be payable from the proceeds of the Offering. 
The Manager has agreed to pay all expenses incurred by the Company in connection with the Offering and the Management Investment in excess of 1.5% of the 
gross proceeds of the Offering and the Management Investment. 

(3) There will be no Closing unless a minimum of 8,333,334 Units are sold pursuant to the Offering, excluding the Management Investment (the “Minimum Offering”). 
The distribution under the Offering will not continue for a period of more than 90 days after the date of the receipt obtained from the principal securities regulatory 
authority for the (final) prospectus for the Offering (the “Final Prospectus”). If one or more amendments to the Final Prospectus are filed and the principal securities 
regulatory authority has issued a receipt for any such amendment, the distribution under the Offering will not continue for a period of more than 90 days after the 
latest date of a receipt for any such amendment. In any case, the total period of distribution under the Offering will not continue for a period of more than 180 days 
from the date of the receipt for the Final Prospectus. If the Minimum Offering is not achieved during the 90-day period, subscription funds received by the Agents 
(which will be held by the Agents in trust) will be returned to the applicable subscribers without any interest or deductions, unless the applicable subscribers have 
otherwise instructed the Agents. 



(4) Does not include the Units to be purchased by the Management Investors (as defined herein) under the Management Investment on a non-brokered, private placement 
basis concurrently with Closing (see “Management Investment”). In accordance with National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities, the Common Shares and 
IPO Warrants to be acquired by the Management Investors pursuant to the Management Investment will be subject to a four-month hold from the Closing Date. In 
addition, the Management Investors will agree to voluntarily lock-up and retain all of their Common Shares and IPO Warrants for certain specified periods. See 
“Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”. 

(5) The Company has granted the Agents an option (the “Over-Allotment Option”), exercisable in whole or in part at any time for a period of 30 days after Closing, 
to purchase up to an additional 15% of the aggregate number of Units (the “Additional Units”) issued pursuant to the Offering to cover over-allotments, if any, and 
for the purposes of market stabilization of the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants, as applicable. The Additional Units will be comprised of 1,250,250 Common 
Shares (the “Additional Shares”) and 625,125 IPO Warrants (the “Additional IPO Warrants”). The Over-Allotment Option may be exercised by the Agents in 
respect of: (i) the Additional Units at a price of $12.00 per Additional Unit; (ii) the Additional Shares at a price of $11.20 per Additional Share; (iii) the Additional 
IPO Warrants at a price of $1.60 per Additional IPO Warrant; or (iv) any combination of Additional Units, Additional Shares and Additional IPO Warrants, provided 
that the aggregate number of Additional Shares and Additional IPO Warrants that may be issued upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option does not exceed 
15% of the aggregate number Common Shares and 15% of the aggregate number IPO Warrants issued as part of the Units pursuant to the Offering. If the Over-
Allotment Option is exercised in full (and before deducting expenses of the Offering), the total “Price to the Public”, “Agents’ Fee” and “Net Proceeds to the 
Company” would be $115,023,000, $6,326,265 and $108,696,735, respectively. This prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and 
distribution of the Additional Units, Additional Shares and Additional IPO Warrants issuable upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. A purchaser who 
acquires Units, Common Shares or IPO Warrants forming part of the Agents’ over-allocation position acquires such securities under this prospectus, regardless of 
whether the Agents’ over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or through secondary market purchases. See 
“Plan of Distribution – Agency Agreement and Agents’ Compensation”. 

SC Partners Ltd. (the “Manager”) has taken the initiative in creating the Company. The Manager will act as the Company’s exclusive 
manager, source and advise with respect to all investments for the Company, manage such investments and otherwise direct the Company’s 
affairs and manage the Company’s business. See “The Manager”. 

Concurrent with the closing of the Offering, certain directors and officers of the Manager (the “Management Investors”) have agreed 
to purchase an aggregate of 583,334 Units on a non-brokered, private placement basis at the Offering Price for gross proceeds of 
$7,000,008 (the “Management Investment”). No commission or other fee will be paid to any agents in connection with the 
Management Investment. Closing of the Offering is conditional on the closing of the Management Investment. See “Important 
Information About this Prospectus”, “Management Investment” and “Plan of Distribution”. As part of the terms of the Management 
Investment, each Management Investor will covenant and agree with the Company to voluntarily lock-up and retain all of the Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the Offering and the Management Investment until the fifth anniversary of the 
Closing Date, subject to certain limited exceptions. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to Contractual Restriction on 
Transfer”. 

The terms of the Offering were determined by negotiation between the Company, on the one hand, and TD Securities Inc., RBC 
Dominion Securities Inc., Scotia Capital Inc., National Bank Financial Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., Raymond James Ltd., Cormark 
Securities Inc., Haywood Securities Inc., iA Private Wealth Inc., Manulife Securities Incorporated, Richardson Wealth Ltd. and 
Wellington-Altus Private Wealth Inc. (collectively, the “Agents”), on the other hand. See “Plan of Distribution”. The Offering Price 
was determined by negotiation among the Company and the Agents with reference to prevailing market conditions. 

The Agents, as agents, conditionally offer the Units on a best efforts basis, subject to prior sale, if, as and when issued by the Company 
and accepted by the Agents in accordance with the conditions contained in the Agency Agreement between the Company, the Manager 
and the Agents referred to under “Plan of Distribution” and subject to the approval of certain legal matters on behalf of the Company 
by Fogler, Rubinoff LLP and on behalf of the Agents by Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP. It is expected that Closing will occur on or 
about June 16, 2021, or such other date as may be mutually agreed to by the Company and the Agents, but in any event no later than 
September 8, 2021 (the “Closing Date”). 

In connection with the Offering, the Agents have been granted the Over-Allotment Option and may, subject to applicable law, over-
allocate or effect transactions that stabilize or maintain the market price of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants at levels other than 
those that otherwise might prevail on the open market. See “Plan of Distribution – Price Stabilization and Passive Market-Making”. 

The following table sets out the number of securities that may be issued by the Company to the Agents pursuant to the Over-Allotment 
Option: 

Agents’ Position Maximum Size Exercise Period ________ Exercise Price _____ 

Over-Allotment Option Option to purchase up to an additional 
15% of the aggregate number of Units 
issued pursuant to the Offering. The 
Over-Allotment Option may be exercised 
to acquire any combination of Units, 
Common Shares or IPO Warrants, 
provided that the aggregate number of 
each of the Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants does not exceed 15% of the 
aggregate number of Units issued 
pursuant to the Offering 

For a period of 30 days after 
Closing 

$12.00 per Unit,  
$11.20 per Common 
Share and $1.60 per 
IPO Warrant 



Registrations and transfers of Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units will be effected electronically through the non-
certificated inventory system administered by CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc. Beneficial owners of Common Shares and 
IPO Warrants comprising the Units will not, except in certain limited circumstances, be entitled to receive physical certificates 
evidencing their ownership of Common Shares and IPO Warrants. See “Plan of Distribution – Non-Certificated Inventory System”. 

There is currently no market through which the Common Shares and IPO Warrants may be sold and purchasers may not be 
able to resell the Common Shares and IPO Warrants purchased under this prospectus. This may affect the pricing of the 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants in the secondary market, the transparency and availability of trading prices, the liquidity 
of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants, and the extent of issuer regulation. An investment in Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants comprising the Units is subject to a number of risks that should be considered by a prospective purchaser. Investors 
should carefully consider the risk factors described under “Risk Factors” before purchasing the Units. 

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants (including the underlying Common 
Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) on the TSX under the symbols “STCK” and “STCK.WT”, respectively, via the 
TSX Sandbox, an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy all requirements and guidelines of the 
TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX. As the Company does 
not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX set out in Section 309(a) of the TSX Company Manual, the TSX has 
exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical earnings and pre-tax cash flow, and has agreed to list the 
Company pursuant to the TSX Sandbox. Listing on the TSX is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements 
of the TSX by August 17, 2021, including, among other things, raising minimum gross proceeds of $100 million under the 
Offering and the distribution of a minimum number of freely tradable Common Shares and IPO Warrants having a minimum 
aggregate market value and held by a minimum number of public holders. It is a condition of Closing that the Common Shares 
and IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO 
Warrants) are conditionally approved for listing on the TSX. See “Plan of Distribution – Listing Application”. 

The Company is a corporation formed and existing under the laws of Canada. See “The Company”. The registered and head office of 
the Company is located at 77 King Street West, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5K 1G8. 

All monetary amounts used herein are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise indicated. 
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IMPORTANT INFORMATION ABOUT THIS PROSPECTUS 

Readers should rely only on the information contained in this prospectus. The Company has not authorized any person to 
provide different or additional information. The information contained on or available through Stack Capital’s websites is not 
intended to be included in or incorporated by reference into this prospectus, and prospective investors should not rely on such 
information when deciding whether or not to invest in the Units. Any information demonstrating the historical performance of 
any entity contained in this prospectus is intended only to illustrate past performance and is not necessarily indicative of such 
entity’s future performance. The Units may be sold only in those jurisdictions where offers and sales are permitted. This 
prospectus is not an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the Units in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful. The 
information contained in this prospectus is accurate only as of the date specified in this prospectus, regardless of the time of 
delivery of this prospectus or of any sale of the Units. 

For investors outside Canada, neither the Company nor any of the Agents has done anything that would permit the Offering or 
possession or distribution of this prospectus in any jurisdiction where action for that purpose is required, other than in Canada. 
Investors are required to inform themselves about, and to observe any restrictions relating to, the Offering and the possession 
or distribution of this prospectus. 

In order to address certain securities regulatory or public interest policy objectives, the Company has or will, prior to Closing, 
voluntarily adopt a number of measures (the “Voluntary Measures”) that will define the Company’s business and the scope 
of its operations. These voluntarily adopted measures include: 

(a) the Company will invest at least 75% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the Management Investment in private 
equity, debt and/or other securities of growth to late stage private operating businesses located primarily in, or with 
customers, suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States on or before 
the third anniversary of the Closing Date, except where the Board determines, acting reasonably and in good faith, 
that satisfying such time commitment would result in a breach of the Board’s fiduciary duties under applicable 
corporate law (the “75% Investment Requirement”); 

(b) each of the Company’s portfolio investments is subject to a concentration restriction that prohibits the Company from 
making an investment if, after giving effect to such investment, such investment would exceed 20% of the Total Assets 
on the closing date of such investment (the “Investment Concentration Restriction”); 

(c) the Management Investment will be completed subject to and concurrently with the completion of the Offering; 

(d) the Company has included in its by-laws express provisions setting forth: (i) its business objective (including the 
Investment Concentration Restriction); and (ii) the requirement that a custodian hold its assets, where such custodian 
must be an entity that would be qualified to act as a custodian in accordance with Part 6 of National Instrument 81-
102 - Investment Funds other than the requirements under subsections 6.2(3)(a) and 6.2(3)(b) of such instrument 
(collectively the “Voluntary Measures By-Law Provisions”). Any amendments to the Voluntary Measures By-Law 
Provisions will require the approval of the holders of the Common Shares. Each such approval shall be evidenced by 
an “ordinary resolution”, as such term is defined under the CBCA, except for amendments to the Company’s business 
objective, which approval shall be evidenced by a “special resolution”, as such term is defined under the CBCA; 

(e) the Board will consist of a majority of independent directors in accordance with the recommendation of the Canadian 
securities regulatory authorities set forth in section 3.1 of National Policy 58-201 – Corporate Governance Guidelines, 
including at least two independent directors with no previous formal affiliation with the Manager; 

(f) although the Company is not a non-redeemable investment fund under Canadian securities laws, it will nonetheless 
voluntarily provide in its annual information form required by NI 51-102 certain disclosure only required to be 
provided by investment funds pursuant to Form 81-101F2, specifically: (i) item 3(5) with respect to fundamental 
changes of the Company (including in respect of the Company’s business objective); (ii) item 4(1) with respect to 
investment restrictions (including details of the Company’s business objective); (iii) item 10 with respect to 
custodians; and (iv) item 13 (including a summary of the management and performance fees in the form required by 
item 3.6 of Form 41-101F2); 

(g) the Company will undertake to: (i) include a schedule of investment portfolio or similar disclosure prepared as 
contemplated under the requirements applicable to investment funds subject to National Instrument 81-106 – 
Investment Fund Continuous Disclosure in its annual and interim financial statements except in the case of 
disaggregated disclosure for investments that are not material or where such disclosure could be prejudicial to the 



2 

Company in its reasonable discretion, provided that such schedule of investment portfolio or similar disclosure shall 
nevertheless include sufficient disaggregation to allow an investor to understand the key characteristics of the 
portfolio; and (ii) provide financial and non-financial disclosure about private company investees within the 
Company’s portfolio, excluding cash and cash equivalents, temporary investments and derivative instruments, in its 
annual and interim management discussion and analysis in accordance with SN 51-349, as it may be amended from 
time to time, including: (1) summarized financial information of the investee, including the aggregated amounts of 
assets, liabilities, revenue and profit or loss along with a discussion of those results; (2) the Company’s proportionate 
interest in the investee, if known; (3) a description of the investee company’s business, including any risks specific to 
the investee’s business; (4) the type of investment; (5) a description of the valuation techniques used including related 
inputs, if known; and (6) the effect of the fair value measurement on income; and 

(h) although the Company will not be subject to the TSX’s rules governing Special Purpose Acquisition Corporations (as 
such term is used in Part X of the TSX Company Manual) (“SPACs”), the Company will voluntarily satisfy certain 
of the investor protection measures included in the TSX SPAC rules, including that: (i) the Company will raise a 
minimum of $100,000,000 from the Offering; (ii) the Company will be incorporated under Canadian federal corporate 
law; (iii) at least 90% of the net proceeds of the Offering will be invested in liquid and low risk securities (being 
Permitted Low-Risk Investments) pending deployment; (iv) at Closing, the Company will have at least 300 public 
shareholders collectively holding at least one million freely tradeable Common Shares; and (v) the Company will not 
undertake a significant debt financing (except ordinary course short-term trade or accounts payable) unless such a 
financing is done after the Company has deployed more than 50% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the 
Management Investment. The Company has included a risk factor in this prospectus under “Risk Factors” that cautions 
potential investors that the Company is not subject to the TSX’s SPAC rules but has elected to voluntarily comply 
with some of the SPAC rules, which means that investors in the Offering will not be afforded certain of the investor 
protection features that are required of SPACs under the SPAC rules, including: (1) purchasers of Units will not have 
the right to pre-approve any investments by the Company; and (2) there will be no mechanism for the Company to 
return funds to purchasers of Units in the event that any proceeds of the Offering are not deployed within a fixed 
period of time. See “Risk Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering – Not Subject to the SPAC Rules of the 
TSX”. 

In the Company’s view, the combined effect of the above-mentioned Voluntary Measures will address a variety of fundamental 
securities regulatory or public interest policy objectives, including: (i) existing investor protection measures will be 
meaningfully enhanced; (ii) the content of certain of the Company’s continuous disclosure filings will be tailored to address its 
particular business and operations, making such filings more meaningful to investors; and (iii) the Company’s management 
will have a significant economic interest in the Company following Closing. 

MEANING OF CERTAIN REFERENCES 

Unless otherwise noted or the context otherwise requires: (i) the “Company”, “we”, “our”, “us” and similar expressions are 
references to Stack Capital Group Inc. and the business carried on or to be carried on directly or indirectly by it; (ii) the 
disclosure contained in this prospectus assumes that the Over-Allotment Option has not been exercised. 

Words importing the singular number include the plural, and vice versa, and words importing any gender include all genders. 

Certain capitalized terms and phrases used in this prospectus are defined in the “Glossary”. 

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This prospectus contains “forward-looking statements” and “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable 
securities laws (collectively, “forward-looking statements”). Forward-looking statements may relate to the Company’s future 
outlook and anticipated events or results and may include statements regarding the Offering, the financial position, business 
strategy, growth strategy, budgets, operations, financial results, taxes, dividends, plans and objectives of the Company. 
Particularly, statements regarding future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities of the Company are 
forward-looking statements. In some cases, forward-looking statements can be identified by the use of forward-looking 
terminology such as “plans”, “expects” or “does not expect”, “is expected”, “budget”, “scheduled”, “estimates”, “forecasts”, 
“intends”, “anticipates” or “does not anticipate” or “believes”, or variations of such words and phrases or state that certain 
actions, events or results “may”, “could”, “would”, “might”, “will” or “will be taken”, “occur” or “be achieved”. 

Forward-looking statements are based on the opinions and estimates of the Company as of the date such statements are made, 
and they are subject to known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions and other factors that may cause the actual results, 
level of activity, performance or achievements to be materially different from those expressed or implied by such forward-



3 

looking statements, including but not limited to the following factors described in greater detail in “Risk Factors”: return on 
investment is not guaranteed; absence of a prior public market; potential volatility of the price of the Common Shares and the 
IPO Warrants; dilution; market discount; limited control; the IPO Warrants may not be “in the money”; financial reporting and 
other public company requirements; broad discretion over the use of proceeds from the Offering; not subject to the SPAC rules 
of the TSX; trading price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants relative to book value; newly-formed company with no 
operating history or revenues; unknown merits and risks of future investments; substantial loss of capital; holders of Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants are not entitled to vote on the company’s proposed investments; long-term nature of investment; 
potential lack of investment diversification; financial market fluctuations and deterioration of political and market conditions; 
failure to execute the company’s investment strategies; pace of completing investments; control or significant influence risk; 
minority investments; ranking of company investments and structural subordination; follow-on investments; prepayments of 
debt investments; risks upon disposition of investments; bridge financings; reliance on key personnel and risks associated with 
the Management Agreement; effect of fees; Performance Fee could induce the Manager to make speculative investments; 
reliance on the performance of underlying assets; operating and financial risks of investments; allocation of personnel; potential 
conflicts of interest; the liability of the Manager is limited and the Company and the Manager have not been represented by 
separate legal counsel; reputation; valuation methodologies involve subjective judgments; legal proceedings; foreign security 
risk; foreign exchange risks; investments in private issuers; opinions from independent investment banks or accounting firms 
are not contemplated; resources could be wasted in researching investment opportunities that are not ultimately completed; 
material, non-public information; illiquid assets; competitive market for investment opportunities; competition and technology 
risks; use of leverage; credit risk; tax risks; regulatory changes; and use of the Custodian and/or a broker to hold assets. These 
factors and assumptions are not intended to represent a complete list of the factors and assumptions that could affect the 
Company. These factors and assumptions, however, should be considered carefully. 

Although the Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those 
contained in forward-looking statements, there may be other factors that cause results not to be as anticipated, estimated or 
intended. There can be no assurance that such statements will prove to be accurate, as actual results and future events could 
differ materially from those anticipated in such statements. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. Further, any forward-looking statement is made only as of the date of this prospectus and the Company 
does not undertake to update any forward-looking statements contained herein, except as required by applicable securities laws. 
New factors emerge from time to time (including as a result of investments made by the Company), and it is not possible for 
the Company to predict all of these factors or to assess in advance the impact of each such factor on the Company’s business 
or the extent to which any factor, or combination of factors, may cause actual results to differ materially from those contained 
in any forward-looking statement. 

MARKET DATA AND INDUSTRY DATA 

Market and industry data used throughout this prospectus was obtained from third party sources, industry publications, and 
publicly available information. The Company believes this market and economic data to be accurate, but there can be no 
assurance as to the accuracy or completeness thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market and economic data used 
throughout this prospectus is not guaranteed and the Company does not make any representation as to the accuracy of such 
information. Although the Company believes it to be reliable, it has not independently verified any of the data from third party 
sources referred to in this prospectus, or analyzed or verified the underlying studies or surveys relied upon or referred to by 
such sources, or ascertained the underlying economic and other assumptions relied upon by such sources. 

CURRENCY 

In this prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all dollar amounts are expressed in Canadian 
dollars. All references to “dollars” or “$” are to Canadian dollars and all references to “US$” are to the United States dollars. 

MARKETING MATERIALS 

A “template version” of the following “marketing materials” (each as defined in NI 41-101) for this Offering filed with the 
securities commission or similar authority in each of the provinces and territories of Canada are specifically incorporated by 
reference into this prospectus: 

• the term sheet for the Offering filed on SEDAR on May 12, 2021; and 

• the investor presentation filed on SEDAR on May 12, 2021. 

Any “template version” of any “marketing materials” that are prepared in connection with the Offering are not part of this 
prospectus to the extent that the contents of the template version of the marketing materials have been modified or superseded 
by a statement contained in this prospectus. 
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Any template version of any other marketing materials filed with the securities commission or similar authority in each of the 
provinces and territories of Canada and on SEDAR before the termination of the distribution of the Units under the Offering 
(including any amendments to, or an amended version of, any template version of any marketing materials) is deemed to be 
incorporated by reference into this prospectus. 

ELIGIBILITY FOR INVESTMENT 

In the opinion of Fogler, Rubinoff LLP, counsel to the Company, and Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, counsel to the Agents, 
based on the provisions of the Tax Act in force as of the date hereof and subject to the qualifications and assumptions discussed 
under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”, the Common Shares and IPO Warrants will, as at the Closing 
Date, be qualified investments under the Tax Act and the Regulations for trusts governed by registered retirement savings plans 
(“RRSPs”), registered retirement income funds (“RRIFs”), deferred profit sharing plans, registered disability savings plans 
(“RDSPs”), registered education savings plans (“RESPs”) and tax-free savings accounts (“TFSAs”), each as defined in the 
Tax Act (collectively, the “Plans”), provided that on the Closing Date: (a) in the case of the Common Shares, the Common 
Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (which currently includes the TSX); and (b) in the case of the IPO Warrants: 
(i) the IPO Warrants are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (which currently includes the TSX); or (ii) the Common 
Shares are listed on a designated stock exchange and neither the Company, nor any person with whom the Company does not 
deal at arm’s length for purposes of the Tax Act, is an annuitant, a beneficiary, an employer or subscriber under, or a holder of, 
such Plan. 

Notwithstanding that the Common Shares and IPO Warrants may be a qualified investment for a TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RESP 
or RDSP, the holder, annuitant or subscriber thereof, as the case may be, which acquires Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
will be subject to a penalty tax under the Tax Act if such Common Shares and IPO Warrants are a “prohibited investment” 
(within the meaning of the Tax Act) for the particular TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RESP or RDSP. Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
will generally be a prohibited investment for a TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RESP or RDSP if the holder, annuitant or subscriber 
thereof, as applicable, does not deal at arm’s length with the Company for purposes of the Tax Act or has a “significant interest” 
(within the meaning of the Tax Act) in the Company. A “significant interest” of a shareholder of the Company generally means 
ownership by the shareholder, either alone or together with persons with which the shareholder does not deal at arm’s length 
for purposes of the Tax Act, of 10% or more of the issued shares of any class of the capital stock of the Company. In addition, 
the Common Shares will not be a prohibited investment if they are “excluded property” as defined in the Tax Act for trusts 
governed by a TFSA, RRSP, RRIF, RESP or RDSP. Prospective purchasers who intend to hold Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants in trusts governed by such Plans should consult their own tax advisors regarding the application of the 
“prohibited investment” rules having regard to their personal circumstances.
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

The following is a summary of the principal features of the Offering and should be read together with the more detailed 
information and financial data and statements contained elsewhere in this prospectus (including “Risk Factors”). This 
summary does not contain all of the information a potential investor should consider before investing in the Units. Please refer 
to the “Glossary” for a list of defined terms used herein, including certain industry terminology. 

The Company 

The Company was incorporated under the CBCA on April 1, 2021 under the name “Stack Capital Group Inc.”. The Company’s 
head and registered office is located at 77 King Street West, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5K 1G8. 

Business of the Company 

Overview 

The Company is a newly formed investment holding company. The Company is focused on investing in growth to late stage 
private issuers with operating businesses, with long-term growth potential, located primarily in, or with customers, suppliers 
or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States. The Company will not be investing in 
private operating businesses smaller than $100 million in enterprise value. More specifically, the Company is seeking to 
democratize the investing landscape by providing retail and institutional investors with an opportunity to gain exposure to 
companies the Manager believes are some of the most innovative and disruptive private businesses in the world. The Manager 
believes that shareholders will have the opportunity to benefit from the attractive nature of the diversified private investment 
portfolio; participate in the wealth being created within the private market; and have liquidity due to the listing of the Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants on the TSX. At the same time, the public structure also allows the Company to focus its efforts on 
maximizing long-term performance through a concentrated and actively managed portfolio of high growth businesses, which 
are not widely available to most Canadian investors. 

Depending on the circumstances of each individual investment opportunity, the Company’s investments may range from a 
minority ownership position to a significant influence position, including control. The Company intends to use its ownership 
position to have an active role in its Portfolio Companies’ growth and development by providing to them strategic advice, 
industry experience as public market participants, board or advisory representation and/or through any other means as 
determined by the Manager. Given that private companies may have a liquidity event, including becoming a public issuer or 
being acquired by a public issuer, the Company will not be precluded from continuing to hold an investment in an entity that 
has ultimately become a public issuer. 

See “Business of the Company – Overview”. 

Business Objective 

The Company’s business objective is to maximize its long-term capital appreciation by seeking to achieve superior risk-
adjusted investment performance. The Company intends to invest in equity, debt and/or other securities of growth to late stage 
private operating businesses in furtherance of the Company’s business objective, with such investment tailored to the specific 
needs and opportunities of the Portfolio Company. The Company’s portfolio investments will be subject to a concentration 
restriction that prohibits the Company from making an investment if, after giving effect to such investment, such investment 
would exceed 20% of the Total Assets on the closing date of such investment. See “Important Information About this 
Prospectus”. 

The Company initially intends to invest in at least 10 growth to late state private operating businesses located primarily in, or 
with customers, suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States, over a three-
year period, following Closing. The Company also intends to support the growth and development of its Portfolio Companies 
through active ownership, leveraging its financial strength and the Manager’s industry experience and business contact 
network. Active ownership will be an integral part of the Company’s investment strategy and the support extended to Portfolio 
Companies may be provided by way of board representation; board observer rights; strategic, financial, governance and capital 
market support; and/or preparing the Portfolio Company for potential corporate transactions. 

For the purposes of executing its business objective, the Company defines “active ownership” to include using the Company’s 
rights and ownership position to influence the activities or behaviours of its Portfolio Companies. In this regard, actions taken 
by the Company could include regular engagement with its Portfolio Companies with the explicit intention of influencing a 
Portfolio Company’s strategy and practices but may also extend to a wider range of engagement through different influence 
processes such as board representations or board observer rights in order to support their growth and development. The 
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Company’s goal is to take a longer-term perspective towards maximizing the return on each of its investments and therefore, 
the Company’s ownership will generally not be limited to a specific timeframe. 

See “Business of the Company – Business Objective”. 

Manager and Management Investment 

The Manager will act as the Company’s exclusive manager pursuant to the Management Agreement between the Company and 
the Manager, source and advise with respect to all investments on behalf of the Company, manage such investments and 
otherwise direct the Company’s affairs and manage the Company’s business. On the Closing Date, the Manager’s sole 
engagement is its management of the Company pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement. As such, at the outset, 
each of the four members of management of the Manager, Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos and Brian Viveiros, 
have committed to the Company and the Manager to spend 100% of their time and attention on the business and investment 
activities of the Company. The members of management have made this commitment for at least three years or to such date as 
and when the 75% Investment Requirement is satisfied. Thereafter, members of management may continue to spend all or a 
substantial majority of their time and attention on the business and investment activities of the Company, having regard to the 
business needs and activities of the Company from time to time. See “The Manager”. As a condition to Closing, the 
Management Investors will concurrently make the Management Investment. See “Management Investment”. 

The Company has entered into the Non-Competition Arrangements with the Management Investors, which addresses certain 
conflicts of interest. See “The Manager – Non-Competition Arrangements”. The Manager will allocate investment 
opportunities among the Company and the Manager’s other clients and businesses in accordance with the Business Opportunity 
Allocation Agreement. See “The Manager – Allocation of Investment Opportunities”. 

Manager Experience 

The Manager has an experienced executive team – complemented by the Company’s Board and Advisory Board – that the 
Company and the Manager believe can provide unique value in sourcing, evaluating, managing and realizing value from private 
investments. The Manager believes it has assembled a unique team with investment and business-building experience to drive 
returns for the Company’s shareholders in the attractive and growing private equity market, all via a permanent capital structure 
that will competitively advantage the Company in making long-term investment decisions and position the Company as a 
shareholder of choice for prospective Portfolio Companies. The Manager itself is a newly formed company and, as such, it has 
no prior history of operations or experience in investing or managing private investments of the type proposed to be made on 
behalf of the Company. See “Business of the Company – Manager Experience”. 

Investment, Board and Advisory Board Team 

The Manager’s investment team, complemented by Stack Capital’s independent Board members and Advisory Board, includes 
Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos, Gerri Sinclair, John K. Bell, Laurie Goldberg, Bill Tai, Brian Beattie and 
Owais Qureshi. The responsibilities of the executive team, as overseen by the Board and supported by the Advisory Board, 
will include risk management, corporate governance, operations and relationship management with Portfolio Companies, 
potential Portfolio Companies and service providers. See “Directors and Management of the Company”. 

The Company’s investment team is comprised of Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers and Jimmy Vaiopoulos and its responsibilities 
will include idea generation, investment selection, due diligence, portfolio management, transaction negotiation and structuring, 
relationship management, ongoing position maintenance and active ownership of Portfolio Companies. 

The independent Board members, Gerri Sinclair, John K. Bell and Laurie Goldberg, have significant experience in growing 
private companies and have successful track records in both investing in private and public companies as well as serving as 
members of boards of directors of public companies. Their collective experience will supplement the experience and knowledge 
of the Manager’s investment team and provide valuable oversight and guidance to the Manager to operate the Company to 
maximize shareholder value. The Board will have a role in approving significant investments and monetizations of the 
Company, and will be included in decisions concerning other significant events in respect of any Portfolio Company that may 
reasonably be brought forward for the Board’s review. Board approval will be required for each initial investment in a Portfolio 
Company made by the Company which has an acquisition cost that is greater than 15% of Total Assets. The Board will also be 
required to approve each proposed investment monetization of a Company’s investment in a Portfolio Company having 
expected gross proceeds that are greater than 15% of Total Assets. See “Directors and Management of the Company”. 

The Advisory Board members, which consist of Bill Tai, Brian Beattie and Owais Qureshi, have significant experience in 
investing and asset management, and will provide the Company and the Manager appropriate support and advice as required. 
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The experience of the Advisory Board members will complement the investment team and the Board and provide guidance as 
the Manager navigates the investment process. 

See “Business of the Company – Investment, Board and Advisory Board Team”. 

Investment Selection

To identify potential investments, the Company will principally rely on the expertise of the Manager. The Manager has a 
mandate to identify, review, advise on and provide recommendations with respect to investment opportunities for the Company 
that meet its business objective. The Manager will be expected to identify and evaluate all of the investment opportunities for 
the Company and will conduct the initial suitability screen when evaluating potential investments for the Company. 

The Company will seek to target private investment opportunities that fall under the following three categories: 

Common Characteristics 

Growth Stage: Recognized as the time when private issuers work to refine 
their business model, capture market share, and start to generate revenues. 
These issuers primarily have revenue of $10 to $50 million with significant 
annual growth rates. Growth stage issuers are focused on maturing their 
product offering, making it more robust, or adding additional features. 
Significant capital investments fuel market growth, which at times may result 
in substantial financial operating losses. Risks in this stage are generally 
centered on execution, competition, regulation, market size, and scalability 
of technology. 

• Revenue levels of $10 to $50 million 
(or more) 

• Growth rates > 100% per annum 
• Increased product development and 

concept stabilization 
• Execution risk 

Late Stage: Issuers are focused on scaling their business through marketing 
and sales and may begin to focus on cash flows as growth rates begin to 
mature. With annual revenue in excess of $50 million, capital investments 
are made to foster further growth and development through new products and 
technologies and by penetrating new markets. The likelihood of a late-stage 
issuer failing declines as the customer base, product line, and revenues grow. 

• Revenue levels > $50 million 
• Growth rates > 25% per annum 
• Strong focus on maintaining market 

share, if total market growth is slowing 
• Reduced failure risk 
• Moving closer to an exit 

Liquidity/Initial Public Offering Stage: At this point, the value of a private 
issuer is monetized through a liquidity event with either an initial public 
offering or an acquisition by another issuer. Annual revenue has typically hit 
$200 million or more with average annual growth rates of 10% to 25% per 
year. 

• Revenue levels of >$200 million 
• Growth rates > 10% per annum 
• Exit expenses and legal complexities 
• Lock-up features 

See “Business of the Company – Investment Selection”. 

Managing Portfolio Companies 

The Company intends to take an active role in overseeing its Portfolio Companies. The expected degree of influence will 
depend, in part, on the Company’s ownership position of each investment amongst other factors. The Company’s expected 
ownership positions may vary from minority positions to control positions; however, following any investment, the Company 
and the Manager (and/or their respective representatives, where applicable) will endeavour to work in a hands-on and 
constructive manner with each Portfolio Company in an effort to create sustainable long-term value. See “Business of the 
Company – Managing Portfolio Companies”. 

Competitive Strengths 

The following is the Company’s view of its competitive strengths: 

• Access to the private equity asset class: The Company will seek to democratize access to private equity investments 
by allowing retail and institutional investors to gain indirect investment exposure to growth to late stage private 
operating businesses. 

• Long-term investment perspective: By emphasizing a long-term perspective, the Company expects to be able to 
make the commitments necessary to allow investments to realize their full potential, maximizing absolute returns by 
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exploiting opportunities in a market that the Manager believes is increasingly short-term focused and unwilling or 
unable to sustain short-term volatility. 

• Liquid public structure: As an exchange-listed corporation, the Company’s structure is expected to provide its 
investors with increased liquidity as compared to the alternatives of traditional venture capital and private equity 
investments, which typically have defined hold periods and limited methods to redeem or trade value. 

• Active management: The Company believes in active management to positively influence the activities and/or 
behaviour of its Portfolio Companies. The Manager believes that active management is not only an effective means 
to minimize investment risks and maximize returns, but it is also expected to enable the Company to forge stronger 
relationships with the Portfolio Companies, as the Company believes that issuers prefer to deal with entities that 
democratize investment access. 

• Flexible mandate: The Company is expected to have the benefit of utilizing a flexible investment mandate, with the 
capability to invest across the capital structure, tailoring its investments to the needs of Portfolio Companies. 

• Experienced leadership: The Company has built an accomplished and experienced management team, Board and 
Advisory Board to execute on its investment and operational strategy. The management team is collectively investing 
a significant amount of their personal capital (see “Management Investment”) and has agreed to voluntarily lock-up 
and retain all of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the Offering and the Management 
Investment by the Management Investors until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, subject to certain limited 
exceptions, showing their confidence and alignment with investors (see “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject 
to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”). 

• Optimal structure: The Company operates with a permanent capital base and, as such, management believes it is 
well positioned to maximize investment returns on behalf of its shareholders in the future. Permanent capital is 
expected to allow the Company and the Manager to focus on the growth of each underlying Portfolio Company, 
without having to concern itself with the liquidity needs of investors in a Portfolio Company. The Company also 
believes that permanent capital structures are the preferred choice of issuers. The structure is also expected to provide 
the Company with the stability necessary to weather downturns in the economy, in the most effective manner possible. 

• Competitive compensation structure: The Company is structured as an externally managed business and, as such, 
is subject to paying the Management Fee and, if earned, the Performance Fee. Given the exclusive nature of the private 
equity opportunities that the Company will seek to invest in, the Manager believes that the Management Fee and the 
Performance Fee (subject to a permanent high water mark) are competitive in comparison to other private equity 
opportunities in the marketplace, and on par with the fees charged by many conventional mutual fund or liquid 
alternative investment entities. 

See “Business of the Company – Competitive Strengths”. 

Market Overview  

The private equity market has evolved significantly over the past twenty-five years and the current environment is characterized 
by: (i) capital flows increasingly moving to private markets; (ii) companies staying private for longer periods of time; and (iii) 
private companies experiencing more of their growth and raising more capital while being privately held. The private equity 
market has also remained difficult for many retail and institutional investors to gain exposure to because of securities 
regulations, and the exclusivity amongst venture capital and private equity funds for primary market transactions of many high-
quality private issuers. See “Business of the Company – Market Overview”. 

Democratizing Access to Private Companies for Investors 

Although the private equity space has been very profitable for a global network of venture capital and private equity funds, it 
is difficult for retail and institutional investors to gain exposure to this ecosystem. This represents a significant limitation to the 
number of investors that have access to attractive private issuers and has left the benefit of investing in the growing number of 
private issuers to a relatively small number of venture capital and private equity investors. 

There are two methods by which an investor typically purchases securities of a private issuer: 

1. Primary Market Transactions: capital raised directly by the issuer with the proceeds going directly to the issuer for 
corporate purposes. In such a circumstance, the Company will have the opportunity to invest alongside some of the 
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most prominent venture capital and private equity leaders and gain valuable access to company financials and data 
rooms, and benefit from follow-on rights and/or liquidity events; and  

2. Secondary Market Transactions: transactions that take place between a current holder of a security of a private issuer 
and a new or existing investor in said private issuer, where participants trade previously issued securities. In such a 
circumstance, the Company can opportunistically acquire securities from existing security holders seeking liquidity. 
Examples of potential secondary market sellers include private equity, venture capital, employees (existing & former), 
founders and angel investors. 

Regarding a primary market transaction, it is difficult for the vast majority of investors to take part in such transactions due to 
the exclusive nature of the capital raising of high-quality private issuers. This is caused by the closed-ended nature of many 
venture capital firms and, at times, the requirement for a large minimum investment. An alternative to primary market 
transactions is to purchase securities of a private issuer through a secondary market transaction which is open to a broader 
investment group.  

Common concerns with secondary market transactions are that the availability of a specific security is not guaranteed, the price 
of the security is negotiated between the buyer and seller, the legal costs for the transaction could be high, execution may take 
a long time, information may be limited, and typically the minimum investment size is relatively large. This makes it difficult 
for many investors to make a significant investment in a private issuer. Many businesses have emerged to democratize 
investments in private issuers, such as EquityZen, SharesPost, CartaX, and others; however, deal flow is limited, and 
investments are restricted to specific investors. 

While private equity has been able to provide institutional investors with enhanced portfolio diversification and higher risk-
adjusted returns, access to these same opportunities has been restricted and/or entirely unavailable for most institutional and 
non-institutional investors. The Company is seeking to remedy this situation and democratize the investing landscape by 
providing retail and institutional investors with an opportunity to gain exposure to companies the Manager believes are some 
of the most innovative and disruptive private businesses in the world. The Manager believes that shareholders will have the 
opportunity to benefit from the attractive nature of the diversified private investment portfolio; participate in the wealth being 
created within the private market; and have liquidity due to the listing of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants on the TSX. 
At the same time, the public structure also serves as a distinct advantage to the Company, allowing it to focus its efforts on 
patiently maximizing long-term performance through a concentrated and actively managed portfolio of high growth businesses, 
while providing liquidity to shareholders through public trading of its own securities on the TSX. 

See “Business of the Company – Market Overview – Democratizing Access to Private Companies for Investors”. 

Summary of Fees and Expenses 

Ongoing Fees and Expenses 

The Manager will be responsible for its own day-to-day operating expenses, including in connection with the provision of the 
services for the Company (including discovery and evaluation of investment opportunities, other than third-party costs and 
expenses), compensation of its personnel and the cost of office space, office supplies, communications, telephone, news, 
quotation and computer equipment, utilities and other normal overhead expenses. The Manager has agreed to pay all expenses 
incurred by the Company in connection with the Offering and the Management Investment in excess of 1.5% of the gross proceeds 
of the Offering and the Management Investment. See “Use of Proceeds”. 

Other than as set out below, the Company will be responsible for its own formation and establishment expenses and operating 
expenses including: (i) all expenses incurred in connection with trading and the acquisition, holding or disposition of 
investments, including taxes, brokerage fees and commissions, agency/underwriting commissions and discounts, expenses 
related to indemnification obligations, and legal, accounting, investment banking, consulting, information services and other 
professional fees; (ii) all costs and expenses relating to investment transactions that are not consummated, and legal, accounting, 
investment banking, consulting, information services and other professional fees related thereto; (iii) entity-level taxes; (iv) all 
costs and fees relating to the preparation of financial statements, audits, financial and tax reports, portfolio valuations, tax 
returns and other reports and continuous disclosure materials, including fees and out-of-pocket expenses of any service 
company retained to provide accounting and bookkeeping services; (v) all ongoing legal and compliance costs (including stock 
exchange fees and listing fees) and the costs of prosecuting or defending any legal action for or against any of the Company, 
the Board, any subsidiary through which the Company makes an investment from time to time and its board of directors, the 
Manager or any of its affiliates relating to the affairs of the Company; (vi) all fees, costs and expenses related to all 
governmental filings of the Company or its subsidiaries; (vii) expenses of the directors, including directors’ fees and travel 
expenses; (viii) expenses related to maintenance of corporate records and books of account, including, without limitation, 
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accounting and auditing fees, disbursements and company secretarial expenses; (ix) expenses related to organization and 
conduct of directors’ and shareholders’ meetings and the preparation and distribution of all reports to, and other 
communications with, shareholders, expenses related to issuing and transferring shares and paying dividends or making other 
distributions thereon, extraordinary expenses and other similar expenses; (x) fees payable to the transfer agent, custodian(s) or 
any other third party service provider of the Company; and (xi) costs relating to any credit facilities, insurance premiums and 
any extraordinary expenses which the Company may incur or which may be incurred on the Company’s behalf from time to 
time, as applicable. 

See “The Manager - Ongoing Fees and Expenses”. 

Management Fee and Performance Fee 

As compensation for the provision of the services to be provided to the Company by the Manager, the Company will pay the 
Management Fee and, if applicable, the Performance Fee, in each case, together with any applicable sales taxes thereon, to the 
Manager. 

The Management Fee will be a monthly amount equal to 1/12 of 1.5% of the Book Value of the Company, plus any sales taxes 
thereon, calculated and accrued at the beginning of each month based on the Book Value of the Company as at the end of the 
immediately preceding month. The Management Fee in respect of a month shall be payable by the Company to the Manager 
on or before the tenth (10th) day following the last day of such month. However, should the Manager fail to cause the Company 
to satisfy the 75% Investment Requirement, the Management Fee earned by the Manager during the three-year period of the 
75% Investment Requirement will be reduced having regard to the proportion of the net proceeds of the Offering and 
Management Investment invested below the 75% Investment Requirement, and such reduction would be credited against future 
Management Fees and Performance Fees earned by the Manager, until fully paid over a period of no longer than two years. 

The Performance Fee will be calculated and accrued quarterly and paid for the period from the Closing Date to December 31, 
2021 and for each consecutive one-year period thereafter. The amount of the Performance Fee shall be determined as of the 
end of the last day of each Calculation Period with respect to the time-weighted average Common Shares of the Company 
outstanding during such Calculation Period. All calculations with respect to the Performance Fee will be made to four decimal 
places. The Performance Fee for a Calculation Period, if any, will be paid within 30 days after the Company issues its year-end 
audited financial statements for such Calculation Period. 

The Performance Fee will be payable in cash, but, at the request of the Manager, a portion of the Performance Fee may be 
applied to the subscription of Common Shares. If the Manager elects to have the Performance Fee applied to a subscription of 
Common Shares, such election must be made no later than December 15 of the applicable Calculation Period in respect of 
which the Performance Fee is to be paid. The number of Common Shares to be issued will be calculated based on the Market 
Price, being the volume-weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on a recognized stock exchange for the 5 trading 
days prior to but excluding the PF Payment Date for the Calculation Period in respect of which the Performance Fee is to be 
paid and for purposes of calculating the Performance Fee in respect of subsequent Calculation Periods thereafter will be deemed 
to be outstanding as of the first day of such Calculation Period regardless of the date of actual issuance. In no instance will a 
portion of the Performance Fee be applied to a subscription and issuance of Common Shares if: (a) after such issuance, the 
Manager and its affiliates would own more than 49% of the outstanding equity capital of the Company; or (b) such issuance is 
not in compliance with the rules or policies of the stock exchange upon which Common Shares are then listed for trading 
(including the TSX, and the review and receipt of approval of the TSX as required under such rules or policies). The Manager 
will agree to apply to the subscription of Common Shares no less than 30% of the Performance Fee earned during the five year 
period following Closing, further demonstrating alignment and confidence in the Company, and increasing the Management 
Investors’ investment in the Company beyond the original Management Investment. At Closing, the maximum number of 
Common Shares subject to issuance in payment of a portion of the Performance Fee is limited to 891,833 (being 10% of the 
total issued and outstanding Common Shares at Closing). For TSX purposes, the subscription of Common Shares in payment 
of a portion of the Performance Fee is a security based compensation arrangement and subject to the TSX rules governing 
security based compensation arrangements, including annual disclosure requirements and shareholder approval on a 
disinterested basis (by excluding the votes of the Manager) for any increase in the maximum number of Common Shares 
issuable pursuant thereto beyond the original maximum number of Common Shares noted above. 

The Performance Fee for a Calculation Period will be equal to the product of: 

(a) the number of time-weighted average Common Shares outstanding during such Calculation Period 
(calculated before taking into account any Common Shares issuable in payment of a Performance Fee for 
such Calculation Period); and 
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(b) 15% of the amount by which the sum of: 

(i) the Book Value per Share of the Company at the end of such Calculation Period (calculated before 
taking into account the Performance Fee payable for the period ending on the Determination Date 
for such Calculation Period), plus

(ii) the total amount of distributions paid on the Common Shares during such Calculation Period and all 
consecutive immediately preceding Calculation Periods, if any, in respect of which no Performance 
Fee was paid divided by the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding during such 
Calculation Periods; 

exceeds: 

(iii) the High Water Mark. 

The Company believes these fees are competitive in comparison to other private equity opportunities in the marketplace, which 
generally charge a management fee of 2.0% or more and a performance fee of 20% or more. 

See “The Manager - Management Fee and Performance Fee”. 
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THE OFFERING 

Issuer: Stack Capital Group Inc. 

Offering: The Company is offering Units. Each Unit consists of one Common Share and one-
half of an IPO Warrant. The Units issued pursuant to the Offering will separate into 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants immediately after Closing and will trade 
separately. 

Each IPO Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire, subject to adjustment in certain 
circumstances, one Common Share at an exercise price per share of $15.00, at any 
time prior to 4:00 p.m. (Toronto, Ontario time) on the date that is three years 
following the Closing Date. 

See “Plan of Distribution” and “Description of Share Capital”. 

Offering Price: $12.00 per Unit 

Minimum Issue: $100,000,008 (8,333,334 Units), excluding the Management Investment 

Over-Allotment Option: The Company has granted the Agents an Over-Allotment Option, exercisable in 
whole or in part at any time for a period of 30 days after Closing, to purchase up to 
an additional 15% of the aggregate number of Units issued pursuant to the Offering 
at the Offering Price to cover over-allotments, if any, and for the purposes of market 
stabilization of the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants, as applicable. The Over-
Allotment Option may be exercised by the Agents in respect of: (i) Units at the 
Offering Price; (ii) Common Shares at a price of $11.20 per Common Share; (iii) IPO 
Warrants at a price of $1.60 per IPO Warrant; or (iv) any combination of Units, 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants, provided that the aggregate number of Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants that may be issued upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment 
Option does not exceed 15% of the aggregate number Common Shares and 15% of 
the aggregate number IPO Warrants issued as part of the Units pursuant to the 
Offering. See “Plan of Distribution – Agency Agreement and Agents’ 
Compensation”. 

Listing: The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO 
Warrants) on the TSX under the symbols “STCK” and “STCK.WT”, respectively, 
via the TSX Sandbox, an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may 
not satisfy all requirements and guidelines of the TSX, but due to facts or situations 
unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX. As the Company 
does not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX set out in Section 309(a) 
of the TSX Company Manual, the TSX has exercised its discretion to waive the 
requirements for historical earnings and pre-tax cash flow, and has agreed to list the 
Company pursuant to the TSX Sandbox. Listing on the TSX is subject to the 
Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the TSX by August 17, 2021, 
including, among other things, raising minimum gross proceeds of $100 million 
under the Offering and the distribution of a minimum number of freely tradable 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants having a minimum aggregate market value and 
held by a minimum number of public holders. It is a condition of Closing that the 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering (including the 
underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) are conditionally 
approved for listing on the TSX. See “Plan of Distribution – Listing Application”. 

Management Investment and 
Lock-Up Agreements: 

Concurrent with the Closing, the Management Investors will purchase an aggregate 
of 583,334 Units on a non-brokered, private placement basis at the Offering Price for 
gross proceeds of $7,000,008. No commission or other fee will be paid to the Agents 
or any other agents in connection with the Management Investment. Under the 
Agency Agreement and the Voluntary Measures, closing of the Offering is 
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conditional on the closing of the Management Investment. See “Plan of Distribution” 
and “Risk Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering”. 

As part of the terms of the Management Investment, each Management Investor will 
covenant and agree with the Company to voluntarily lock-up and retain all of the 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the Offering and the 
Management Investment until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, provided that 
at any time or from time to time, a Management Investor: (i) may exercise such IPO 
Warrants, but continue to retain all Common Shares received upon each such exercise 
for the balance of the period; (ii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or 
IPO Warrants to a Permitted Holder that provides a similar covenant and agreement; 
(iii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants in a transaction 
where the proposed acquirer agrees to acquire a pro rata share of the equity 
investment of all other equity investors of the Company; and (iv) may transfer any of 
such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants and any Common Shares received upon 
exercise of such IPO Warrants for the purpose of paying the exercise price payable 
in connection with the exercise of such IPO Warrants or for paying taxes due as a 
result of any such transfer. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restriction on Transfer”. 

Authorized Share Capital and 
Share Attributes: 

The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common 
Shares. 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend, all 
annual and special meetings of the shareholders of the Company and to one vote in 
respect of each Common Share held at all such meetings. 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends if, as and when 
declared by the Board out of the assets of the Company properly applicable to the 
payment of dividends in such amounts and payable in such manner as the Board may 
from time to time determine. Subject to the rights of the holders of any other class of 
shares of the Company entitled to receive dividends in priority to or concurrently 
with the holders of the Common Shares, the Board may, in its sole discretion, declare 
dividends on the Common Shares to the exclusion of any other class of shares of the 
Company. 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or other 
distribution of assets of the Company among its shareholders for the purpose of 
winding up its affairs, the holders of Common Shares will, subject to the rights of the 
holders of any other class of shares of the Company entitled to receive assets of the 
Company upon such a distribution in priority to or concurrently with the holders of 
Common Shares, be entitled to participate in the distribution. Such distribution will 
be made in equal amounts per share on all the Common Shares at the time outstanding 
without preference or distinction. 

See “Description of Share Capital”. 

Dividend Policy: The Company does not intend to declare or pay cash dividends on its Common Shares 
within the foreseeable future. See “Dividend Policy”. 

Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds of the Offering will be approximately $93,718,900 (assuming no 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option), after deducting the Company’s estimated 
expenses of the Offering and the Agents’ fee. In addition, the Company will receive 
proceeds of $7,000,008 from the sale of 583,334 Units, on a non-brokered, private 
placement basis, from the Management Investors concurrently with the Closing (see 
“Management Investment”). 

The Company will use the net proceeds of the Offering, together with the proceeds 
from the Management Investment, to, directly or indirectly, make investments in 
accordance with its business objective and investment strategies (see “Business of 
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the Company – Business Objective” and “Business of the Company – Investment 
Selection”). The Company anticipates that approximately 90% of the net proceeds of 
the Offering (together with the proceeds from the Management Investment) will be 
invested within 3 years from the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the 
Company will invest at least 75% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the 
Management Investment in private equity, debt and/or other securities of growth to 
late stage private operating businesses located primarily in, or with customers, 
suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the 
United States on or before the third anniversary of the Closing Date, except where 
the Board determines, acting reasonably and in good faith, that satisfying such time 
commitment would result in a breach of the Board’s fiduciary duties under applicable 
corporate law. Pending such investments, the Company will invest at least 90% of 
the net proceeds of the Offering (together with the proceeds from the Management 
Investment) exclusively in Permitted Low-Risk Investments, and the remainder will 
be used for general corporate and working capital purposes. 

See “Use of Proceeds”. 

Leverage: The Company will not undertake a significant debt financing (except ordinary course 
short-term trade or accounts payable) unless such a financing is done after the 
Company has deployed more than 50% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the 
Management Investment. Following such time, the Company may borrow up to an 
amount not exceeding 20% of the Total Assets, measured at the time of borrowing. 
See “Consolidated Capitalization” and “Risk Factors – Use of Leverage”. 

Risk Factors: An investment in the Units is speculative and subject to a number of risks that should 
be carefully considered by prospective investors. These risks include, but are not 
limited to: return on investment is not guaranteed; absence of a prior public market; 
potential volatility of the price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants; dilution; 
market discount; limited control; the IPO Warrants may not be “in the money”; 
financial reporting and other public company requirements; broad discretion over the 
use of proceeds from the Offering; not subject to the SPAC rules of the TSX; trading 
price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants relative to book value; newly-
formed company with no operating history or revenues; unknown merits and risks of 
future investments; substantial loss of capital; holders of Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants are not entitled to vote on the company’s proposed investments; long-term 
nature of investment; potential lack of investment diversification; financial market 
fluctuations and deterioration of political and market conditions; failure to execute 
the company’s investment strategies; pace of completing investments; control or 
significant influence risk; minority investments; ranking of company investments and 
structural subordination; follow-on investments; prepayments of debt investments; 
risks upon disposition of investments; bridge financings; reliance on key personnel 
and risks associated with the Management Agreement; effect of fees; Performance 
Fee could induce the Manager to make speculative investments; reliance on the 
performance of underlying assets; operating and financial risks of investments; 
allocation of personnel; potential conflicts of interest; the liability of the Manager is 
limited and the Company and the Manager have not been represented by separate 
legal counsel; reputation; valuation methodologies involve subjective judgments; 
legal proceedings; foreign security risk; foreign exchange risks; investments in 
private issuers; opinions from independent investment banks or accounting firms are 
not contemplated; resources could be wasted in researching investment opportunities 
that are not ultimately completed; material, non-public information; illiquid assets; 
competitive market for investment opportunities; competition and technology risks; 
use of leverage; credit risk; tax risks; regulatory changes; and use of the Custodian 
and/or a broker to hold assets. 

See “Risk Factors” and the other information included in this prospectus for a 
discussion of the risks that a prospective investor should carefully consider before 
deciding to invest in the Units. 
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THE COMPANY 

Name, Address and Incorporation 

The Company was incorporated under the CBCA on April 1, 2021 under the name “Stack Capital Group Inc.”. The Company’s 
head and registered office is located at 77 King Street West, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5K 1G8. 

Intercorporate Relationships 

As of the date of this prospectus, the Company has no subsidiaries. The Company may, from time to time following Closing, 
incorporate subsidiary entities to make investments. See “Business of the Company”. 

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

Overview 

The Company is a newly formed investment holding company. The Company is focused on investing in growth to late stage 
private issuers with operating businesses, with long-term growth potential, located primarily in, or with customers, suppliers 
or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States. The Company will not be investing in 
private operating businesses smaller than $100 million in enterprise value. More specifically, the Company is seeking to 
democratize the investing landscape by providing retail and institutional investors with an opportunity to gain exposure to 
companies the Manager believes are some of the most innovative and disruptive private businesses in the world. The Manager 
believes that shareholders will have the opportunity to benefit from the attractive nature of the diversified private investment 
portfolio; participate in the wealth being created within the private market; and have liquidity due to the listing of the Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants on the TSX. At the same time, the public structure also allows the Company to focus its efforts on 
maximizing long-term performance through a concentrated and actively managed portfolio of high growth businesses, which 
are not widely available to most Canadian investors. 

Depending on the circumstances of each individual investment opportunity, the Company’s investments may range from a 
minority ownership position to a significant influence position, including control. The Company intends to use its ownership 
position to have an active role in its Portfolio Companies’ growth and development by providing to them strategic advice, 
industry experience as public market participants, board or advisory representation and/or through any other means as 
determined by the Manager. Given that private companies may have a liquidity event, including becoming a public issuer or 
being acquired by a public issuer, the Company will not be precluded from continuing to hold an investment in an entity that 
has ultimately become a public issuer. 

The Manager will act as the Company’s exclusive manager pursuant to the Management Agreement between the Company and 
the Manager, source and advise with respect to all investments on behalf of the Company, manage such investments and 
otherwise direct the Company’s affairs and manage the Company’s business. See “The Manager”. 

As a condition to Closing, the Management Investors will concurrently make the Management Investment. See “Management 
Investment”. 

The Company will also enter into the Custody Agreement with TD Securities Inc. as the Custodian, pursuant to which the 
Custodian will act as the custodian of the Company’s investment portfolio, as constituted from time to time, and certain other 
assets of the Company. See “Business of the Company – Custodian”. 

Business Objective 

The Company’s business objective is to maximize its long-term capital appreciation by seeking to achieve superior risk-
adjusted investment performance. The Company intends to invest in equity, debt and/or other securities of growth to late stage 
private operating businesses in furtherance of the Company’s business objective, with such investment tailored to the specific 
needs and opportunities of the Portfolio Company. The Company will not be investing in private operating businesses smaller 
than $100 million in enterprise value. The Company will not invest in land, cryptocurrencies, metals or similar natured assets 
or businesses who earn a majority of their revenue from such assets. 

The Company initially intends to invest in at least 10 growth to late stage private operating businesses located primarily in, or 
with customers, suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent on, Canada and/or the United States, over a three-
year period, following Closing. The Company also intends to support the growth and development of its Portfolio Companies 
through active ownership, leveraging its financial strength and the Manager’s industry experience and business contact 
network. Active ownership will be an integral part of the Company’s investment strategy and the support extended to Portfolio 
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Companies may be provided by way of board representation; board observer rights; strategic, financial, governance and capital 
market support; and/or preparing the Portfolio Company for potential corporate transactions. 

For the purposes of executing its business objective, the Company defines “active ownership” to include using the Company’s 
rights and ownership position to influence the activities or behaviours of its Portfolio Companies. In this regard, actions taken 
by the Company could include regular engagement with its Portfolio Companies with the explicit intention of influencing a 
Portfolio Company’s strategy and practices but may also extend to a wider range of engagement through different influence 
processes such as board representations or board observer rights in order to support their growth and development. The 
Company’s goal is to take a longer-term perspective towards maximizing the return on each of its investments and therefore, 
the Company’s ownership will generally not be limited to a specific timeframe. 

The anticipated rewards from taking a long-term investment perspective can be significant. The Manager believes that long 
term vehicles such as the Company, with its structure, are well-suited to generating outperformance on behalf of its 
shareholders, and relative to peers by reducing transaction fees, deferring capital gains tax, and keeping capital invested to 
compound over time. 

More specifically, the Company will seek to achieve its business objective by applying the following investment principles: 

• it will invest with a long-term perspective; the Company’s permanent capital base is better suited to long-term 
investing in private issuers as compared to private equity funds, which typically have holding periods of three to eight 
years; 

• it will invest in private issuers, however, as private issuers may become public over time, or may be acquired by a 
public issuer in the future, the Company will not be precluded from continuing to hold an investment in an entity that 
ultimately becomes a public issuer; 

• it will take a concentrated approach to portfolio construction (which is initially expected to include at least ten issuers 
over a three-year period following Closing); 

• it may invest across the capital structure, including equity, debt and/or other securities; tailoring its investments, where 
appropriate, to the needs of each Portfolio Company; 

• it will invest in high-quality businesses or those that the Manager believes have the potential to be high-quality 
businesses; 

• it will work for continuous improvement in the performance of Portfolio Companies through active ownership and 
the leveraging of its financial strength, the Manager’s industry experience, and business contact network; and 

• it will seek to promote and encourage best-in-class governance practices at the Portfolio Companies. 

Manager Experience 

The Manager has an experienced executive team – complemented by the Company’s Board and Advisory Board – that the 
Company and the Manager believe can provide unique value in sourcing, evaluating, managing and realizing value from private 
investments. The Manager believes it has assembled a unique team with investment and business-building experience to drive 
returns for the Company’s shareholders in the attractive and growing private equity market, all via a permanent capital structure 
that will competitively advantage the Company in making long-term investment decisions and position the Company as a 
shareholder of choice for prospective Portfolio Companies. The Manager itself is a newly formed company and, as such, it has 
no prior history of operations or experience in investing or managing private investments of the type proposed to be made on 
behalf of the Company. 

In particular, the Company and the Manager believe they have the experience and approach required to support superior 
investment performance in each component of the investment process, including: 
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Investment Process Component Manager’s Differentiated Approach 

Deal Sourcing The Manager’s executive team has extensive capital markets and business 
experience, with established networks of relationships (e.g. issuers, agents, broker-
dealers) in both primary and secondary markets to obtain strong access to 
information and deal flow across North America. 

In addition, the Manager has access to the members of the Board and the Advisory 
Board, which consist of proven business-builders and investors who have deep 
experience in investment management and in the sectors in which the Company will 
invest. 

Due Diligence & Investment 
Decision-Making 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer collectively have over 40 years of active investment management, 
due diligence and trading experience. This experience includes cultivating industry 
and issuer relationships to inform the investment decision-making process; 
performing detailed fundamental analysis; assessing securities and opportunities 
across the capital structure; and effectively trading in illiquid and under-researched 
markets and special situations. Each of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and 
Chief Investment Officer have experience evaluating growth-oriented investments 
and identifying strong companies in the early stages of their corporate development. 

The Company and the Manager believe that this historical experience provides a 
differentiated ability to invest in (and ultimately monetize) the growth to late stage 
private operating businesses that the Company will focus on, and provides a strong 
basis for holistic investment analysis between the private capital markets and public 
capital markets. 

Evaluating the Capital 
Structure 

The personnel of the Manager have a long history investing across the capital 
structure and in special situations, and have the tools and experience necessary to 
evaluate complex capital structures. For example, the past experience of the 
Company’s Chief Investment Officer includes co-running the special situations and 
risk arbitrage convertible bond and warrant inventories for a proprietary trading 
business at TD Securities Inc. 

Active Management The Company and the Manager believe they are well positioned to provide unique 
insight and value in actively managing the Company’s investments: the unique 
combination of capital markets investing expertise of the Company’s Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Investment Officer; and public company executive 
leadership and advisory expertise of the Company’s Chief Financial Officer, 
provides a strong basis to build relationships with (and positively influence) then-
current or prospective Portfolio Companies. 

Investment, Board and Advisory Board Team 

The Manager’s investment team, complemented by Stack Capital’s independent Board members and Advisory Board, includes 
Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos, Gerri Sinclair, John K. Bell, Laurie Goldberg, Bill Tai, Brian Beattie and 
Owais Qureshi. The responsibilities of the executive team, as overseen by the Board and supported by the Advisory Board, 
will include risk management, corporate governance, operations and relationship management with Portfolio Companies, 
potential Portfolio Companies and service providers. See “Directors and Management of the Company”. 

Investment Team 

The Company’s investment team is comprised of Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers and Jimmy Vaiopoulos and its responsibilities 
will include idea generation, investment selection, due diligence, portfolio management, transaction negotiation and structuring, 
relationship management, ongoing position maintenance and active ownership of Portfolio Companies. 

Immediately prior to joining the Company, Jeffrey Parks was a portfolio manager at Venator Capital Management Ltd. for over 
a decade. From January 2017 to February 2021, Mr. Parks co-managed three North American investment mandates. The 
long/short equity fund generated an annualized return of 15.1%, while its benchmark posted a return of 10.6%. The North 
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American yield mandate generated an annualized return of 6.7%, while its benchmark posted an annualized return of 6.4%. 
Lastly, the concentrated best ideas mandate generated an annualized return of 19.4%, while its benchmark posted an annualized 
return of 10.6%.1 Mr. Parks’ experience across capital structures, and his proven ability in identifying and investing in under-
followed businesses, are core competencies that are transferable to the Company’s private equity investing, which will benefit 
shareholders of the Company. Furthermore, the same fundamental analysis, risk management and overall due diligence process 
that he utilized over the past decade will be applied towards actively managing the Company’s portfolio of private businesses. 

Jason Meiers has over 20 years’ experience at TD Securities Inc. in managing strategies, including preferred shares, warrants, 
options, convertible debentures, long short equities, equities and merger arbitrage. During his career at TD Securities Inc., Mr. 
Meiers worked closely with investment banking, equity capital markets and management teams in various capacities such as 
pricing new issues, secondary blocks and capital structure, including share buybacks and special issuer bids. The group, led by 
Mr. Meiers, developed close ties with management teams resulting in many mandates for the firm leading to multiple financing 
and normal course issuer bid mandates. Mr. Meiers also strategically focused on specific companies which led to significant 
market share and trading volumes for the firm. Mr. Meiers’ long history of successfully working with management teams and 
fellow investors will benefit the private market investments that is the focus of the Company. Mr. Meiers worked at TD 
Securities Inc. until the end of February 2021, when he began to focus on the Company. 

Jimmy Vaiopoulos previously worked with KPMG, auditing both public and private companies. Mr. Vaiopoulos then 
transferred to KPMG Advisory where he focused on mergers and acquisitions, due diligence and project finance for both private 
and public companies, which included both local and international engagements. There, he gained the insight to perform in 
depth due diligence to understand an investment, at times with limited information. Mr. Vaiopoulos also worked in KPMG’s 
Santiago, Chile office where he focused on advising and assisting with the due diligence process of acquisition of mostly private 
companies ranging from $50 million to over $1 billion in size. Mr. Vaiopoulos then worked in the disruptive industries of 
renewable energy and cryptocurrency as Chief Financial Officer for Canadian listed issuers. Although Mr. Vaiopoulos’ 
experience is directly useful to perform the Company’s Chief Financial Officer duties, Mr. Vaiopoulos’ prior experience is also 
relevant to assist the Company in assessing potential private company investments. 

Independent Board Members 

The independent Board members, Gerri Sinclair, John K. Bell and Laurie Goldberg, have significant experience in growing 
private companies and have successful track records in both investing in private and public companies as well as serving as 
members of boards of directors of public companies. Their collective experience outlined below will supplement the experience 
and knowledge of the Manager’s investment team and provide valuable oversight and guidance to the Manager to operate the 
Company to maximize shareholder value. 

Gerri Sinclair’s career includes more than 25 years’ experience spanning the fields of Internet, mobile and digital media 
technologies, entrepreneurial business, and government policy. She was appointed British Columbia’s Innovation 
Commissioner in 2020 where she is responsible for supporting the implementation of innovation and technology-related 
priorities and initiatives in the province. Ms. Sinclair is a former Managing Director at Kensington Capital Partners, a $1.7 
billion fund that focuses on private equity and venture capital, where she was the lead manager of its $100 million BC Tech 
Fund. She was the founder and CEO of NCompass Labs, the Internet digital content management company acquired by 
Microsoft in 2001. She then joined the Microsoft Senior Executive team as Country Manager for Canada for MSN. A former 
IBM Consulting Scholar as well as a Visiting Scientist at IBM Research in New York, Ms. Sinclair was also the first President 
of the British Columbia Government Premier’s Technology Council, and the founding director of the ExCITE lab at Simon 
Fraser University, the first digital media technology R&D centre in Canada. From 2006-2010, Ms. Sinclair was the Founder 
and CEO of the Centre for Digital Media at Great Northern Way Campus where she developed and directed an innovative 
graduate school program awarding a Master’s Degree in digital entertainment, mobile/social media and video game design, 
and accredited by the four leading universities in Vancouver. She has served on several government and corporate boards, 
including Telus Corporation, TMX Group Limited, Canadian Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB), BC Telecom Inc., 
Vancouver Airport Authority (YVR), Ballard Power Inc., as well as Canada’s Information Highway Advisory Council and the 
National Broadband Taskforce. Ms. Sinclair holds a Ph.D. in Renaissance drama as well as an honorary Doctor of Science in 
Computing Science from the University of British Columbia. 

John K. Bell is the Chairman of the Board of Onbelay Capital Inc., a private equity company. In addition to his long history of 
investing in private companies, Mr. Bell is also the former chair and founding director of Canopy Rivers Corporation, a venture 
capital arm of a public company with a focus on investing in private companies. He was also the past chair and first independent 
director of Canopy Growth Corporation (TSX and Nasdaq), one of the largest cannabis companies in the world. He was the 

1 Benchmark is comprised of 25% of each of the following indexes: S&P 500 Total Return, S&P TSX Total Return, Russell 2000 and 
S&P Toronto Small Cap.
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founder of ShredTech and grew it into a global giant in the mobile document shredding and recycling industry. After selling 
ShredTech in 1995, he purchased Polymer Technologies Inc. and grew it from a local plastics manufacturer to a global auto 
parts company before exiting in 2007. Mr. Bell also served as interim Chief Executive Officer and director of ATS Automation 
Tooling Systems Inc. (TSX), a global automation company with 4,500 employees and $1.4 billion sales during its time of 
management and board renewal in 2007. Mr. Bell was the lead investor and Chairman of BSM Technologies Inc. First investing 
in 2006, he led board and management renewal leading to substantial and profitable growth before successfully exiting in 2014. 
Mr. Bell has been a board member of a number of public, private, crown and not-for-profit companies, including the Royal 
Canadian Mint, The Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan and Strongco Corporation. He is currently a Governor of The Stratford 
Festival. 

Laurie Goldberg is the Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of People Corporation. Mr. Goldberg is responsible 
for providing leadership and overall strategic direction to People Corporation and its subsidiaries. Under his guidance and 
leadership, the organization began its transformation from a regional firm to one with a national presence and was recently 
acquired for $1.2 billion by the Goldman Sachs Merchant Banking Division. Mr. Goldberg’s experience includes the position 
of Chief Operating Officer and Office of the President of Assante Corporation, formerly a TSX listed company. During his 
tenure with Assante, he led the organization to become one of the largest non-bank owned financial institutions in Canada, with 
over 2,500 employees and advisors, managing approximately $22 billion in client assets. Assante’s portfolio also included a 
leading sports and entertainment services organization in the United States. In 2003, the Canadian operations of Assante were 
sold for approximately $900 million. Prior to joining Assante, Mr. Goldberg was a Managing Partner with Arthur Andersen 
(now Deloitte). 

Advisory Board Members 

The Advisory Board members, which consist of Bill Tai, Brian Beattie and Owais Qureshi, have significant experience in 
investing and asset management, and will provide the Company and the Manager appropriate support and advice as required. 
The experience of the Advisory Board members will complement the investment team and the Board and provide guidance as 
the Manager navigates the investment process. 

Bill Tai has over 30 years of experience as a venture capitalist in Silicon Valley and has been involved in 22 initial public 
offerings. Mr. Tai was employee #A001 at Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company Limited (TPE: 2330) and was 
among the first backers of Zoom Video Communications, Inc. (NASDAQ: ZM), Canva Pty Ltd., Dapper Labs Inc., TweetDeck 
(acquired by Twitter Inc. (NYSE: TWTR)), Color Health, Inc. and Wish.com (formerly known as ContextLogic Inc.; 
NASDAQ: WISH). Mr. Tai is the Founding Chairman of Treasure Data, Inc., which was successfully acquired by ARM Corp, 
Founding Chairman of IP Infusion Inc., Founding Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of iAsiaWorks, and a former director 
of eight publicly listed companies. Originally trained as a computer chip designer, Mr. Tai holds a BSEE Honors from the 
University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, and an MBA from Harvard Business School. 

Brian Beattie is the Chief Financial Officer at Volaris Group, an operating company of Constellation Software (TSX: CSU). 
Mr. Beattie has over 20 years of experience in finance and served as Chief Financial Officer for multiple organizations before 
joining Volaris Group in 2005. Besides overseeing the financial health of Volaris Group, he works closely with Volaris Group’s 
legal and mergers and acquisitions teams on all new acquisitions. Mr. Beattie is an expert on every stage of the mergers and 
acquisitions process. Mr. Beattie has an HBA in Economics and Finance from the University of Toronto and is a Chartered 
Professional Accountant and a Chartered Accountant. 

Owais Qureshi is a director and Senior Portfolio Manager for the Canada Post Corporation Pension Fund. Mr. Qureshi manages 
and trades a Canadian and U.S. enhanced equity index portfolio with combined assets under management of $3 billion. Mr. 
Qureshi is a CFA charter holder and holds a Master of Finance degree from the Rotman School of Management. Prior to this, 
Mr. Qureshi worked as a Portfolio Manager for TD Asset Management, where he was responsible for the daily management 
of approximately $10 billion of discretionary structured investment portfolios spread over 19,000 high net worth accounts, 
which included all aspects of portfolio modeling and analysis, trading and risk management. Mr. Qureshi is an active member 
of the Toronto CFA Society. 

Investment Selection

To identify potential investments, the Company will principally rely on the expertise of the Manager. The Manager has a 
mandate to identify, review, advise on and provide recommendations with respect to investment opportunities for the Company 
that meet its business objective. The Manager will be expected to identify and evaluate all of the investment opportunities for 
the Company and will conduct the initial suitability screen when evaluating potential investments for the Company. 

The Company will seek to target private investment opportunities that fall under the following three categories: 
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Common Characteristics 

Growth Stage: Recognized as the time when private issuers work to refine 
their business model, capture market share, and start to generate revenues. 
These issuers primarily have revenue of $10 to $50 million with significant 
annual growth rates. Growth stage issuers are focused on maturing their 
product offering, making it more robust, or adding additional features. 
Significant capital investments fuel market growth, which at times may result 
in substantial financial operating losses. Risks in this stage are generally 
centered on execution, competition, regulation, market size, and scalability 
of technology. 

• Revenue levels of $10 to $50 million 
(or more) 

• Growth rates > 100% per annum 
• Increased product development and 

concept stabilization 
• Execution risk 

Late Stage: Issuers are focused on scaling their business through marketing 
and sales and may begin to focus on cash flows as growth rates begin to 
mature. With annual revenue in excess of $50 million, capital investments 
are made to foster further growth and development through new products and 
technologies and by penetrating new markets. The likelihood of a late-stage 
issuer failing declines as the customer base, product line, and revenues grow. 

• Revenue levels > $50 million 
• Growth rates > 25% per annum 
• Strong focus on maintaining market 

share, if total market growth is slowing 
• Reduced failure risk 
• Moving closer to an exit 

Liquidity/Initial Public Offering Stage: At this point, the value of a private 
issuer is monetized through a liquidity event with either an initial public 
offering or an acquisition by another issuer. Annual revenue has typically hit 
$200 million or more with average annual growth rates of 10% to 25% per 
year. For 2019, approximately 90% of all exits for U.S. venture capital 
investments were through mergers and acquisitions versus initial public 
offerings.2

• Revenue levels of >$200 million 
• Growth rates > 10% per annum 
• Exit expenses and legal complexities 
• Lock-up features 

By investing in companies that fall within the above categories, the Manager believes the Company will reduce its risk, increase 
its liquidity, and maximize the likelihood of positive returns to its shareholders. Some of the Company’s target portfolio 
investments can be found on CNBC’s Disruptor 50 list. 

2 Morgan Stanley Investment Management Report. “Public to Private Equity in the United States: A Long-Term Look”. August 4, 2020. 
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The Company and the Manager have established detailed investment criteria to facilitate the evaluation and due diligence of 
each investment opportunity. These criteria address both the fundamental merit of a potential investment, as well as the 
corresponding risks, and specifically focus on the following: 

• strength of revenues (both established and growing); 

• strong growth potential; 

• ability to build and extend market share in large total addressable markets (TAMs); 

• strength of the management team; its background and board of directors and advisors; and its alignment with investors; 

• ability to increase top-line growth opportunities, both organic and inorganic; the visibility of top-line growth; and the 
opportunity for re-investment of capital in support of further growth opportunities; 

• track record of operational excellence and execution, along with competitive leadership within its industry; and 

• assessment of overall corporate health and risks, including risk mitigation strategies. 

The Manager believes that it will maintain a margin of safety by investing in private issuers that have strong relative growth 
rates, strong balance sheets, and attractive multiples compared to their publicly listed peers. As an example, the below chart 
shows the one-year forward revenue growth rates and price-to-sales (last-twelve-months) multiples for Affirm Holdings Inc. 
(“Affirm”), and Afterpay Limited (“Afterpay”) as at April 3, 2019, the date of Affirm’s last private funding round with an 
available implied valuation before its initial public offering. While both companies had similar business models (buy-now-pay-
later financing) and growth rates, Affirm’s private funding round was priced at a significant discount to Afterpay, based on a 
price-to-sales valuation. 

Note: Data sourced from PitchBook and S&P Capital IQ; As of April 3, 2019; One-year forward Revenue Growth Rate 
is based on the closest available disclosed revenue figures; Price-to-Sales figure is based on the closest available 
disclosed last-twelve-months revenue figure. 

The Manager and the Company will conduct a thorough due diligence process when evaluating any investments prior to a 
recommendation from, or decision of, the Manager to make an investment. This generally will include consultations with the 
members of the Advisory Board and the Manager’s network of current and former management teams, consultants, competitors, 
investment bankers and senior executives to help assess, among other things, the industry dynamics, the character of the 
management team and the viability of the business plan. More specifically, due diligence in respect of a particular investment 
opportunity will typically include, among other items as deemed necessary from time to time: 

• review of historical and projected financial information; 

• on-site visits; 

• interviews with management, employees, customers and vendors; 

• review of material agreements; 

• background checks; and 

• research relating to the businesses’ management, industry, markets, products and services, and competitors. 

The Board will have a role in approving significant investments and monetizations of the Company, and will be included in 
decisions concerning other significant events in respect of any Portfolio Company that may reasonably be brought forward for 
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the Board’s review. Board approval will be required for each initial investment in a Portfolio Company made by the Company 
which has an acquisition cost that is greater than 15% of Total Assets. The Board will also be required to approve each proposed 
investment monetization of a Company’s investment in a Portfolio Company having expected gross proceeds that are greater 
than 15% of Total Assets. See “Directors and Management of the Company”. 

The Company intends to invest in high-quality businesses, or those that have the potential to be high-quality businesses, and, 
as such, will generally avoid unproven and speculative business models. Some of the investing themes that the Company 
intends to focus its investment selection process on may include: 

• software-as-a-service; 

• mobility; 

• enterprise software; 

• artificial intelligence and deep learning; 

• healthcare technology; 

• renewable energy; and 

• fintech solutions. 

Examples of the type of investments that may be made by the Company and possible investments that could be made by the 
Company include: 

• Attentive Mobile Inc.; 

• Better.com; 

• Canva Pty Ltd; 

• Databricks Inc.; 

• Discord Inc.; 

• Epic Games, Inc.; 

• Flexport Inc.; 

• Hopper (USA) Inc.; 

• Maplebear Inc. (d/b/a Instacart); 

• Plaid Inc.; 

• Space Exploration Technologies Corp. (SpaceX); and 

• Stripe Inc. 

Managing Portfolio Companies 

The Company intends to take an active role in overseeing its Portfolio Companies. The expected degree of influence will 
depend, in part, on the Company’s ownership position of each investment amongst other factors. The Company’s expected 
ownership positions may vary from minority positions to control positions; however, following any investment, the Company 
and the Manager (and/or their respective representatives, where applicable) will endeavour to work in a hands-on and 
constructive manner with each Portfolio Company in an effort to create sustainable long-term value. In particular, the 
Company’s active ownership will be focused on enhancing value in the following four primary areas: 

• Capital Markets: capital support to pursue key strategic initiatives; source of permanent capital in subsequent 
financings; communication strategies; and access to investors; 

• Capital Structure Support: appropriate use of leverage; help source and optimize financing options; help with capital 
allocation decisions including capital expenditure programs, share buybacks and dividends; 

• Governance: adopt best practices and strong board composition; augment management team (when required); 
optimize management incentive structures and overall alignment with investors; and improve reporting and public 
disclosure; and 
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• Strategy: evaluation of revenue enhancements; mergers and acquisitions/non-core asset divestitures; the setting of 
corporate priorities; exploration of cost efficiencies and asset utilization opportunities. 

Competitive Strengths 

The Company will operate in a competitive environment, based on a variety of factors such as investment performance, brand 
recognition, business reputation, financial strength, level of fees, and investor alignment. Other firms utilizing a permanent 
capital structure include Apollo Global Management LLC, Berkshire Hathaway Inc., BlackRock, Inc., The Blackstone Group 
Inc., Brookfield Asset Management Inc., Cymbria Corporation, Fairfax Financial Holdings Limited, Investor AB, KKR & Co. 
Inc., FAX Capital Corp. and Onex Corporation.3

Notwithstanding the current landscape, the Company believes its competitive strengths, including its investment strategy and 
approach, along with its corporate structure and experienced management team, differentiate it from its peers and provide for 
a highly unique platform to realize its objectives. 

The following is the Company’s view of its competitive strengths: 

• Access to the private equity asset class: The Company will seek to democratize access to private equity investments 
by allowing retail and institutional investors to gain indirect investment exposure to growth to late stage private 
operating businesses. 

• Long-term investment perspective: By emphasizing a long-term perspective, the Company expects to be able to 
make the commitments necessary to allow investments to realize their full potential, maximizing absolute returns by 
exploiting opportunities in a market that the Manager believes is increasingly short-term focused and unwilling or 
unable to sustain short-term volatility. 

• Liquid public structure: As an exchange-listed corporation, the Company’s structure is expected to provide its 
investors with increased liquidity as compared to the alternatives of traditional venture capital and private equity 
investments, which typically have defined hold periods and limited methods to redeem or trade value. 

• Active management: The Company believes in active management to positively influence the activities and/or 
behaviour of its Portfolio Companies. The Manager believes that active management is not only an effective means 
to minimize investment risks and maximize returns, but it is also expected to enable the Company to forge stronger 
relationships with the Portfolio Companies, as the Company believes that issuers prefer to deal with entities that 
democratize investment access. 

• Flexible mandate: The Company is expected to have the benefit of utilizing a flexible investment mandate, with the 
capability to invest across the capital structure, tailoring its investments to the needs of Portfolio Companies. 

• Experienced leadership: The Company has built an accomplished and experienced management team, Board and 
Advisory Board to execute on its investment and operational strategy. The management team is collectively investing 
a significant amount of their personal capital (see “Management Investment”) and has agreed to voluntarily lock-up 
and retain all of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the Offering and the Management 
Investment by the Management Investors until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, subject to certain limited 
exceptions, showing their confidence and alignment with investors (see “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject 
to Contractual Restriction on Transfer”). 

• Optimal structure: The Company operates with a permanent capital base and, as such, management believes it is 
well positioned to maximize investment returns on behalf of its shareholders in the future. Permanent capital is 
expected to allow the Company and the Manager to focus on the growth of each underlying Portfolio Company, 
without having to concern itself with the liquidity needs of investors in a Portfolio Company. The Company also 
believes that permanent capital structures are the preferred choice of issuers. The structure is also expected to provide 
the Company with the stability necessary to weather downturns in the economy, in the most effective manner possible. 

• Competitive compensation structure: The Company is structured as an externally managed business and, as such, 
is subject to paying the Management Fee and, if earned, the Performance Fee. Given the exclusive nature of the private 

3 These asset managers have been included as examples of successful asset managers to validate the permanent capital model. The 
inclusion of these managers is not intended, nor should be construed as, implying that the Company has similar business operations or 
that the Company will be able to generate the same or similar returns over the near, medium or long term.
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equity opportunities that the Company will seek to invest in, the Manager believes that the Management Fee and the 
Performance Fee (subject to a permanent high water mark) are competitive in comparison to other private equity 
opportunities in the marketplace, and on par with the fees charged by many conventional mutual fund or liquid 
alternative investment entities. 

Through capital and strategic support, and by leveraging the management team’s track record of successful business building, 
the Company’s goal is to help each of its Portfolio Companies thrive and build a strong foundation for their long-term growth. 
Achievement of this goal will lead to greater investor appeal, a higher valuation of the Portfolio Companies and enhanced 
attractiveness to strategic buyers and investors alike. 

The Company’s investment rationale and return expectations will be regularly tested and evaluated against its available 
opportunity set of investments to ensure the Company’s returns are maximized on a risk-adjusted basis. In the event that a 
better use of capital is identified, the Company may seek to exit an investment through open-market sales, recapitalizations, 
block trades, secondary offerings, initial public offerings or a sale of the Portfolio Company. 

Notwithstanding the Company’s long-term investment horizon, it may, from time to time, seek to monetize any of its 
investments. The conditions under which it may sell all or part of an investment include, but are not limited to: (i) the investment 
maturing, or reaching/exceeding the Manager’s assessment of its fair value; (ii) a change in corporate or operational strategy 
that differs from its original investment thesis; (iii) an opportunity arising to achieve liquidity on attractive terms; or (iv) 
identifying another investment opportunity that offers a more attractive risk-adjusted return profile, where additional capital is 
needed to make the investment. The Board will also be required to approve each proposed investment monetization of the 
Company’s investment in a Portfolio Company having expected gross proceeds that are greater than 15% of Total Assets. See 
“Directors and Management of the Company”. 

Custodian 

The Company will also enter into the Custody Agreement with the TD Securities Inc., pursuant to which TD Securities Inc. 
will be appointed to act as the Custodian of the Company’s investment portfolio, as constituted from time to time, and certain 
other assets of the Company. The Custodian will be responsible for the safekeeping of all of the investments and other assets 
of the Company delivered to it and will act as custodian of such assets. The Company reserves the right, in its discretion, to 
change the foregoing custodial arrangement, including, but not limited to, the appointment of a replacement custodian. Any 
replacement custodian that is retained by the Company will be an entity that would be qualified to act as: (i) a custodian for 
assets held in Canada; or (ii) a custodian for assets held outside Canada, as the case may be, in each case in accordance with 
Part 6 of National Instrument 81-102 - Investment Funds other than the requirements under subsections 6.2(3)(a) and 6.2(3)(b) 
of such instrument. 

The Custodian may employ sub-custodians as considered appropriate in the circumstances in accordance with the terms of the 
Custody Agreement. The Custodian must obtain the written consent of the Company prior to the appointment of any sub-
custodian, and any sub-custodians appointed from time to time must satisfy the requirements of Part 6 of National Instrument 
81-102 - Investment Funds other than the requirements under subsections 6.2(3)(a) and 6.2(3)(b) of such instrument. 

Market Overview  

The private equity market has evolved significantly over the past twenty-five years and the current environment is characterized 
by: (i) capital flows increasingly moving to private markets; (ii) companies staying private for longer periods of time; and (iii) 
private companies experiencing more of their growth and raising more capital while being privately held. The private equity 
market has also remained difficult for many retail and institutional investors to gain exposure to because of securities 
regulations, and the exclusivity amongst venture capital and private equity funds for primary market transactions of many high-
quality private issuers. 

Increasing Prominence of Private Capital Markets 

There is an increasing proportion of capital being deployed in private markets relative to public markets. According to data 
from PitchBook Data Inc. and Refinitiv, U.S. companies have raised more capital through private equity and venture capital 
than they have in public markets in each year since 2010.4

Overall, investments into private markets have grown significantly over the past decade. The below chart shows that the amount 
of private equity capital and venture capital invested in U.S.-based companies increased nearly five-fold from 2009 to 2020, 

4 PitchBook Data, Inc.; *Data has not been reviewed by PitchBook Analysts.*, Refinitiv.
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with the total number of deals tripling over this period.5 Despite uncertainty surrounding the novel coronavirus (“COVID-19”), 
private equity and venture capital investments experienced continued significant growth during 2020, with the total capital 
raised for private issuers eclipsing US$600 billion.6

Capital Raised by U.S. Companies in Private Markets (2009-2020) 

Source: Data sourced from PitchBook Data Inc. and has not been reviewed by PitchBook analysts.

Conversely, activity in the public markets as measured by the amount of equity capital raised and the number of offerings, has 
remained relatively stagnant over the past two decades, as shown in the below chart. The upward movement in 2020 reflects 
the record year of U.S. initial public offerings, driven by the resurgence of special purpose acquisition company offerings, and 
venture capital-backed companies filing for issuance, among other factors.7

Capital Raised by U.S. Companies in Public Markets (2000-2020) 

Source: Refinitiv. 

Companies Staying Private Longer 

There has been a marked shift in U.S. equities away from public to private raises, controlled by buyout and venture capital 
firms. Issuers are choosing to stay private longer; operating as a private entity is less onerous and more efficient for many 
businesses, allowing management to focus on the execution of long-term growth objectives, instead of quarterly earnings and 

5 PitchBook Data, Inc.; *Data has not been reviewed by PitchBook Analysts.* 
6 Ibid, footnote 5. 
7 PwC. “2020 Annual Capital Markets Watch”. N.d. 
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other public issuer considerations. The below chart shows a change in the average age of U.S. companies completing an initial 
public offering from 8 years between 1976 and 1997 to 11 years between 1998 and 2019.8

Average Age of Company at the Time of Initial Public Offering (U.S. Companies; 1976-2019) 

Source: Morgan Stanley Investment Management Report. “Public to Private Equity in the United 
States: A Long-Term Look”. August 4, 2020. 

There are about 3,600 public issuers in the United States today, about half as many as there were in 1996 and three-quarters as 
many as there were in 1976.9 The drop in the number of public issuers is directly attributed to mergers and acquisitions activity, 
as well as a lower level of initial public offerings.10 The below chart shows the total U.S. publicly listed issuers from 1976 to 
2019, also showing the additions and subtractions to public listings. 

Number of U.S. Publicly Listed Issuers (1976-2019) 

Source: Morgan Stanley Investment Management Report. “Public to Private Equity in the United 
States: A Long-Term Look”. August 4, 2020. 

There are number of drivers behind this trend, including: 

• Cost of an initial public offering: the cost of going public to list on a senior exchange in the U.S. has risen in recent 
decades causing the age of an issuer that may consider an initial public offering to rise as well. In the late 1990s, the 
average time for an exit via an initial public offering was less than an exit by acquisition for a venture-backed company, 
which is no longer the case;11

• Shift in motivation: early to mid-stage issuers do not need to raise significant capital from the public markets because 
they are generally less capital intensive when compared to issuers in prior decades. Historically, issuers that completed 

8 Morgan Stanley Investment Management Report. “Public to Private Equity in the United States: A Long-Term Look”. August 4, 2020.
9 Ibid, footnote 8.
10 Ibid, footnote 8.
11 Ibid, footnote 8.
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an initial public offering in the 1970s had lower gross margins and more upfront capital needs than, for example, a 
digitally focused issuer that may exist today;12

• Access to capital: access to capital has changed in the 21st century as the scale of funds available from venture capital 
and private equity funds has grown significantly. These funds provide capital from the seed stage through to a liquidity 
event. As venture capital and private equity has grown, they have been able to raise incremental funds and invest in 
new private issuers, therefore perpetuating the cycle of large private issuers staying private longer;13 and 

• More liquidity options: there are now many ways for employees who have been compensated in equity to liquidate 
their ownership position without an initial public offering. It is common for employees to have an opportunity to sell 
some shares as part of an equity round, and there are now marketplaces to do this, such as SharesPost, EquityZen, 
CartaX and NASDAQ Private Market. This is reducing the urgency for large liquidity events for the current employees 
of private issuers and providing circumstances which allow such issuers to remain adequately funded in the private 
market for longer. 

Further, when looking at private issuers with a reported value of over US$1 billion, often referred to as “Unicorns”, there are 
over 600 issuers with a total value of approximately US$2 trillion.14 The amount of value created in the private capital markets 
is growing tremendously. The number of Unicorns has steadily grown over the past decade as issuers are remaining private 
longer. 

Increasing Proportion of Value Creation within Private Markets 

Companies are staying private for longer and are experiencing more of their overall growth while private. The chart below 
shows that the average market capitalization for recent selected initial public offerings (2018-2020) was US$38 billion, 
compared to US$600 million for legacy selected initial public offerings (1995-2002), with the average revenue for these 
companies increasing from US$50 million to US$4 billion between these periods. The average company age at the initial public 
offering date for legacy issuers was two years, compared to an average age of 10 years for recent issuers. As issuers are 
remaining private longer, exposure to their growth while they remain private is unavailable to public market investors. 

Financial Profile of Selected U.S. Companies at the Time of the Initial Public Offering 

Sources: Company Filings, Public Disclosure, S&P Capital IQ, TD Securities Estimates. 
Note: Figures in $US. Market Cap based on IPO Listing Price. Averages are based on the 
above selected samples.

12 Ibid, footnote 8.
13 Ibid, footnote 8.
14 Teare, Gené. “Private Unicorn Board Now Above 600 Companies Valued At $2T”. Crunchbase news, June 29, 2020.
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There is substantial value being realized in private issuers going public. Over the last twelve months, there have been 
approximately 320 initial public offerings in the United States with an average first day closing price gain of approximately 
37%.15 Further, many companies that have recently completed an initial public offering have experienced a “double lift” in 
their valuation, whereby there is appreciation from their last private equity round valuation to their initial public offering 
valuation, plus further appreciation in their first day closing valuation. The chart below provides recent examples of select well-
known issuers, which on average saw their valuation at the close of their first public markets trading day increase 4x compared 
to their last private funding round valuation. 

Implied Company Valuation for Selected U.S. Companies at Various Corporate Milestones 

Note: Data sourced from PitchBook Data Inc. and has not been reviewed by PitchBook analysts. Last 
Private Funding Round is based on the latest publicly disclosed figures. Valuations are post-money. 
Average figure is based on the above selected companies. 

Buyout funds and venture capital that have exposure to private issuers have historically generated higher annual returns, on a 
risk-adjusted basis, relative to publicly traded securities. The below chart plots the risk, measured as standard deviation, and 
return for several major asset classes from 1984 through 2015. Venture capital funds provided the highest returns and second 
highest risk, while buyout funds generated the second-highest returns and risk in the bottom third of the asset classes. 

Source: Morgan Stanley Investment Management Report. “Public to Private Equity in the United 
States: A Long-Term Look”. August 4, 2020.

15 Data sourced from IPOScoop.com; as of April 19, 2021.
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Democratizing Access to Private Companies for Investors 

Although the private equity space has been very profitable for a global network of venture capital and private equity funds, it 
is difficult for retail and institutional investors to gain exposure to this ecosystem. This represents a significant limitation to the 
number of investors that have access to attractive private issuers and has left the benefit of investing in the growing number of 
private issuers to a relatively small number of venture capital and private equity investors. 

There are two methods by which an investor typically purchases securities of a private issuer: 

1. Primary Market Transactions: capital raised directly by the issuer with the proceeds going directly to the issuer for 
corporate purposes. In such a circumstance, the Company will have the opportunity to invest alongside some of the 
most prominent venture capital and private equity leaders and gain valuable access to company financials and data 
rooms, and benefit from follow-on rights and/or liquidity events; and  

2. Secondary Market Transactions: transactions that take place between a current holder of a security of a private issuer 
and a new or existing investor in said private issuer, where participants trade previously issued securities. In such a 
circumstance, the Company can opportunistically acquire securities from existing security holders seeking liquidity. 
Examples of potential secondary market sellers include private equity, venture capital, employees (existing & former), 
founders and angel investors. 

Regarding a primary market transaction, it is difficult for the vast majority of investors to take part in such transactions due to 
the exclusive nature of the capital raising of high-quality private issuers. This is caused by the closed-ended nature of many 
venture capital firms and, at times, the requirement for a large minimum investment.  

An alternative to primary market transactions is to purchase securities of a private issuer through a secondary market transaction 
which is open to a broader investment group. It was reported by Setter Capital’s volume reports that private equity secondary 
market transactions in 2019 and 2020 were US$77.8 billion and US$56.2 billion, respectively, showing the scale of the 
secondary market.16 The chart below shows the total reported private equity secondary market transactions from 2013 to 2020. 
The drop in 2020 was due to the uncertainty surrounding COVID-19, which limited the closing of many of these transactions; 
however, it is clear that the overall private issuer secondary market has grown over the past eight years. 

Source: https://settercapital.com/volume-report-archive. 

Common concerns with secondary market transactions are that the availability of a specific security is not guaranteed, the price 
of the security is negotiated between the buyer and seller, the legal costs for the transaction could be high, execution may take 
a long time, information may be limited, and typically the minimum investment size is relatively large. This makes it difficult 
for many investors to make a significant investment in a private issuer. Many businesses have emerged to democratize 

16 https://settercapital.com/volume-report-archive.
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investments in private issuers, such as EquityZen, SharesPost, CartaX, and others; however, deal flow is limited, and 
investments are restricted to specific investors. 

While private equity has been able to provide institutional investors with enhanced portfolio diversification and higher risk-
adjusted returns, access to these same opportunities has been restricted and/or entirely unavailable for most institutional and 
non-institutional investors. The Company is seeking to remedy this situation and democratize the investing landscape by 
providing retail and institutional investors with an opportunity to gain exposure to companies the Manager believes are some 
of the most innovative and disruptive private businesses in the world. The Manager believes that shareholders will have the 
opportunity to benefit from the attractive nature of the diversified private investment portfolio; participate in the wealth being 
created within the private market; and have liquidity due to the listing of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants on the TSX. 
At the same time, the public structure also serves as a distinct advantage to the Company, allowing it to focus its efforts on 
patiently maximizing long-term performance through a concentrated and actively managed portfolio of high growth businesses, 
while providing liquidity to shareholders through public trading of its own securities on the TSX. 

Market Trading of Publicly Listed Investment Vehicles 

The relatively few Canadian investment companies that hold private assets or employ novel investment strategies persistently 
trade at attractive multiples and higher levels relative to their net asset values (“NAV”) than peers holding publicly-traded 
securities. The Manager believes that the Company’s investment in the private equity asset class will mitigate the risk of trading 
at a discount to the Company’s Book Value as its investment strategy and investment holdings will not be easy for investors to 
replicate. 

Note: Data sourced from TSX, Bloomberg, and public disclosure. 
Investment Vehicles with Private/Novel Underlying Assets: constituents include investment vehicles 
with underlying assets which are difficult for retail and institutional investors to replicate, relative 
to publicly listed securities; the 15 constituents hold underlying investments in precious metals, 
private mortgages, and cryptocurrency. 
Investment Vehicles with Publicly Listed Underlying Assets: constituents include 51 publicly listed 
investment vehicles that hold publicly listed underlying assets.
(1) Based on trailing 3 years of total trading data; excluding premiums/discounts for the months of 

March, April, and May in 2020 due to irregularities in trading related to COVID-19. 
(2) Based on trailing 3 years of daily trading data. 
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MANAGEMENT INVESTMENT 

Concurrent with the Closing, the Management Investors will purchase an aggregate of 583,334 Units on a non-brokered, private 
placement basis at the Offering Price for gross proceeds of $7,000,008. No commission or other fee will be paid to the Agents 
or any other agents in connection with the Management Investment. Under the Agency Agreement and the Voluntary Measures, 
closing of the Offering is conditional on the closing of the Management Investment. See “Plan of Distribution” and “Risk 
Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering”. 

As part of the terms of the Management Investment, each Management Investor will covenant and agree with the Company to 
voluntarily lock-up and retain all of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the Offering and the 
Management Investment until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, provided that at any time or from time to time, a 
Management Investor: (i) may exercise such IPO Warrants, but continue to retain all Common Shares received upon each such 
exercise for the balance of the period; (ii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants to a Permitted Holder 
that provides a similar covenant and agreement; (iii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants in a 
transaction where the proposed acquirer agrees to acquire a pro rata share of the equity investment of all other equity investors 
of the Company; and (iv) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants and any Common Shares received 
upon exercise of such IPO Warrants for the purpose of paying the exercise price payable in connection with the exercise of 
such IPO Warrants or for paying taxes due as a result of any such transfer. See “Escrowed Securities and Securities Subject to 
Contractual Restriction on Transfer”. 

Purchasers of the Units offered under this prospectus should not rely on the fact that the Management Investors have decided 
to purchase Units. 

USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the Offering, will be approximately $93,718,900 (assuming no exercise of the Over-Allotment Option), 
after deducting the Company’s estimated expenses of the Offering and the Agents’ fee. In addition, the Company will receive 
proceeds of $7,000,008 from the sale of 583,334 Units, on a non-brokered, private placement basis, from the Management 
Investors concurrently with the Closing (see “Management Investment”). The Manager has agreed to pay all expenses incurred by 
the Company in connection with the Offering and the Management Investment in excess of 1.5% of the gross proceeds of the 
Offering and the Management Investment. 

The Company will use the net proceeds of the Offering, together with the proceeds from the Management Investment, to, directly 
or indirectly, make investments in accordance with its business objective and investment strategies (see “Business of the 
Company – Business Objective” and “Business of the Company – Investment Selection”). The Company anticipates that 
approximately 90% of the net proceeds of the Offering (together with the proceeds from the Management Investment) will be 
invested within 3 years from the Closing Date. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company will invest at least 75% of the net 
proceeds of the Offering and the Management Investment in private equity, debt and/or other securities of growth to late stage 
private operating businesses located primarily in, or with customers, suppliers or business primarily conducted in or dependent 
on, Canada and/or the United States on or before the third anniversary of the Closing Date, except where the Board determines, 
acting reasonably and in good faith, that satisfying such time commitment would result in a breach of the Board’s fiduciary 
duties under applicable corporate law. Pending such investments, the Company will invest at least 90% of the net proceeds of 
the Offering (together with the proceeds from the Management Investment) exclusively in Permitted Low-Risk Investments, and 
the remainder will be used for general corporate and working capital purposes. 

CALCULATION OF TOTAL ASSETS AND BOOK VALUE 

The total assets of the Company on a particular date will be equal to the aggregate fair value of the assets of the Company on 
such date, without deduction of liabilities, expressed in Canadian dollars (the “Total Assets”). The book value of the Company 
on a particular date will be equal to the aggregate fair value of the assets of the Company on such date, less the aggregate 
carrying value of the liabilities, excluding any deferred taxes, if applicable, of the Company, expressed in Canadian dollars (the 
“Book Value”). If the Company has any consolidated subsidiary entities, should the Company ever do so, the assets and 
liabilities of its consolidated subsidiaries (net of any minority interest) will be included for the purposes of calculating the Book 
Value. 

The fair value of the assets of the Company will be determined by the Company in accordance with the procedures described 
below, subject to the Board’s discretion, and always in accordance with IFRS 13 – Fair Value Measurement. Assets will be 
valued at market prices provided by independent pricing sources, except to the extent that the market prices are not readily 
available or do not reflect the fair value of such assets. If market prices are not readily available or if it is determined, following 
procedures approved by the Board, that market prices do not reflect the fair value of such assets, the Company will value such 
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assets in accordance with policies and procedures approved by the Board. Assets that may be valued using fair value pricing 
include, but are not limited to: (i) an unlisted security; (ii) a restricted security; (iii) a security whose trading has been suspended 
or which has been de-listed from its primary trading exchange; (iv) a security that is thinly traded; (v) a security whose issuer 
is in default or bankruptcy proceedings for which there is no current market quotation; (vi) a security affected by extreme 
market conditions; (vii) a security affected by currency controls or restrictions; and (viii) a security affected by a significant 
event (e.g., an event that occurs after the close of the markets on which the security is traded). Foreign currency-denominated 
investments will be valued using foreign currency exchange rates provided by independent sources. 

The Company intends to be categorized as an investment entity under IFRS 10 and will report the Company’s investments in 
its financial statements on that basis. The determination as to whether an entity can be categorized as an investment entity under 
IFRS 10 is based primarily on the definition of an “investment entity” as set out in paragraph 27 of IFRS 10, which provides 
that an investment entity is an entity that: (a) obtains funds from one or more investors for the purpose of providing those 
investors with investment management services; (b) commits to its investors that its business purpose is to invest funds solely 
for returns from capital appreciation, investment income, or both; and (c) measures and evaluates the performance of 
substantially all of its investments on a fair value basis. An entity is required to consider all facts and circumstances when 
assessing whether it is an investment entity, including its purpose and design. IFRS 10 provides that an investment entity should 
have the following typical characteristics: 

• it has more than one investment; 

• it has more than one investor; 

• it has investors that are not related parties of the entity; and 

• it has ownership interests in the form of equity or similar interests. 

The Company will meet all of the above characteristics to satisfy the definition of an investment entity, and therefore will 
qualify as an investment entity under IFRS 10. As such, all investments including those that the Company has or may have 
control or significant influence over will be valued at fair value in accordance with the valuation policies described above. 

Internal Controls Over Financial Reporting 

The Company anticipates that its internal controls over financial reporting will focus primarily on controls that ensure existence 
and valuation of such investments. The Company will employ or retain qualified personnel familiar with valuation techniques 
and IFRS accounting principles and have significant experience in evaluating, monitoring and valuing investments. 

DIVIDEND POLICY 

The Company has not declared or paid any dividends since its incorporation and does not currently anticipate paying any 
dividends on its Common Shares in the foreseeable future. The Company currently intends to use its future earnings and other 
cash resources for the operation and development of its business, but may declare and pay dividends in the future as the Board 
may determine. Any future determination to pay dividends on the Common Shares will be at the sole discretion of the Board 
and will depend on, among other things, the Company’s earnings, investment opportunities, financial requirements for the 
Company’s operations, the satisfaction of solvency tests imposed by applicable laws and regulations, corporate law 
requirements and other factors that the Board may deem relevant. 

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

General 

The Company is offering 8,335,000 Units at a purchase price of $12.00 per Unit. Each Unit consists of one Common Share 
and one-half of an IPO Warrant. The Units issued pursuant to the Offering will separate into Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
immediately after Closing. 

The following briefly summarizes certain provisions of the Company’s articles of incorporation, by-laws and the IPO Warrants, 
including a description of the Company’s share capital, the advance notice provisions in the Company’s by-laws and the 
Warrant Indenture. The following descriptions may not be complete and are subject to, and qualified in their entirety by 
reference to, the terms and provisions of the Company’s articles of incorporation and by-laws and the Warrant Indenture, 
respectively, which will be filed by the Company on SEDAR under the Company’s profile at www.sedar.com following 
Closing. 
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Authorized Share Capital 

The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of Common Shares. 

Common Shares 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive notice of, and to attend, all annual and special meetings of the 
shareholders of the Company and to one vote in respect of each Common Share held at all such meetings. 

The holders of Common Shares are entitled to receive dividends if, as and when declared by the Board out of the assets of the 
Company properly applicable to the payment of dividends in such amounts and payable in such manner as the Board may from 
time to time determine. Subject to the rights of the holders of any other class of shares of the Company entitled to receive 
dividends in priority to or concurrently with the holders of the Common Shares, the Board may, in its sole discretion, declare 
dividends on the Common Shares to the exclusion of any other class of shares of the Company. 

In the event of the liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company or other distribution of assets of the Company among 
its shareholders for the purpose of winding up its affairs, the holders of Common Shares will, subject to the rights of the holders 
of any other class of shares of the Company entitled to receive assets of the Company upon such a distribution in priority to or 
concurrently with the holders of Common Shares, be entitled to participate in the distribution. Such distribution will be made 
in equal amounts per share on all the Common Shares at the time outstanding without preference or distinction. 

Nomination of Directors 

The Company has included certain advance notice provisions in its by-laws (the “Advance Notice Provisions”). The Advance 
Notice Provisions are intended to: (i) facilitate orderly and efficient annual general or, where the need arises, special meetings; 
(ii) ensure that all shareholders receive adequate notice of Board nominations and sufficient information with respect to all 
nominees; and (iii) allow shareholders to register an informed vote. Once in effect, only persons who are nominated by 
shareholders in accordance with the Advance Notice Provisions will be eligible for election as directors of the Company. 
Nominations of persons for election to the Board may be made for any annual meeting of shareholders, or for any special 
meeting of shareholders if one of the purposes for which the special meeting was called was the election of directors of the 
Company: (a) by or at the direction of the Board, including pursuant to a notice of meeting; (b) by or at the direction or request 
of one or more shareholders pursuant to a requisition of the shareholders made in accordance with applicable law; or (c) by any 
person (a “Nominating Shareholder”): (A) who, at the close of business on the date of the giving of the notice provided for 
below and on the record date for notice of such meeting, is entered in the Company’s register as a holder of one or more shares 
carrying the right to vote at such meeting or who beneficially owns shares that are entitled to be voted at such meeting; and (B) 
who complies with the notice procedures set forth in the Advance Notice Provisions. 

In addition to any other applicable requirements, for a nomination to be made by a Nominating Shareholder, the Nominating 
Shareholder must have given timely notice thereof in proper written form to the Board. To be timely, a Nominating 
Shareholder’s notice to the Board must be made: (a) in the case of an annual meeting of shareholders, not less than 30 nor more 
than 65 days prior to the date of the annual meeting of shareholders; provided, however, that in the event that the annual meeting 
of shareholders is to be held on a date that is less than 50 days after the date (the “Notice Date”) that is the earlier of the date 
that a notice of meeting is filed for such meeting or the date on which the first public announcement of the date of the annual 
meeting was made, notice by the Nominating Shareholder may be made not later than the close of business on the tenth day 
following the Notice Date; and (b) in the case of a special meeting (which is not also an annual meeting) of shareholders called 
for the purpose of electing directors of the Company (whether or not called for other purposes), not later than the close of 
business on the 15th day following the day that is the earlier of the date that a notice of meeting is filed for such meeting or the 
date on which the first public announcement of the date of the special meeting of shareholders was made. In no event shall any 
adjournment or postponement of a meeting of shareholders, or an announcement thereof, re-start the initially required time 
periods for the giving of a Nominating Shareholder’s notice as described above. For greater certainty, this means that a 
Nominating Shareholder who failed to deliver a timely Nominating Shareholder’s notice in proper written form to the Board 
for purposes of the originally scheduled shareholders’ meeting shall not be entitled to provide a Nominating Shareholder’s 
notice for purposes of any adjourned or postponed meeting of shareholders related thereto as the determination as to whether a 
Nominating Shareholder’s notice is timely is to be determined based off of the original shareholders’ meeting date and not any 
adjourned or postponed shareholders’ meeting date. 

To be in proper written form, a Nominating Shareholder’s notice to the Board must set forth: (a) as to each person whom the 
Nominating Shareholder proposes to nominate for election as a director of the Company: (A) the name, age, business address 
and residential address of the person; (B) the principal occupation or employment of the person for the past five years; (C) the 
status of such person as a “resident Canadian” (as such term is defined in the CBCA); (D) the class or series and number of 
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shares which are controlled or which are owned beneficially or of record by the person as of the record date for the meeting of 
shareholders (if such date shall then have been made publicly available and shall have occurred) and as of the date of such 
notice; (E) full particulars regarding any contract, agreement, arrangement, understanding or relationship, including without 
limitation, financial, compensation and indemnity related arrangements between the proposed nominee or any associate or 
affiliate of the proposed nominee and any Nominating Shareholder or any of its representatives; and (F) any other information 
relating to the person that would be required to be disclosed in a dissident’s proxy circular in connection with solicitations of 
proxies for election of directors of the Company pursuant to applicable securities laws; and (b) as to the Nominating Shareholder 
giving the notice, among other things, any proxy, contract, arrangement, understanding or relationship pursuant to which such 
Nominating Shareholder has a right to vote any shares and any other information relating to such Nominating Shareholder that 
would be required to be made in a dissident’s proxy circular in connection with solicitations of proxies for election of directors 
of the Company pursuant to applicable securities laws. The Company may require any proposed nominee to furnish such other 
information as may reasonably be required by the Company to determine the eligibility of such proposed nominee to serve as 
an independent director or that could be material to a reasonable shareholder’s understanding of the independence, or lack 
thereof, of such proposed director nominee. 

The chair of the meeting shall have the power and duty to determine whether a nomination was made in accordance with the 
procedures set forth in the foregoing provisions and, if any proposed nomination is not in compliance with such foregoing 
provisions, the discretion to declare that such defective nomination shall be disregarded. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Board may, in its sole discretion, waive any requirement in the Advance Notice Provisions. 

IPO Warrants 

Each IPO Warrant will entitle the holder to acquire, subject to adjustment in certain circumstances, one Common Share at an 
exercise price per share of $15.00, at any time prior to 4:00 p.m. (Toronto, Ontario time) on the date that is three years following 
the Closing Date (the “Expiry Time”) in accordance with the terms of a Warrant Indenture and as more fully described below. 
Following the Expiry Time, the IPO Warrants will expire and become null and void. The IPO Warrants will be exercisable, at 
the option of each holder, in whole or in part, by payment in full in cash for the number of Common Shares purchased upon 
such exercise. 

The IPO Warrants will be governed by the terms and conditions as set forth in a warrant indenture (the “Warrant Indenture”) 
to be entered into between the Company and Computershare Trust Company of Canada (the “Warrant Agent”). The Warrant 
Agent will serve as agent for the holder of IPO Warrants in its Toronto, Ontario office, where the IPO Warrants can be 
surrendered for exercise or exchange. The IPO Warrants comprising the Units will be issued and deposited in electronic form 
with CDS or its nominee pursuant to the book-based system administered by CDS. Certificates evidencing the Common Shares 
and the IPO Warrants comprising the Units will not be issued to purchasers. See “Plan of Distribution – Non-Certificated 
Inventory System”. 

The Warrant Indenture will provide for adjustment in the number of Common Shares issuable upon the exercise of the IPO 
Warrants and/or exercise price of the IPO Warrant upon the occurrence of certain events, including: 

(a) the issuance of Common Shares or securities exchangeable for or convertible into, Common Shares to all or 
substantially all of the holders of Common Shares by way of a stock dividend or other distribution (other than a 
distribution of Common Shares upon the exercise of the IPO Warrants); 

(b) the subdivision, re-division or change to the outstanding Common Shares into a greater number of shares; 

(c) the reduction, combination or consolidation of the outstanding Common Shares into a lesser number of shares; 

(d) the issuance to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of rights, options or warrants under which 
such holders are entitled, during a period expiring not more than 90 days after the record date for such issuance, to 
subscribe for or purchase Common Shares, or securities exchangeable for or convertible into Common Shares, at a 
price per share to the holder (or at an exchange or conversion price per share) of less than 95% of the “Current Market 
Price”, as defined in the Warrant Indenture, for the Common Shares on such record date; and 

(e) the issuance or distribution to all or substantially all of the holders of Common Shares of securities of any class (other 
than Common Shares), rights, options or warrants to subscribe for or purchase Common Shares or securities 
exchangeable or convertible into Common Shares, other than pursuant to a “Rights Offering”, as defined in the 
Warrant Indenture, or evidences of indebtedness or any property or other assets. 
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The Warrant Indenture will also provide for adjustment in the class and/or number of securities issuable upon the exercise of 
the IPO Warrants and/or exercise price per security in the event of the following additional events: 

(i) reclassifications of the Common Shares or a capital reorganization of the Company (other than as described in clauses 
(a) to (c) above); 

(ii) consolidations, amalgamations, plans of arrangement or mergers of the Company with or into another body corporate, 
trust, partnership or other entity; or 

(iii) the sale or conveyance (other than to a subsidiary of the Company) of the property and assets of the Company as an 
entirety or substantially as an entirety to another body corporate, trust, partnership or other entity. 

No adjustment in the exercise price will be required to be made unless such adjustment would change the exercise price by at 
least 1%. 

No fractional Common Shares will be issuable upon the exercise of any IPO Warrants, and no cash or other consideration will 
be paid in lieu of fractional Common Shares. Holders of IPO Warrants will not have any voting rights or any other rights which 
a holder of Common Shares would have. 

The IPO Warrants and the Common Shares issued upon exercise thereof have not been and will not be registered under the 
U.S. Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws, and the IPO Warrants will not be exercisable by or on behalf of a 
person in the United States or a U.S. Person, nor will certificates representing the Common Shares issued upon exercise of the 
IPO Warrants be registered or delivered to an address in the United States, unless an exemption from registration under the 
U.S. Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws is available and the Company has received an opinion of counsel 
of recognized standing or other evidence to such effect in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 

The Warrant Indenture will provide that, from time to time, the Company and the Warrant Agent, without the consent of the 
holders of IPO Warrants, may amend or supplement the Warrant Indenture for certain purposes, including curing defects or 
inconsistencies or making any change that does not adversely affect the rights of any holder of IPO Warrants. Any amendment 
or supplement to the Warrant Indenture that adversely affects the interests of the holders of the IPO Warrants may only be 
made by “special resolution”, defined in the Warrant Indenture as a resolution either: (1) passed at a meeting of the holders of 
IPO Warrants at which there are holders of IPO Warrants present in person or represented by proxy representing at least 25% 
of the aggregate number of Common Shares that could be acquired pursuant to all the then outstanding IPO Warrants and 
passed by the affirmative vote of holders of IPO Warrants representing not less than 66⅔% of the aggregate number of Common 
Shares that could be acquired pursuant to all the then outstanding IPO Warrants represented at the meeting and voted on the 
poll upon such resolution; or (2) adopted by an instrument in writing signed by the holders of IPO Warrants representing not 
less than 66⅔% of the aggregate number of all the then outstanding IPO Warrants. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

The following table sets forth the consolidated capitalization of the Company as at April 1, 2021, both before and after giving 
effect to the Offering and the Management Investment, but without giving effect to the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option: 

Designation 

As at April 1, 2021 before 
giving effect to the Offering 

and Management Investment(1)

As at April 1, 2021 after 
giving effect to the Offering 

and Management 
Investment(2)

Indebtedness .......................................................    $ – $ – 

Shareholders’ equity 
  Common Shares ................................................    $10 $94,004,314 
  IPO Warrants ....................................................    $ – $6,714,594 
Total shareholders’ equity ...............................    $10 $100,718,908 

Total capitalization ...........................................  $10 $100,718,908 

Notes: 

(1) The Company was initially incorporated on April 1, 2021 with the subscription by the Manager of one Common Share for $10.00 in 
cash. Immediately following Closing, the Common Share issued to the Manager on incorporation will be donated to the Company and 
cancelled. See “Prior Sales”. 

(2) After deducting the Agent’s fee and the expenses for the Offering. Excludes any Common Shares and IPO Warrants which may be 
issued on exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. See “Use of Proceeds” and “Plan of Distribution”. 
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The Company will not undertake a significant debt financing (except ordinary course short-term trade or accounts payable) 
unless such a financing is done after the Company has deployed more than 50% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the 
Management Investment. Following such time, the Company may borrow up to an amount not exceeding 20% of the Total 
Assets, measured at the time of borrowing. See “Risk Factors – Use of Leverage”. 

OPTIONS TO PURCHASE SECURITIES 

Except pursuant to any purchases of Units under the Offering and the Management Investment or the Agents with respect to 
the Over-Allotment Option, none of the current or former directors, executive officers, employees or consultants of the 
Company or any other person or company holds or will hold upon completion of the Offering any options, warrants or similar 
securities to purchase securities of the Company. As noted under “Management Investment”, the Management Investors (being 
the Chief Executive Officer, Chief Investment Officer, Chief Financial Officer and VP Corporate Development and Investor 
Relations and Corporate Secretary of each of the Company and the Manager) have collectively committed to directly or 
indirectly purchase an aggregate of 583,334 Units concurrent with closing of the Offering pursuant to the Management 
Investment and, as such, will hold an aggregate of 291,667 IPO Warrants, as a group, upon completion of the Offering. 

PRIOR SALES 

During the 12-month period before the date of this prospectus, the Company issued one Common Share to the Manager on 
April 1, 2021 for a price of $10.00 in connection with the incorporation of the Company. Immediately following Closing, the 
Common Share issued to the Manager on incorporation will be donated to the Company and cancelled. 

There is currently no public market for the Common Shares and IPO Warrants. The TSX has conditionally approved the listing 
of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) on 
the TSX under the symbols “STCK” and “STCK.WT”, respectively, via the TSX Sandbox, an initiative intended to facilitate 
listing applications that may not satisfy all requirements and guidelines of the TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a 
particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX. As the Company does not meet the original listing requirements of the 
TSX set out in Section 309(a) of the TSX Company Manual, the TSX has exercised its discretion to waive the requirements 
for historical earnings and pre-tax cash flow, and has agreed to list the Company pursuant to the TSX Sandbox. Listing on the 
TSX is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements of the TSX by August 17, 2021, including, among other 
things, raising minimum gross proceeds of $100 million under the Offering and the distribution of a minimum number of freely 
tradable Common Shares and IPO Warrants having a minimum aggregate market value and held by a minimum number of 
public holders. It is a condition of Closing that the Common Shares and IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering (including 
the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) are conditionally approved for listing on the TSX. See 
“Risk Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering – Absence of a Prior Public Market” and “Plan of Distribution – Listing 
Application”. 

ESCROWED SECURITIES AND SECURITIES SUBJECT 
TO CONTRACTUAL RESTRICTION ON TRANSFER 

In accordance with National Instrument 45-102 – Resale of Securities, the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the 
Units acquired by the Management Investors in connection with the Management Investment will be subject to a four-month 
hold from the Closing Date. 

Further, as part of the terms of the Management Investment, each Management Investor will covenant and agree with the 
Company to voluntarily lock-up and retain all of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants held upon the completion of the 
Offering and the Management Investment until the fifth anniversary of the Closing Date, provided that at any time or from time 
to time, a Management Investor: (i) may exercise such IPO Warrants, but continue to retain all Common Shares received upon 
each such exercise for the balance of the period; (ii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants to a 
Permitted Holder that provides a similar covenant and agreement; (iii) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO 
Warrants in a transaction where the proposed acquirer agrees to acquire a pro rata share of the equity investment of all other 
equity investors of the Company; and (iv) may transfer any of such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants and any Common 
Shares received upon exercise of such IPO Warrants for the purpose of paying the exercise price payable in connection with 
the exercise of such IPO Warrants or for paying taxes due as a result of any such transfer. 

None of the securities of the Company are held in escrow or are subject to a pooling arrangement. The following table sets 
forth the number of Common Shares that are subject to a contractual restriction on transfer as of the date of this prospectus and 
the percentage that number represents of the outstanding Common Shares immediately following completion of the Offering 
and the Management Investment: 



37 

Designation of class

Number of Common Shares 
subject to a contractual or 

voluntary restriction on 
transfer 

Percentage of class 
(following completion of the 
Offering and Management 

Investment)(1)

Common Shares 583,334 (2) 6.54% 

Notes: 

(1) Assumes that the Over-Allotment Option has not been exercised. 
(2) Such Common Shares are held by the Management Investors, having been acquired pursuant to the Management Investment wherein 

the Management Investors will voluntarily covenant and agree with the Company to generally retain all Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants held by them upon the completion of the Offering and the Management Investment. 

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

The following table shows, as at the date of this prospectus, the persons or entities who own, or control or direct, directly or 
indirectly, the Company’s voting securities carrying 10% or more of the voting rights attached to any class of the Company’s 
voting securities.  

Name 

Number and Class of 
Shares Owned, 

Controlled or Directed  
Type of 

Ownership  

Percentage of Shares 
Owned in Respect of 

Particular Class 
SC Partners Ltd. ..................................   1 Common Share  Beneficially 

and of record(1)
100% 

Note: 

(1) SC Partners Ltd., the Manager, was issued one Common Share in connection with the incorporation of the Company. Immediately 
following Closing, the Common Share issued to the Manager on incorporation will be donated to the Company and cancelled. See “Prior 
Sales”. 

DIRECTORS AND MANAGEMENT OF THE COMPANY 

Directors and Executive Officers 

The Company’s articles of incorporation provide that the Company may have a minimum of one and a maximum of ten
directors. Stack Capital’s directors are responsible for supervising the management of the business and affairs of the Company. 
The number of directors is currently set at four, the majority of whom are independent under Canadian securities laws. The 
Company’s articles of incorporation further provide that the Board is empowered to determine and fix from time to time, by 
ordinary resolution, the number of directors of the Company within the minimum and maximum numbers provided for in the 
Company’s articles of incorporation. 

The directors will be elected by shareholders at each annual meeting of the Company’s shareholders, and all directors will hold 
office for a term expiring at the close of the next annual meeting or until their respective successors are elected or appointed 
and will be eligible for re-election or re-appointment. The nominees for election by shareholders as directors will be determined 
by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee in accordance with the provisions of applicable corporate law 
and the charter of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee. 

The following table sets forth information regarding the directors and executive officers of the Company.

Name, Province or State and
Country of Residence Position/Title  Independent  Principal Occupation 

John K. Bell(2)(3) ........................  
Ontario, Canada 

Director and 
Chairman 

Yes  Chairman of Onbelay Capital Inc., 
and past Chair of Canopy Rivers 
Inc. 

Jeffrey Parks(1)(4) .......................  
Ontario, Canada 

 Director and Chief 
Executive Officer 

No  Chief Executive Officer of the 
Company and the Manager, and 
Managing Director of the Manager 
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Name, Province or State and
Country of Residence Position/Title  Independent  Principal Occupation 
Laurie Goldberg(2)(3) ..................  
Manitoba, Canada 

Director Yes  Executive Chairman and Chief 
Executive Officer of People 
Corporation Inc. 

Gerri Sinclair(2)(3) ......................  
British Columbia, Canada 

Director Yes  British Columbia’s Innovation 
Commissioner, Corporate Director 
and Strategic Consultant 

Jason Meiers(4) ..........................  
Ontario, Canada 

Chief Investment 
Officer 

N/A  Chief Investment Officer of the 
Company and the Manager, and 
Managing Director of the Manager 

Jimmy Vaiopoulos(4)(5) ..............  
Ontario, Canada 

Chief Financial 
Officer 

N/A  Chief Financial Officer of the 
Company and the Manager, and 
Managing Director of the Manager 

Brian Viveiros(4) ........................  
Ontario, Canada 

VP Corporate 
Development and 
Investor Relations 

and Corporate 
Secretary 

N/A  VP Corporate Development and 
Investor Relations and Corporate 
Secretary of the Company and the 
Manager, and Managing Director 
of the Manager 

Notes: 

(1) Mr. Parks is considered a non-independent director as he is the Chief Executive Officer of the Company and Managing Director of the 
Manager. 

(2) Member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Bell is Chair of the Audit Committee. 
(3) Member of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee. Ms. Sinclair is Chair of the Governance, Compensation and 

Nominating Committee. 
(4) Owner, indirectly, of common shares of the Manager: Jeffrey Parks (400 common shares or 40%), Jason Meiers (300 common shares 

or 30%), Jimmy Vaiopoulos (200 common shares or 20%) and Brian Viveiros (101 common shares or 10%). See “The Manager – 
Owners, Officers and Directors of the Manager”. 

(5) Demetrios Vaiopoulos is the given name of Jimmy Vaiopoulos. 

Immediately after Closing, the directors and executive officers of the Company, as a group, will beneficially own, or control 
or direct, directly or indirectly, 630,568 Common Shares and 315,284 IPO Warrants. See “Management Investment”. 

The mandate of the Board, substantially in the form set out under Appendix A to this prospectus, is to provide governance and 
stewardship to the Company and its business. In fulfilling its mandate, the Board has adopted a written charter setting out its 
responsibility for, among other things, (i) participating in the development of and approving a strategic plan for the Company; 
(ii) supervising the activities and managing the investments and affairs of the Company; (iii) approving major decisions 
regarding the Company; (iv) defining the roles and responsibilities of management and delegating management authority to 
the Chief Executive Officer; (v) reviewing and approving the business and investment objective to be met by management; (vi) 
assessing the performance of and overseeing management; (vii) reviewing the Company’s debt strategy; (viii) identifying and 
managing risk exposure; (ix) ensuring the integrity and adequacy of the Company’s internal controls and management 
information systems; (x) succession planning; (xi) establishing committees of the Board, where required or prudent, and 
defining their mandate; (xii) maintaining records and providing reports to shareholders; (xiii) ensuring effective and adequate 
communication with shareholders, other stakeholders and the public; (xiv) determining the amount and timing of dividends, if 
any, to shareholders; and (xv) monitoring the social responsibility, integrity and ethics of the Company. 

The Board has adopted a written position description for the Chair of the Board, which sets out the Chair’s key responsibilities, 
including, as applicable, duties relating to setting Board meeting agendas, chairing Board and shareholder meetings, director 
development and communicating with shareholders and regulators. The Board has also adopted a written position description 
for each of the committee chairs which sets out each of the committee chair’s key responsibilities, including duties relating to 
setting committee meeting agendas, chairing committee meetings and working with the respective committee and management 
to ensure, to the greatest extent possible, the effective functioning of the committee. 

The Board has also adopted a written position description for the Chief Executive Officer which sets out the key responsibilities 
of the Chief Executive Officer. The primary functions of the Chief Executive Officer will be to lead management of the business 
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and affairs of the Company, to lead the implementation of the resolutions and the policies of the Board, to supervise day-to-
day management and to communicate with shareholders and regulators. The Board has also developed a mandate for the Chief 
Executive Officer setting out key responsibilities, including duties relating to the Company’s strategic planning and operational 
direction, Board interaction, succession planning and communication with shareholders. The Chief Executive Officer mandate 
will be considered by the Board for approval annually. 

The Company has also adopted a written code of conduct (the “Code of Conduct”) that applies to all directors, officers, and 
management of the Company and its subsidiaries. The objective of the Code of Conduct is to provide guidelines for maintaining 
the integrity, reputation, honesty, objectivity and impartiality of the Company and its subsidiaries. The Code of Conduct 
addresses conflicts of interest, protection of the Company’s assets, confidentiality, fair dealing with securityholders, 
competitors and employees, insider trading, compliance with laws and reporting any illegal or unethical behaviour. As part of 
the Code of Conduct, any person subject to the Code of Conduct is required to avoid or fully disclose interests or relationships 
that are harmful or detrimental to the Company’s best interests or that may give rise to real, potential or the appearance of 
conflicts of interest. The Board will have the ultimate responsibility for the stewardship of the Code of Conduct. The Code of 
Conduct will also be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities on SEDAR. 

Other than directors of the Company appointed prior to Closing, which directors will hold office for a term expiring at the close 
of the next annual meeting of shareholders or until a successor is appointed, directors of the Company will be elected at each 
annual meeting of shareholders to hold office for a term expiring at the close of the next annual meeting, or until a successor is 
duly elected or appointed, and will be eligible for re-election. Nominees will be nominated by the Governance, Compensation 
and Nominating Committee, in each case for election by shareholders as directors in accordance with applicable corporate law 
and will be included in the proxy-related materials to be sent to shareholders prior to each annual meeting of shareholders. 

The Company has not imposed term limits on its directors, as it takes the view that term limits are an arbitrary mechanism for 
removing directors which can result in valuable, experienced directors being forced to leave the Board solely because of length 
of service. Instead, the Company believes that directors should be assessed based on their ability to continue to make a 
meaningful contribution. The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will complete an annual performance 
review of directors to assess the strengths and weaknesses of the directors and, in the Company’s view, together with annual 
elections by shareholders, the foregoing is a more meaningful way to evaluate the performance of directors and to make 
determinations about whether a director should be removed due to under-performance. 

The Board intends to hold regularly scheduled meetings at least once every fiscal quarter. Independent directors do not hold 
regularly scheduled meetings at which non-independent directors and members of management are not in attendance. The 
Chairman of the Board is independent and is responsible, among other things, for ensuring that the Board acts and functions 
independently from management in fulfilling its duties. 

The directors and executive officers of the Company have the credibility and expertise necessary to complete the Offering and 
the Management Investment and to ensure that appropriate investments on behalf of the Company are sourced and identified 
in accordance with the Company’s business objective and investment strategies. 

Biographical Information Regarding the Directors and Executive Officers of the Company 

The following are brief biographies of Stack Capital’s directors and executive officers. 

John K. Bell – Independent Director; Chairman: Mr. Bell, FCPA, FCA, ICD.D, is the independent Chairman of the Board. 
Mr. Bell is Chairman of Onbelay Capital Inc., a private equity company. He is past Chair and founding Director of Canopy 
Rivers Corporation and past Chair and first independent Director of Canopy Growth Corporation (TSX and Nasdaq). He was 
the founder of ShredTech and grew it into a global giant in the mobile document shredding and recycling industry. After selling 
ShredTech in 1995, he purchased Polymer Technologies Inc. and grew it from a local plastics manufacturer to a global auto 
parts company before exiting in 2007. Mr. Bell also served as interim CEO and director of ATS Automation Tooling Systems 
Inc. (TSX), a global Automation Company with 4,500 employees and $1.4 billion sales during its time of management and 
board renewal in 2007. Mr. Bell was the lead investor and Chairman of BSM Technologies Inc. First investing in 2006, he led 
board and management renewal leading to substantial and profitable growth before successfully exiting in 2014. Mr. Bell has 
been a board member of a number of public, private, crown and not-for-profit companies, including the Royal Canadian Mint, 
The Healthcare of Ontario Pension Plan and Strongco Corporation. He is currently a Governor of The Stratford Festival. 

Jeffrey Parks – Director and Chief Executive Officer: Mr. Parks is a director and Chief Executive Officer of the Company and 
brings over a decade of investment industry and portfolio management experience to the business. Over the past decade, he has 
successfully co-managed a North American long/short equity strategy, along with a North American yield mandate at Venator 
Capital Management Ltd. Mr. Parks has invested across capital structures, including high yield credit, convertible notes, 
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preferred debt and equities. Mr. Parks has specialized in identifying compelling public and private investment opportunities, 
through extensive and diligent research. His experience has led him to uncover multiple investments that have added significant 
alpha to his portfolios while at Venator Capital. Mr. Parks is able to identify opportunities in their infancy and has actively 
worked with management teams to progress and grow their business operations. His experience with stock selection and 
unearthing information will be a strategic asset for the Company. Mr. Parks is a graduate of the Richard Ivey School of Business 
and is a CFA charterholder. 

Laurie Goldberg – Independent Director: As Executive Chairman and CEO of People Corporation, Mr. Goldberg is responsible 
for providing leadership and overall strategic direction to the Company and its subsidiaries. Under his guidance and leadership, 
the organization began its transformation from a regional firm to one with a national presence and was recently acquired for 
$1.2 billion by the Goldman Sachs Merchant Banking Division. Today, People Corporation is one of the fastest growing firms 
in the group benefits, group retirement and HR industry in Canada. Mr. Goldberg was recognized as the EY Entrepreneur of 
the Year 2014 Prairies Division in the Professional and Financial Services category. Mr. Goldberg’s experience includes the 
position of Chief Operating Officer and Office of the President of Assante Corporation, formerly a TSX listed company. During 
his tenure with Assante, he led the organization to become one of the largest non-bank owned financial institutions in Canada, 
with over 2,500 employees and advisors, managing approximately $22 billion in client assets. Assante’s portfolio also included 
a leading sports and entertainment services organization in the United States. In 2003, the Canadian operations of Assante were 
sold for approximately $900 million. Prior to joining Assante, Mr. Goldberg was a Managing Partner with Arthur Andersen 
(now Deloitte). Mr. Goldberg graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce (Honours) degree from the University of Manitoba and 
is a Chartered Accountant. 

Gerri Sinclair – Independent Director: Ms. Sinclair’s career includes more than 25 years’ experience spanning the fields of 
Internet, mobile and digital media technologies, entrepreneurial business, and government policy. She was appointed British 
Columbia’s Innovation Commissioner in 2020 where she is responsible for supporting the implementation of innovation and 
technology-related priorities and initiatives in the province. Ms. Sinclair is a former Managing Director at Kensington Capital 
Partners, a $1.7 billion fund that focuses on private equity and venture capital, where she was the lead manager of its $100 
million BC Tech Fund. She was the founder and CEO of NCompass Labs, the Internet digital content management company 
acquired by Microsoft in 2001. She then joined the Microsoft Senior Executive team as Country Manager for Canada for MSN. 
A former IBM Consulting Scholar as well as a Visiting Scientist at IBM Research in New York, Ms. Sinclair was also the first 
President of the British Columbia Government Premier’s Technology Council, and the founding director of the ExCITE lab at 
Simon Fraser University, the first digital media technology R&D centre in Canada. From 2006-2010, Ms. Sinclair was the 
Founder and CEO of the Centre for Digital Media at Great Northern Way Campus where she developed and directed an 
innovative graduate school program awarding a Master’s Degree in digital entertainment, mobile/social media and video game 
design, and accredited by the four leading universities in Vancouver. She has served on several government and corporate 
boards, including Telus Corporation, TMX Group Limited, Canadian Pension Plan Investment Board (CPPIB), BC Telecom 
Inc., Vancouver Airport Authority (YVR), Ballard Power Inc., as well as Canada’s Information Highway Advisory Council 
and the National Broadband Taskforce. Ms. Sinclair holds a Ph.D. in Renaissance drama as well as an honorary Doctor of 
Science in Computing Science from the University of British Columbia. 

Jason Meiers – Chief Investment Officer: Mr. Meiers joins the Company following his long-term role as Managing Director at 
TD Securities. Mr. Meiers has over 20 years’ experience at TD Securities Inc. in managing strategies including preferred shares, 
warrants, options, convertible debentures, long short equities, equities and merger arbitrage. During his career at TD Securities 
Inc., Mr. Meiers worked closely with investment banking, equity capital markets and management teams in various capacities 
such as pricing new issues, secondary blocks and capital structure, including share buybacks and special issuer bids. The group, 
led by Mr. Meiers, developed close ties with management teams resulting in many mandates for the firm leading to multiple 
financing and normal course issuer bid mandates. Mr. Meiers also strategically focused on specific companies which led to 
significant market share and trading volumes for the firm. Mr. Meiers’ long history of successfully working with management 
teams and fellow investors will benefit the private market investments that is the focus of the Company. Mr. Meiers worked at 
TD Securities Inc. until the end of February 2021, when he began to focus on the Company. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree 
from Western University. 

Jimmy Vaiopoulos – Chief Financial Officer: Mr. Vaiopoulos joins the Company following his roles as the Interim Chief 
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of Hut 8 Mining Corp., a TSX listed blockchain infrastructure company which 
became one of the largest in the industry. Mr. Vaiopoulos led Hut 8 as the first company to enter and exit the TSX Sandbox 
and raised over $100 million in equity and debt and executed on a strategy to bring Hut 8 to an over $1 billion market 
capitalization. Prior to this, he was the Chief Financial Officer of UGE International Ltd., of a TSXV listed commercial solar 
solutions provider which operated globally. Mr. Vaiopoulos began his career with KPMG in both audit and advisory practices 
working with large private and public companies, crown corporations, and pension funds. During his experience with KPMG 
Advisory, he focused on due diligence for various mergers and acquisitions transactions, project finance, and research. He 
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holds a Bachelor of Engineering Science degree from Western University and an Honours Business Administration degree 
from the Richard Ivey School of Business and is an active Chartered Accountant and a Chartered Professional Accountant. 

Brian Viveiros – VP Corporate Development and Investor Relations and Corporate Secretary: Mr. Viveiros brings over 20 
years of capital markets experience to the Company, having been primarily focused on business development initiatives across 
Canada over that time. In addition, Mr. Viveiros has also been actively involved in the creation and strategic development of 
various investment products such as hedge funds, liquid alternative funds, offshore funds, closed-end funds, private equity 
limited partnerships and flow-through limited partnerships. He holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from the 
University of Western Ontario. 

Diversity 

The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will value diversity of experience, perspective, education, 
background, race, gender and national origin as part of its overall evaluation of director nominees for election or re-election, 
and the Board and will value same as part of its evaluation of candidates for management positions; however, the Board does 
not currently have a policy that specifically defines diversity or that provides for the identification or nomination of women 
directors. The Board will ensure that diversity considerations are taken into account in Board vacancies and senior management, 
continuously monitoring the level of female representation on the Board and in senior management positions, continuing to 
broaden recruiting efforts to attract and interview qualified female candidates, and committing to retention and training to 
ensure that the Company’s most talented employees are promoted from within the organization. The Company does not intend 
to adopt targets for gender or other diversity representation, in part due to the need to consider a balance of criteria for each 
individual appointment and because it is ultimately the competence, skills, experience, character and behavioral qualities that 
are most important to determining the value which an individual could bring to the Board or management. At Closing, one (or 
25%) of the directors and none of the executive officers of the Company will be female. 

Majority Voting Policy 

The Company has adopted a policy for non-contested meetings whereby shareholders vote separately for each director nominee 
and each director to be elected at a meeting of shareholders must be elected by a majority (50% + 1 vote) of the votes cast with 
respect to his or her election. Any director nominee must immediately tender his or her resignation to the Board if he or she is 
not elected by at least a majority (50% + 1 vote) of the votes cast with respect to his or her election even though duly elected 
as a matter of corporate law. Such director nominee’s resignation to the Board must be effective when accepted by the Board. 
The Board shall determine whether or not to accept a director nominee’s resignation tendered pursuant to the policy within 90 
days after the date of the relevant shareholders’ meeting. The Board shall accept the resignation absent exceptional 
circumstances. The Company will promptly issue a press release announcing the resignation of the director or explaining the 
reasons justifying its decision not to accept such resignation. 

Advisory Board 

In addition to the Board, the Company will maintain an Advisory Board to advise and assist management and the Board with 
identifying, evaluating and actively participating in the Company’s investments. The Board may appoint and remove members 
of the Advisory Board at any time. The Advisory Board’s role will be advisory and the ultimate responsibility for the 
management of the Company’s business and affairs will rest with the Board and management. The Company has no obligation 
to adopt, or otherwise be bound to act upon, any recommendation of the Advisory Board, but will have the ability to take the 
Advisory Board’s recommendations under advisement. Any compensation for the members of the Advisory Board will be 
determined by the Board on a case-by-case method. As at the date of this prospectus, there are three members of the Advisory 
Board: Bill Tai, Owais Qureshi and Brian Beattie. The following are brief biographies of the members of the Advisory Board. 

Bill Tai – Advisory Board Member: Mr. Tai has over 30 years of experience as a venture capitalist in Silicon Valley and has 
been involved in 22 initial public offerings. Mr. Tai was employee #A001 at Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Company 
Limited (TPE: 2330) and was among the first backers of Zoom Video Communications, Inc. (NASDAQ: ZM), Canva Pty Ltd., 
Dapper Labs Inc., TweetDeck (acquired by Twitter Inc. (NYSE: TWTR)), Color Health, Inc. and Wish.com (formerly known 
as ContextLogic Inc.; NASDAQ: WISH). Mr. Tai is the Founding Chairman of Treasure Data, Inc., which was successfully 
acquired by ARM Corp, Founding Chairman of IP Infusion Inc., Founding Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
iAsiaWorks, and a former director of eight publicly listed companies. Originally trained as a computer chip designer, Mr. Tai 
holds a BSEE Honors from the University of Illinois Urbana-Champaign, and an MBA from Harvard Business School. 

Owais Qureshi – Advisory Board Member: Mr. Qureshi is a Director and Senior Portfolio Manager for the Canada Post 
Corporation Pension Fund. Mr. Qureshi manages and trades a Canadian and U.S. enhanced equity index portfolio with 
combined assets under management of $3 billion. Mr. Qureshi is a CFA charter holder and holds a Master of Finance degree 
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from the Rotman School of Management. Prior to this, Mr. Qureshi worked as a Portfolio Manager for TD Asset Management, 
where he was responsible for the daily management of approximately $10 billion of discretionary structured investment 
portfolios spread over 19,000 high net worth accounts, which included all aspects of portfolio modeling and analysis, trading 
and risk management. Mr. Qureshi is an active member of the Toronto CFA Society. 

Brian Beattie – Advisory Board Member: Mr. Beattie is the Chief Financial Officer at Volaris Group. Mr. Beattie has over 20 
years of experience in finance and served as Chief Financial Officer for multiple organizations before joining Volaris Group 
in 2005. Besides overseeing the financial health of the company, he works closely with Volaris Group’s legal and M&A team 
on all new acquisitions. Mr. Beattie is an expert on every stage of the mergers and acquisitions process. He has an HBA in 
Economics and Finance from the University of Toronto and is a Chartered Professional Accountant and a Chartered 
Accountant. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, and no shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 
securities legislation or by a securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a securities 
regulatory authority or been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body that would likely 
be considered important to a reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

Individual Bankruptcies 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, and no shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially the control of the Company, has, within the 10 years prior to the date of this prospectus, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that 
individual. 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders and Bankruptcies 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, and no shareholder holding a sufficient number of securities to 
affect materially the control of the Company is, as at the date of this prospectus, or has been within the 10 years before the date 
of this prospectus: (a) a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer of any company that was subject to an order 
that was issued while the existing or proposed director or executive officer was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive 
officer or chief financial officer; or (b) was subject to an order that was issued after the existing or proposed director or executive 
officer ceased to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and which resulted from an event that occurred 
while that person was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer; or (c) a director or 
executive officer of any company that, while that person was acting in that capacity, or within a year of that person ceasing to 
act in that capacity, became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject 
to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets. For the purposes of this paragraph, “order” means a cease trade order, an order similar to a cease 
trade order or an order that denied the relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, in each case, that 
was in effect for a period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

Conflicts of Interest 

The Company is subject to various potential conflicts of interest because the Manager is controlled by insiders of the Company. 
See “The Manager – Owners, Officers and Directors of the Manager”. The Company has entered into the Non-Competition 
Arrangements with the Management Investors, which addresses certain conflicts of interest. See “The Manager – Non-
Competition Arrangements”. The Company will rely upon the Manager to manage the Company’s business and to provide 
managerial skill. The directors and officers of the Manager may have a conflict of interest in allocating their time between the 
respective businesses and interests of the Manager and the Company, and other businesses or projects in which they may 
become involved. See “The Manager – Allocation of Investment Opportunities” for details regarding the Company’s agreement 
with the Manager to govern the allocation of business opportunities between the parties in respect of certain investment 
opportunities and dispositions. 

Jeffrey Parks, a director and officer of the Company and the Manager, will be required to disclose the nature and extent of his 
interest in, and is not entitled to vote on, any resolution to approve, any material contract or transaction or any proposed material 
contract or transaction between the Company and the Manager or any of its affiliates or any other entity in which Mr. Parks 
has an interest (unless the contract or transaction relates to his remuneration or an indemnity on liability insurance). 
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Generally, the directors and officers of the Company are aware of the existence of laws, as well as the Company’s policies, 
governing accountability of directors and officers for corporate opportunity and requiring disclosure by directors of conflicts 
of interest, and the Company will rely upon such laws and policies in respect of any directors’ and officers’ conflict of interest 
or in respect of any breaches of duty by any of its directors or officers. All such conflicts will be disclosed by such directors or 
officers in accordance with applicable law and policies and they will govern themselves in respect thereof to the best of their 
ability in accordance with the obligation imposed upon them by law as well as the policies. 

Except as disclosed herein, to the best of the Company’s knowledge, there are no existing or potential material conflicts of 
interest between the Company and a director or officer of the Company. Certain directors and officers of the Company may 
serve as directors and officers of other entities, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to the 
Company and their duties as directors or officers of such other entities. 

None of the directors of the Company are required to commit their full time to the Company’s affairs and, accordingly, the 
directors may be susceptible to conflicts of interest in allocating their time among various business activities. The Company 
does not believe, however, that any fiduciary duties or contractual obligations of the directors would impair the Company’s 
ability to meet its business objective. In the event the Company seeks to complete a transaction with a company that is affiliated 
with any director or officer of the Company, in accordance with applicable laws, any negotiations would be undertaken on 
behalf of the Company by a committee of independent directors. 

Committees of the Board 

The Board has established two committees: the Audit Committee and the Governance, Compensation and Nominating 
Committee. All members of the Audit Committee will be persons determined by the Board to be independent directors, except 
for temporary periods in limited circumstances in accordance with NI 52-110. All of the members of the Governance, 
Compensation and Nominating Committee will be persons determined by the Board to be independent directors. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee consists of three directors, all of whom are persons determined by the Company to be both independent 
directors and financially literate within the meaning of NI 52-110. The Audit Committee is comprised of John K. Bell, who 
will act as Chair of this committee, Laurie Goldberg and Gerri Sinclair. Each of the Audit Committee members has an 
understanding of the accounting principles used to prepare financial statements and varied experience as to the general 
application of such accounting principles, as well as an understanding of the internal controls and procedures necessary for 
financial reporting. 

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee, in the form set out under Appendix B to this prospectus, 
which sets out the Audit Committee’s responsibilities. The Audit Committee’s responsibilities will include: (i) reviewing the 
Company’s procedures for internal control with the Company’s auditors and Chief Financial Officer; (ii) reviewing and 
approving the engagement of the auditors; (iii) reviewing annual and quarterly financial statements and all other material 
continuous disclosure documents, including the Company’s annual information form and management’s discussion and 
analysis; (iv) assessing the Company’s financial and accounting personnel; (v) assessing the Company’s accounting policies; 
(vi) reviewing the Company’s risk management procedures; (vii) reviewing any significant transactions outside the Company’s 
ordinary course of business and any legal matters that may significantly affect the Company’s financial statements; (viii) 
overseeing the work and confirming the independence of the external auditors; and (ix) reviewing, evaluating and approving 
the internal control procedures that are implemented and maintained by management. 

The Audit Committee will have direct communication channels with the Chief Financial Officer and the external auditors of 
the Company to discuss and review such issues as the Audit Committee may deem appropriate. 

Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee 

The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee is comprised of three directors, all of whom are persons 
determined by the Company to be independent directors, and will be charged with reviewing, overseeing and evaluating the 
corporate governance, compensation and nominating policies of the Company. The Governance, Compensation and 
Nominating Committee is comprised of Gerri Sinclair, who will act as Chair of this committee, John K. Bell and Laurie 
Goldberg. 

The Board has adopted a written charter for the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee setting out its 
responsibilities for: (i) assessing the effectiveness of the Board, each of its committees and individual directors; (ii) overseeing 
the recruitment and selection of candidates as directors; (iii) organizing an orientation and education program for new directors; 
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(iv) considering and approving proposals by the directors to engage outside advisors on behalf of the Board as a whole or on 
behalf of the independent directors; (v) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board concerning any change in the 
number of directors comprising the Board; (vi) considering questions of management succession; (vii) administering any 
purchase plan of the Company and any other compensation incentive programs; (viii) assessing the performance of management 
of the Company; (ix) reviewing and approving the compensation paid by the Company, if any, to the officers of the Company; 
and (x) reviewing and making recommendations to the Board concerning the level and nature of the compensation payable to 
directors and officers of the Company. 

Following Closing, it is expected that the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will put in place an 
orientation program for new directors under which a new director will meet with the Chair of the Board and members of the 
executive management team of the Company. It is anticipated that a new director will be provided with an orientation and 
education as to the nature and operation of the Company and its business, the role of the Board and its committees, and the 
contribution that an individual director is expected to make. The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will 
be responsible for coordinating development programs for continuing directors to enable the directors to maintain or enhance 
their skills and abilities as directors as well as ensuring that their knowledge and understanding of the Company and its business 
remains current. 

The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will be responsible, along with the Chairman of the Board, for 
establishing and implementing procedures to evaluate the effectiveness of the Board, committees of the Board and the 
contributions of individual Board members. The Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee will also take 
reasonable steps to evaluate and assess, on an annual basis, directors’ performance and effectiveness of the Board, Board 
committees, individual members, the Board Chair and committee Chairs. The assessment will address, among other things, 
individual director independence, individual director and overall Board skills, and individual director financial literacy. The 
Board will receive and consider the recommendations from the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee 
regarding the results of the evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the Board, Board committees and individual 
members. 

The Board believes that the members of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee individually and 
collectively possess the requisite knowledge, skill and experience in governance and compensation matters, including human 
resource management, executive compensation matters and general business leadership, to fulfill the committee’s mandate. All 
members of the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee have substantial knowledge and experience as current 
and former senior executives of large and complex organizations and on the boards of other publicly traded entities. 

Board Compensation 

The Board compensation program is designed to attract and retain qualified individuals to serve on the Board. The Board, 
through the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee, will be responsible for reviewing and approving any 
changes to the Board compensation arrangements. In consideration for serving on the Board, each director that is not an 
employee of the Company, the Manager or one of their respective affiliates will receive a cash payment as follows: 

Type of Fee Amount(1)

Chair of the Board(2)

Chair of a Board Committee(3)

Committee Member(4)

Board Member(5)

$10,000/year
$5,000/year
$5,000/year

$85,000/year

Notes: 

(1) Represents compensation paid per year for the specific role indicated.  
(2)  Such compensation to be paid for acting as the Chair of the Board.  
(3) Such compensation to be paid for acting as the Chair of a Board committee and is in addition to sitting on 

a committee of the Board.  
(4) Such compensation to be paid for each committee of the Board that a director is a member of.  
(5)  Such compensation to be paid for being a member of the Board.  

No additional fees will be paid to directors for attendance at Board or committee meetings. 

The directors will also be reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in acting as directors. In addition, 
directors will be entitled to receive remuneration for services rendered to the Company in any other capacity, except in respect 
of their service as directors of any of the Company’s subsidiaries. Directors who are employees of, and who receive a salary 
from, the Company, the Manager or one of their respective affiliates will not be entitled to receive any remuneration for their 
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services in acting as directors, but will be entitled to reimbursement of their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in 
acting as directors. 

Board Equity Ownership Policy 

The Board approved a board equity ownership policy which provides that each member of the Board that is not an employee 
of the Company, the Manager or one of their respective affiliates is required to achieve and maintain, at all times during the 
period following the Closing Date that he or she is a director of the Company, minimum ownership of Common Shares having 
a value of at least three times the amount of the annual cash retainer paid to such directors. The current directors of the Company 
and newly elected or appointed directors of the Company are permitted three years within which to attain the foregoing 
minimum ownership of Common Shares. 

Upon a director of the Company achieving the minimum ownership of Common Shares required under the board equity 
ownership policy during the three-year period, that director will no longer be required to acquire further Common Shares during 
the balance of such three-year period, including as a result of any decrease in the market price of the Common Shares. The 
minimum ownership of Common Shares is not required to continue following the cessation of an individual as a director of the 
Company. A director of the Company will not be permitted to purchase financial instruments that are designed to hedge or 
offset the economic exposure of such director’s ownership in Common Shares such that the effective economic exposure is 
less than the required minimum ownership of Common Shares under the board equity ownership policy. The Board may grant 
exceptions to the board equity ownership policy where circumstances warrant, including, but not limited to, tax and estate 
planning considerations. 

Blackout Periods 

The Company recognizes that for good corporate governance reasons, many public issuers have internal policies prohibiting 
certain employees from buying or selling the issuer’s securities or exercising stock options during specific periods. The time 
periods in which these employees are not permitted to trade in an issuer’s securities are often called “blackout periods”. Trading 
restriction policies are not only a component of good corporate governance, they also assist in fostering compliance with legal 
requirements that prohibit people from trading in a public issuer’s securities when they have material information about the 
issuer that has not been released to the public. A blackout period is designed to prevent a person from trading on material 
information that is not yet available to other security holders. For example, a blackout period occurs during a specified period 
before and after the day that an issuer announces its quarterly or annual earnings. A blackout period might also arise during the 
time that an issuer has material undisclosed information about an important potential transaction it might be considering, such 
as a significant acquisition or disposition. The Company has adopted a Policy on Trading in Securities to foster a culture of 
compliance with Company blackout periods. 

Directors’ and Officers’ Liability Insurance 

At Closing, the directors and officers of the Company will be covered under the Company’s directors’ and officers’ liability 
insurance. Under this insurance coverage, the Company will be reimbursed for insured claims where payments have been made 
under indemnity provisions on behalf of the directors and officers of the Company, subject to a deductible for each loss, which 
must first be paid by the Company before any reimbursement from insurance. The insurance will also pay on behalf of the 
individual directors and officers of the Company for insured claims arising during the performance of their duties for which 
they are not indemnified by the Company. Excluded from insurance coverage are illegal acts, acts which result in personal 
profit and certain other acts. 

THE MANAGER 

Pursuant to the terms of the Management Agreement, the Manager acts as the Company’s exclusive manager and sources and 
advises with respect to all investments for the Company, actively manages such investments and otherwise directs our affairs and 
manages our business. The Manager is a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario on January 22, 
2021. The Manager registered office address is 77 King Street West, Suite 3000, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5K 1G8. 

The Board will have a role in approving significant investments made by the Company, and a summary of all Company 
investments will be discussed on a consistent basis at Board meetings. Board approval will be required for each initial 
investment in a Portfolio Company made by the Company which has an acquisition cost that is greater than 15% of Total 
Assets. The Board will also be required to approve each divestment of a Company’s investment in a Portfolio Company having 
expected gross proceeds that are greater than 15% of Total Assets. See “Directors and Management of the Company”. The 
Advisory Board will assist the Manager and the Board in this process. In connection with the Manager’s advice and 
recommendations to the Board with respect to a particular investment, the Manager will also provide advice relating to 
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appropriate levels of leverage in respect of such investments. Should it be determined to proceed with an investment (either by 
the Manager or by the Board, as outlined above), the Manager will arrange for the investment to be made and thereafter manage 
such investment on the Company’s behalf. 

Duties and Services Provided by the Manager 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager has the authority to manage the Company’s affairs and day-to-day 
activities. The Manager may delegate certain of its powers to third parties, where, at the discretion of the Manager, it would be 
in the Company’s best interests to do so. The Manager’s duties and services include: 

• Sourcing, structuring, advising and actively managing potential investment opportunities 
• Undertaking due diligence before formally committing to an investment 
• Providing ongoing monitoring of investments made by the Company, including, where appropriate, playing an active 

role in the Portfolio Company’s growth and development through strategic advice, industry experience as public 
market participants, board or advisory representation and/or other means 

• Advising and making recommendations on potential dispositions (or another form of monetization) of the Company’s 
investments 

• Carrying out all of the Company’s capital market activities 
• Authorizing the payment of operating expenses 
• Preparing the Company’s financial statements and financial and accounting information 
• Ensuring compliance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements, including regulatory and shareholder 

reporting 
• Recommending to the Board the amount of dividends to be declared 
• Negotiating contracts with third-party providers of services, including registrars, transfer agents, auditors, printers and 

others 

The Manager will provide advice to the Company and its subsidiaries in accordance with the Company’s investment objective. 
The services to be performed by the Manager will be conducted only by officers, employees and designated third-parties who 
have appropriate experience and qualifications. 

Details of the Management Agreement 

Pursuant to the Management Agreement, the Manager is required to exercise its powers and discharge its duties diligently, 
honestly and in good faith and in the Company’s best interests and to exercise the standard of care, diligence and skill that a 
reasonably prudent person would exercise in similar circumstances. The Management Agreement provides that the Manager 
and its directors, officers, securityholders, employees and agents will not be liable to the Company in any way for any default, 
failure or defect in the Company’s investments or for any act performed, or failure to act, by the Manager within the scope of 
the authority conferred on the Manager by the Management Agreement, if it has satisfied the duties and the standard of care, 
diligence and skill set forth in the Management Agreement. The Manager will incur liability, however, in cases of wilful 
misconduct, bad faith, gross negligence, breach of the Manager’s standard of care or by any material breach or material default 
by it of its obligations under the Management Agreement. 

The term of the Management Agreement will commence on the Closing Date and continues for ten years until the tenth 
anniversary of the Closing Date, and automatically renews unless terminated prior thereto or a notice of non-renewal is provided 
by the Company or the Manager. The Management Agreement will be automatically renewed for successive five-year terms at 
the expiration of the initial term and any renewal term, unless either the Company (at the direction of the Board) or the Manager 
notifies the other in writing of non-renewal at least twelve (12) months prior to the expiration of the initial term or a renewal 
term. 

The Management Agreement may be terminated by the Company at any time upon approval of a majority of the Company’s 
independent directors upon the occurrence of any of the following: (a) in the event of a breach by the Manager of any material 
term of the Management Agreement that is not cured within 60 days of written notice of such breach to the Manager (or such 
longer period, not to exceed 120 days, as may be reasonably required in the circumstances to cure such breach if such breach 
may be cured); (b) in the event of the commission (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction with all rights of appeal 
having expired) by the Manager of any act constituting bad faith, wilful malfeasance, gross negligence or reckless disregard of 
its duties under the Management Agreement; or (c) if any proceedings in insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation 
are taken against the Manager or if the Manager makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, commits any act of 
bankruptcy within the meaning of the Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) or declares itself or is declared to be insolvent. 
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The Management Agreement may also be terminated by the Company at any time on or after the sixth anniversary of the 
Closing Date (each, a “No Cause Termination Right”): (i) upon: (A) approval of two-thirds of the Company’s independent 
directors occurring on or after the sixth anniversary of the Closing Date; and (B) twelve months’ prior written notice to the 
Manager being given after the approval of the Company’s independent directors is obtained; or (ii) in the event of the successful 
completion of an amalgamation or other business combination transaction or “formal take-over bid” (as such term is defined 
in the Securities Act (Ontario)) following which, there is a change of control of the Company on or after the sixth anniversary 
of the Closing Date, upon twelve months’ prior written notice to the Manager being given after the business combination 
transaction or “formal take-over bid” is completed. 

The Management Agreement may be terminated by the Manager at any time: (a) on or after the sixth anniversary of the Closing 
Date upon not less than twelve (12) months’ prior written notice to the Company given on or after the sixth anniversary of the 
Closing Date; (b) in the event of a breach by the Company of any material term of the Management Agreement that is not cured 
within 60 days of written notice of such breach to the Company (or such longer period, not to exceed 120 days, as may be 
reasonably required in the circumstances to cure such breach if such breach may be cured) (a “Material Company Breach”); 
or (c) if any proceedings in insolvency, bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation are taken against the Company or if the 
Company makes an assignment for the benefit of its creditors, commits any act of bankruptcy within the meaning of the 
Bankruptcy and Insolvency Act (Canada) or declares itself, or the Company is declared to be, insolvent. 

Upon the termination of the Management Agreement by the Company pursuant to a No Cause Termination Right, upon 
termination of the Management Agreement by the Manager pursuant to a Material Company Breach or in connection with the 
expiration of the initial term or the then current renewal term of the Management Agreement as a result of the Company 
providing a non-renewal notice to the Manager, the Company will pay to the Manager, in immediately available funds on the 
date of termination or expiration, an amount equal to three times the sum of the following, plus applicable taxes: (a) the greater 
of: (i) the total amount of the Management Fee received and/or earned by the Manager pursuant to the Management Agreement 
during the twelve (12) consecutive completed calendar months occurring on or prior to the termination/expiration date; and (ii) 
an amount equal to 1.5% of the Book Value of the Company at the close of business on the termination/expiration date; and 
(b) the average of the two largest Performance Fee amounts received and/or earned by the Manager pursuant to the Management 
Agreement during the five (5) consecutive completed calendar years occurring on or prior to the termination/expiration date. 

Subject to the ability of the Manager to delegate its powers and duties, the Management Agreement (and any interest in the 
Management Agreement) may not be assigned or subcontracted by either party without the prior written consent of the other 
party. Any amendment, supplement or modification of the Management Agreement may only be executed by the Company if 
and when approved by a majority of the Company’s independent directors. In addition, the Manager and each of its directors, 
officers, securityholders, employees and agents will be indemnified by the Company to the fullest extent permitted by law for 
all liabilities, costs and expenses incurred in connection with any action, suit or proceeding that is proposed or commenced, or 
other claim that is made against the Manager, or any of its directors, officers, securityholders, employees and agents, in the 
exercise of its duties as the Company’s manager, except those resulting from the Manager’s wilful misconduct, bad faith, gross 
negligence, breach of the Manager’s standard of care or material breach or default by the Manager of its obligations under the 
Management Agreement. 

Any direct or indirect change of control of the Manager will be subject to the prior approval of a majority of the Company’s 
independent directors. The services to be provided by the Manager under the Management Agreement are not exclusive to the 
Company and, subject to the provisions described under “– Non-Competition Arrangements” and “– Allocation of Investment 
Opportunities” below, the Management Agreement does not limit or restrict the Manager, its affiliates, or any of the directors, 
officers, shareholders or employees of the Manager or its affiliates, from carrying on business ventures for its own account and 
for the account of others, including providing similar services to others. 

Management Fee and Performance Fee 

As compensation for the provision of the services to be provided to the Company by the Manager, the Company will pay the 
Management Fee and, if applicable, the Performance Fee, in each case, together with any applicable sales taxes thereon, to the 
Manager. 

The management fee (the “Management Fee”) will be a monthly amount equal to 1/12 of 1.5% of the Book Value of the 
Company, plus any sales taxes thereon, calculated and accrued at the beginning of each month based on the Book Value of the 
Company as at the end of the immediately preceding month. The Management Fee in respect of a month shall be payable by 
the Company to the Manager on or before the tenth (10th) day following the last day of such month. However, should the 
Manager fail to cause the Company to satisfy the 75% Investment Requirement, the Management Fee earned by the Manager 
during the three-year period of the 75% Investment Requirement will be reduced having regard to the proportion of the net 
proceeds of the Offering and Management Investment invested below the 75% Investment Requirement, and such reduction 
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would be credited against future Management Fees and Performance Fees earned by the Manager, until fully paid over a period 
of no longer than two years. 

The performance fee (the “Performance Fee”) will be calculated and accrued quarterly and paid for the period from the Closing 
Date to December 31, 2021 and for each consecutive one-year period thereafter (each, a “Calculation Period”). The amount 
of the Performance Fee shall be determined as of the end of the last day of each Calculation Period (each a “Determination 
Date”) with respect to the time-weighted average Common Shares of the Company outstanding during such Calculation Period. 
All calculations with respect to the Performance Fee will be made to four decimal places. The Performance Fee for a Calculation 
Period, if any, will be paid within 30 days after the Company issues its year-end audited financial statements for such 
Calculation Period (the actual date of the payment of the Performance Fee for a Calculation Period, the “PF Payment Date”). 

The Performance Fee will be payable in cash, but, at the request of the Manager, a portion of the Performance Fee may be 
applied to the subscription of Common Shares. If the Manager elects to have the Performance Fee applied to a subscription of 
Common Shares, such election must be made no later than December 15 of the applicable Calculation Period in respect of 
which the Performance Fee is to be paid. The number of Common Shares to be issued will be calculated based on the market 
price (the “Market Price”), being the volume-weighted average trading price of the Common Shares on a recognized stock 
exchange for the 5 trading days prior to but excluding the PF Payment Date for the Calculation Period in respect of which the 
Performance Fee is to be paid and for purposes of calculating the Performance Fee in respect of subsequent Calculation Periods 
thereafter will be deemed to be outstanding as of the first day of such Calculation Period regardless of the date of actual 
issuance. In no instance will a portion of the Performance Fee be applied to a subscription and issuance of Common Shares if: 
(a) after such issuance, the Manager and its affiliates would own more than 49% of the outstanding equity capital of the 
Company; or (b) such issuance is not in compliance with the rules or policies of the stock exchange upon which Common 
Shares are then listed for trading (including the TSX, and the review and receipt of approval of the TSX as required under such 
rules or policies). The Manager will agree to apply to the subscription of Common Shares no less than 30% of the Performance 
Fee earned during the five year period following Closing, further demonstrating alignment and confidence in the Company, 
and increasing the Management Investors’ investment in the Company beyond the original Management Investment. At 
Closing, the maximum number of Common Shares subject to issuance in payment of a portion of the Performance Fee is limited 
to 891,833 (being 10% of the total issued and outstanding Common Shares at Closing). For TSX purposes, the subscription of 
Common Shares in payment of a portion of the Performance Fee is a security based compensation arrangement and subject to 
the TSX rules governing security based compensation arrangements, including annual disclosure requirements and shareholder 
approval on a disinterested basis (by excluding the votes of the Manager) for any increase in the maximum number of Common 
Shares issuable pursuant thereto beyond the original maximum number of Common Shares noted above.  

The Performance Fee for a Calculation Period will be equal to the product of: 

(a) the number of time-weighted average Common Shares outstanding during such Calculation Period 
(calculated before taking into account any Common Shares issuable in payment of a Performance Fee for 
such Calculation Period); and 

(b) 15% of the amount by which the sum of: 

(i) the Book Value per Share of the Company at the end of such Calculation Period (calculated before 
taking into account the Performance Fee payable for the period ending on the Determination Date 
for such Calculation Period), plus

(ii) the total amount of distributions paid on the Common Shares during such Calculation Period and all 
consecutive immediately preceding Calculation Periods, if any, in respect of which no Performance 
Fee was paid divided by the weighted average number of Common Shares outstanding during such 
Calculation Periods; 

exceeds: 

(iii) the High Water Mark. 

The “High Water Mark” will be (a) in respect of the initial Calculation Period, the gross proceeds of the Offering, together 
with the gross proceeds from the Management Investment on the Closing Date, divided by the aggregate number of Common 
Shares outstanding on the Closing Date, and (b) in respect of any Calculation Period thereafter, (x) the highest Book Value per 
Share on any preceding Determination Date for a Calculation Period in respect of which a Performance Fee was paid (calculated 
after taking into account the Performance Fee, if any, in respect of such Calculation Period, including any Performance Fee 
which is applied to the subscription and issuance of Common Shares) or (y) if no Performance Fee has yet been paid, the High 
Water Mark in respect of the initial Calculation Period. 
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The Company believes these fees are competitive in comparison to other private equity opportunities in the marketplace, which 
generally charge a management fee of 2.0% or more and a performance fee of 20% or more. 

Ongoing Fees and Expenses 

The Manager will be responsible for its own day-to-day operating expenses, including in connection with the provision of the 
services for the Company (including discovery and evaluation of investment opportunities, other than third-party costs and 
expenses), compensation of its personnel and the cost of office space, office supplies, communications, telephone, news, 
quotation and computer equipment, utilities and other normal overhead expenses. The Manager will also bear fees and expenses 
payable to any person to which it has delegated any of its obligations. 

Other than as set out below, the Company will be responsible for its own formation and establishment expenses and operating 
expenses including: (i) all expenses incurred in connection with trading and the acquisition, holding or disposition of 
investments, including taxes, brokerage fees and commissions, agency/underwriting commissions and discounts, expenses 
related to indemnification obligations, and legal, accounting, investment banking, consulting, information services and other 
professional fees; (ii) all costs and expenses relating to investment transactions that are not consummated, and legal, accounting, 
investment banking, consulting, information services and other professional fees related thereto; (iii) entity-level taxes; (iv) all 
costs and fees relating to the preparation of financial statements, audits, financial and tax reports, portfolio valuations, tax 
returns and other reports and continuous disclosure materials, including fees and out-of-pocket expenses of any service 
company retained to provide accounting and bookkeeping services; (v) all ongoing legal and compliance costs (including stock 
exchange fees and listing fees) and the costs of prosecuting or defending any legal action for or against any of the Company, 
the Board, any subsidiary through which the Company makes an investment from time to time and its board of directors, the 
Manager or any of its affiliates relating to the affairs of the Company; (vi) all fees, costs and expenses related to all 
governmental filings of the Company or its subsidiaries; (vii) expenses of the directors, including directors’ fees and travel 
expenses; (viii) expenses related to maintenance of corporate records and books of account, including, without limitation, 
accounting and auditing fees, disbursements and company secretarial expenses; (ix) expenses related to organization and 
conduct of directors’ and shareholders’ meetings and the preparation and distribution of all reports to, and other 
communications with, shareholders, expenses related to issuing and transferring shares and paying dividends or making other 
distributions thereon, extraordinary expenses and other similar expenses; (x) fees payable to the transfer agent, custodian(s) or 
any other third party service provider of the Company; and (xi) costs relating to any credit facilities, insurance premiums and 
any extraordinary expenses which the Company may incur or which may be incurred on the Company’s behalf from time to 
time, as applicable. 

Any arrangements for additional services to be provided to the Company or its subsidiaries by the Manager or any affiliates 
thereof that have not been described in this prospectus will be on terms that are no less favourable to the Company or its 
subsidiaries than those available from arm’s length persons (within the meaning of the Tax Act) for comparable services, and 
the Company or such subsidiary, as the case may be, will pay all expenses associated with any such additional services. 

Allocation of Investment Opportunities 

On or before Closing, the Company and the Manager will enter into an agreement to govern the allocation of business 
opportunities between the parties in respect of certain investment opportunities and monetization events (the “Business 
Opportunity Allocation Agreement”). Within the markets described in the Company’s business objectives and investment 
strategies, the Manager will not compete with the Company except as permitted by the Business Opportunity Allocation 
Agreement. 

Pursuant to the Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement, the Manager will agree that it shall: (i) consider for investment 
by the Company any investment opportunity of which it becomes aware which may reasonably be determined to fit within the 
Company’s business objective and investment strategies at the relevant time (each, an “Investment Opportunity”); and (ii) 
present to the Board each Investment Opportunity, provided it is not precluded from doing so pursuant to non-disclosure 
covenants, where the Manager is interested in pursuing the Investment Opportunity outside of the Company in whole or in part 
(either by the Manager, or by its directors, officers or owners or their respective affiliates, or for other persons on behalf of 
whom the Manager acts) (the “Manager Group”). The Manager will present each Investment Opportunity contemplated in 
(ii) above to the Board in writing or at a meeting of the Board where the Manager will specify the details of such Investment 
Opportunity and the details of pursuing such Investment Opportunity outside of the Company (each, a “Notice of 
Opportunity”). 

The Company shall have the first right to exclusively invest in an Investment Opportunity before any member of the Manager 
Group. With respect to an Investment Opportunity contemplated in (ii) above, the Company may exercise such first right to 
invest in the Investment Opportunity, either exclusively or with one or more members of the Manager Group as a co-investor 
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(upon such terms and conditions as the Company and the Manager may agree), such exercise (and the manner of exercise) to 
be by way of approval by the Board (with any members of the Board who are not independent of the Manager, or who are 
otherwise conflicted, recused from voting). Within 7 days of receipt of a Notice of Opportunity involving an Investment 
Opportunity contemplated in (ii) above, the Board shall notify the Manager of its decision in respect of such Investment 
Opportunity, including whether it intends to pursue it, exclusively or together with one or more members of the Manager Group, 
or decline it. If the Board does not respond to the Notice of Opportunity provided by the Manager detailing an Investment 
Opportunity contemplated in (ii) above within 7 days of receipt of such Notice of Opportunity, then it will be deemed that the 
Company has declined its first right to invest in such Investment Opportunity. Any member of the Manager Group shall be 
entitled to pursue on its own behalf any Investment Opportunity that the Company has declined or deemed to decline in 
accordance with the foregoing. 

In addition, the Manager shall give the Company notice of the intention of a member of the Manager Group to dispose of any 
securities of any issuer in which it knows the Company is also invested and to cooperate with the Company in connection with 
such disposition of such securities in an orderly manner, subject to compliance with applicable laws and any additional terms 
and conditions of such investment agreed to by the Company and the Manager. The Manager shall give such notice of its 
intention to dispose of securities not less than 7 days before such disposition in the case of publicly traded securities and not 
less than 30 days in the case of securities that are not publicly traded. 

The foregoing shall not apply to any investment or disposition made by the Manager that is directed by a fully managed account 
or similar account whereby such investment or disposition is not directed by a director, officer or employee of the Manager. 

The Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement shall continue in force for so long as the Management Agreement is in effect.
The Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement may be amended, restated or supplemented only by an instrument in writing 
executed by each of the Manager and the Company that is approved by: (a) a majority of the directors of the Company who are 
independent of the Manager; and (b) when required by applicable laws or the rules of the stock exchange on which the Common 
Shares are traded, the holders of such Common Shares in accordance with such applicable laws and/or stock exchange rules. 

Owners, Officers and Directors of the Manager 

The board of directors of the Manager currently consists of four members: Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos and 
Brian Viveiros, who collectively comprise the Management Investors who will complete the Management Investment. The 
Manager is owned, indirectly, by Jeffrey Parks (as to 40%), Jason Meiers (as to 30%), Jimmy Vaiopoulos (as to 20%) and 
Brian Viveiros (as to 10%). See “Management Investment” and “Directors and Management of the Company – Directors and 
Executive Officers”. Directors are appointed to serve on the Manager’s board of directors until such time as they retire or are 
removed and their successors are appointed. 

The following table sets forth information regarding the directors and executive officers of the Manager.

Name, Province or State and
Country of Residence Position/Title Principal Occupation 

Jeffrey Parks ......................................  
Ontario, Canada 

 Chief Executive Officer and 
Managing Director of the 
Manager

 Chief Executive Officer of the Company and 
the Manager, and Managing Director of the 
Manager 

Jason Meiers ......................................  
Ontario, Canada 

 Chief Investment Officer 
and Managing Director of 
the Manager 

 Chief Investment Officer of the Company and 
the Manager, and Managing Director of the 
Manager 

Jimmy Vaiopoulos .............................  
Ontario, Canada 

 Chief Financial Officer and 
Managing Director of the 
Manager 

 Chief Financial Officer of the Company and 
the Manager, and Managing Director of the 
Manager 

Brian Viveiros ...................................  
Ontario, Canada 

 VP Corporate Development 
and Investor Relations, 
Corporate Secretary and 
Managing Director of the 
Manager 

 VP Corporate Development and Investor 
Relations and Corporate Secretary of the 
Company and the Manager, and Managing 
Director of the Manager 
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Brief biographies of the individuals listed above are set out under “Directors and Management of the Company – Biographical 
Information Regarding the Directors and Executive Officers of the Company”. 

On the Closing Date, the Manager’s sole engagement is its management of the Company pursuant to the terms of the 
Management Agreement. As such, at the outset, each of the four members of management of the Manager, Jeffrey Parks, Jason 
Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos and Brian Viveiros, have committed to the Company and the Manager to spend 100% of their time 
and attention on the business and investment activities of the Company. The members of management have made this 
commitment for at least three years or to such date as and when the 75% Investment Requirement is satisfied. Thereafter, 
members of management may continue to spend all or a substantial majority of their time and attention on the business and 
investment activities of the Company, having regard to the business needs and activities of the Company from time to time. 

Non-Competition Arrangements 

At Closing, the Management Investors will enter into the Non-Competition Arrangements with the Company that restricts 
certain activities by them. Under the terms of the Non-Competition Arrangements, the Manager Group may not, directly or 
indirectly, carry on or be engaged in a business that competes with the Company or be affiliated with or have an economic 
interest in a competitive business, anywhere in Canada. These restrictions do not apply to the Manager Group in connection 
with any investments made by an individual which is part of the Manager Group or his or her affiliates prior to the Closing 
Date. The foregoing restrictions commence on the Closing Date and end on the six-month anniversary of the earlier of: (a) the 
effective date of the termination or non-renewal of the Management Agreement; and (b) such date on which a Manager Group 
member ceases to be employed by the Manager or otherwise ceases to assist in providing services on behalf of the Manager. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Compensation Discussion and Analysis 

None of the Company’s executive officers, including the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Investment Officer, the Chief 
Financial Officer, and the VP Corporate Development and Corporate Secretary, will receive any compensation from the 
Company. 

The Company’s management team consists of individuals employed by the Manager. Pursuant to the Management Agreement, 
the Manager directs the affairs and manages the Company’s business and administers or arranges for the administration of 
Stack Capital’s day-to-day operations. The Company has no employment agreements with members of management, including 
the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Investment Officer, the Chief Financial Officer, and the VP Corporate Development and 
Corporate Secretary, and the Company does not pay any compensation to any individuals serving as its officers, directly or 
indirectly. Rather, those individuals are compensated by the Manager. In consideration for the services provided to the 
Company by the Manager, it is paid a Management Fee and, if earned, a Performance Fee. See “The Manager – Management 
Fee and Performance Fee”. As of the date of this prospectus, no fees or other compensation has been paid by the Company to 
the Manager. 

Although certain individuals hold titles as Stack Capital’s officers, these officers are employees of the Manager. The board of 
directors of the Manager has sole responsibility for determining the compensation of the employees of the Manager, including 
those of the management team. 

As a result of the Company’s arrangements with the Manager, the Company does not employ any individuals. 

Summary Compensation Table 

Securities legislation requires the disclosure of the compensation received by each Named Executive Officer of the Company 
for each of the Company’s three most recently completed financial years. The Company has four Named Executive Officers, 
all of whom are employees of the Manager, and not the Company. None of the Named Executive Officers of the Company 
received any compensation from the Manager since the formation of the Manager or the Company. 

The following table sets out information concerning the expected fiscal 2021 compensation to be earned by, paid to, or awarded 
to the Named Executive Officers of the Company. 
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Name and Principal 
Position of Named 
Executive Officer Year

Salary 
($)(1)

Share-
Based 

Awards 

($) 

Option-
Based 

Awards
($)

Non-Equity 
Incentive Plan 
Compensation 

All Other 
Compensation

($)

Total 
Compensation

($)(2)

Annual 
Incentive 
Plans ($) 

Long-
Term 

Incentive 
Plans ($) 

Jeffrey Parks (3)(4)

Chief Executive Officer 
2021 $100,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $100,000 

Jason Meiers (4)

Chief Investment Officer 
2021 $100,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $100,000 

Jimmy Vaiopoulos (4)

Chief Financial Officer 
2021 $100,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $100,000 

Brian Viveiros (4)

VP Corporate 
Development and 
Investor Relations and 
Corporate Secretary 

2021 $100,000 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil $100,000 

Notes: 

(1) Represents the estimated portion of salary anticipated to be paid by the Manager attributable to time expected to be spent on the activities 
of the Company. The Manager has not entered into any written employment agreements with the Named Executive Officers of the 
Company, and no final determination has been made with respect to the compensation to be received by the Named Executive Officers 
of the Company from the Manager. 

(2) The compensation indicated does not include amounts which may be received by a Named Executive Officer in connection with the 
ownership of an interest in the Manager for activities related to the Company as such amounts cannot be reasonably estimated as at the 
date of this prospectus. 

(3) Mr. Parks does not receive any compensation for acting as a member of the Board. See “Directors and Management of the Company – 
Board Compensation”. 

(4) Appointed to hold such officer’s title of the Company on April 1, 2021. 

Principal Elements of Compensation 

The compensation of the Named Executive Officers includes three major elements: (1) base salary; (2) annual cash bonus; and 
(3) dividends or other distributions on the ownership interests of the Manager. As a private company, the Manager’s process 
for determining executive compensation is relatively straightforward, involving input from management of the company. There 
is no specific formula for determining the amount of each element, nor is there a formal approach applied by the Manager for 
determining how one element of compensation fits into the overall compensation objectives in respect of the activities of the 
Company. Objectives and performance measures may vary from year to year as determined to be appropriate by the Manager. 

The Company does not have or maintain any security based compensation plans or arrangements. 

The Board has not specifically considered the implications of the risks associated with the Company’s compensation policies 
and practices given that the Company has no employees and pays no compensation. Nevertheless, the Board has determined 
that, generally, processes and controls are in place to mitigate any risks and, overall, such risks are not significant and not 
reasonably likely to have a material adverse effect on the Company. Although the Board has not adopted any policies in this 
regard, in the event that a Named Executive Officer or director of the Company purchases financial instruments that are 
designed to hedge or offset a decrease in market value of the Company’s equity securities granted as compensation or held, 
directly or indirectly, by the Named Executive Officer or director, such purchases must be disclosed in the insider reporting 
filings of a Named Executive Officer or director. 

The Named Executive Officers do not benefit from medium term incentives or pension plan participation. Perquisites and 
personal benefits are not a significant element of compensation of the Named Executive Officers. The three principal elements 
of compensation are described below. 

Base Salaries 

Base salaries are paid by the Manager and are intended to provide an appropriate level of fixed compensation that will assist in 
employee retention and recruitment. Base salaries are determined on an individual basis, taking into consideration the past, 
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current and potential contribution to the success of the Manager and the Company, the position and responsibilities of the 
Named Executive Officers and competitive industry pay practices for other investment companies and businesses of 
comparable size and complexity. The Manager does not engage compensation consultants or advisors for the purposes of 
performing benchmarking or apply specific criteria for the selection of comparable investment businesses.  

Annual Cash Bonuses 

Annual cash bonuses are paid by the Manager and are awarded primarily based upon qualitative and quantitative performance 
standards, and reward performance of the Manager and the Company or the Named Executive Officer individually. The 
determination of the performance of the Manager and the Company may vary from year to year depending on economic 
conditions and conditions in the investment industry, and may be based on measures such as share price performance, the 
meeting of financial targets against budget and balance sheet performance. Individual performance factors vary, and may 
include completion of specific projects or transactions and the execution of day-to-day management responsibilities. 

Ownership Interests of the Manager 

Each Named Executive Officer owns ownership interests in the Manager. A portion of the compensation received by the Named 
Executive Officers from the Manager (in relation to the Company) relates to dividends or other distributions on the ownership 
interests that they respectively own, whether directly or indirectly, in the Manager (and not in their capacities as directors, 
officers and/or employees of the Manager). For those Named Executive Officers that do not own a direct interest in the 
Manager, they may receive only a part of, or none of, the amounts received by their related entity at such time as is determined 
by that entity. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

None of the current or former directors, executive officers or employees of the Company, and none of their respective 
associates, is or has within 30 days before the date of this prospectus or at any time since the beginning of the most recently 
completed financial year been indebted to the Company or another entity whose indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 
support agreement, letter of credit or other similar agreement or understanding provided by the Company. 

PLAN OF DISTRIBUTION 

Agency Agreement and Agents’ Compensation 

Pursuant to an agency agreement dated June 9, 2021 among the Company, the Manager and the Agents (the “Agency 
Agreement”), the Company has appointed the Agents as its agents to offer for sale on a best efforts basis to the public 8,335,000 
Units at a price of $12.00 per Unit, for aggregate gross proceeds of $100,020,000, subject to the terms and conditions of the 
Agency Agreement. The Agents will receive a cash commission equal to $0.66 per Unit (5.5%) from the sale of the Units. No 
fee or commission will be payable to the Agents in respect of the Management Investment. 

The Company has also agreed to grant the Agents the Over-Allotment Option, which is exercisable in whole or in part and at 
any time for a period of 30 days after Closing, to purchase up to an additional 15% of the aggregate number of Units (the 
“Additional Units”) issued pursuant to the Offering at the Offering Price on the same terms as set out above to cover over-
allotments, if any, and for the purposes of market stabilization of the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants, as applicable. The 
Additional Units will be comprised of 1,250,250 Common Shares (the “Additional Shares”) and 625,125 IPO Warrants (the 
“Additional IPO Warrants”). The Over-Allotment Option may be exercised by the Agents in respect of: (i) the Additional 
Units at a price of $12.00 per Additional Unit; (ii) the Additional Shares at a price of $11.20 per Additional Share; (iii) the 
Additional IPO Warrants at a price of $1.60 per Additional IPO Warrant; or (iv) any combination of Additional Units, 
Additional Shares and Additional IPO Warrants, provided that the aggregate number of Additional Shares and Additional IPO 
Warrants that may be issued upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option does not exceed 15% of the aggregate number 
Common Shares and 15% of the aggregate number IPO Warrants issued as part of the Units pursuant to the Offering. 

This prospectus also qualifies the grant of the Over-Allotment Option and distribution of the Additional Units, Additional 
Shares and Additional IPO Warrants issuable upon the exercise of the Over-Allotment Option. A purchaser who acquires 
Additional Units, Additional Shares and Additional IPO Warrants forming part of the Agents’ over-allocation position acquires 
such securities under this prospectus, regardless of whether the Agents’ over-allocation position is ultimately filled through the 
exercise of the Over-Allotment Option or through secondary market purchases. 

The Agents have agreed to use their best efforts to secure subscriptions for the Units offered hereunder on behalf of the 
Company. The obligations of the Agents under the Agency Agreement are conditional and may be terminated at their discretion 
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on the basis of their assessment of the state of the financial markets and upon the occurrence of certain events as stated in the 
Agency Agreement. 

Offering and Minimum Distribution 

The Offering is for 8,335,000 Units at a price of $12.00 per Unit, for total gross proceeds of $100,020,000. Subscriptions for 
Units will be received subject to rejection or allotment in whole or in part and the Agents reserve the right to close the 
subscription books at any time without notice. It is expected that Closing will occur on or about June 16, 2021, or such other 
date as may be mutually agreed to by the Company and the Agents, but in any event no later than September 8, 2021. 

The completion of at least the Minimum Offering is a condition to Closing. The funds received from the Offering will be 
deposited with the Agents, and will not be released until a minimum of $100,000,008 of Units, excluding the Management 
Investment, has been deposited and the Agents consent to the release thereof. If the Minimum Offering is not achieved within 
90 days of the issuance of a final receipt for this prospectus, or such other time as may be authorized by the applicable securities 
regulatory authority, and agreed by the Agents and persons or companies who subscribed within that period, subscription funds 
received by the Agents will be returned to the applicable subscribers without any interest or deductions, unless the applicable 
subscribers have otherwise instructed the Agents. 

Determination of Price 

The Agents propose to offer the Units initially at the Offering Price. The Offering Price was determined by negotiation among 
the Company and the Agents with reference to prevailing market conditions. 

Conditions to Closing 

Closing of the Offering is conditional upon a number of conditions under the Agency Agreement, including but not limited to: 
(i) the sale of a minimum of $100,000,008 of Units, excluding the Management Investment; (ii) the completion of the 
Management Investment; (iii) the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants (including the underlying Common Shares issuable 
on exercise of IPO Warrants) being listed on the TSX; and (iv) the adoption of the Voluntary Measures. 

Listing Application 

The TSX has conditionally approved the listing of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants (including the underlying Common 
Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) on the TSX under the symbols “STCK” and “STCK.WT”, respectively, via the 
TSX Sandbox, an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy all requirements and guidelines of the 
TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX. As the Company does 
not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX set out in Section 309(a) of the TSX Company Manual, the TSX has 
exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical earnings and pre-tax cash flow, and has agreed to list the 
Company pursuant to the TSX Sandbox. Listing on the TSX is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements 
of the TSX by August 17, 2021, including, among other things, raising minimum gross proceeds of $100 million under the 
Offering and the distribution of a minimum number of freely tradable Common Shares and IPO Warrants having a minimum 
aggregate market value and held by a minimum number of public holders. It is a condition of Closing that the Common Shares 
and IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO 
Warrants) are conditionally approved for listing on the TSX. 

The Company will remain listed pursuant to the TSX Sandbox until such time as it has: (i) deployed 50% of the net proceeds 
raised pursuant to the Offering and the Management Investment; and (ii) publicly filed interim financial statements reflecting 
a full quarter of operating history subsequent to listing on the TSX. As disclosed under “Risk Factors”, the Company lacks an 
operating history and there is a very limited basis upon which a potential investor can evaluate the Company’s ability to achieve 
its stated investment objective. See “Risk Factors” for further details. 

Restrictions on Issuances of Securities 

During a period ending 180 days from Closing, the Company will not, directly or indirectly, issue, sell, offer, contract, grant 
any option, warrant or right to purchase (including without limitation any put option or call option), lend, secure, pledge, 
transfer, or otherwise dispose of or monetize, or make any short sale, engage in any hedging transaction, or enter into any form 
of arrangement the consequence of which is to directly or indirectly transfer to someone else, in whole or in part, any of the 
economic consequences of ownership of, whether in a public offering, by way of private placement or otherwise, any equity 
securities or other securities, or securities convertible, exercisable or exchangeable into equity securities or other securities of 
the Company, or agree or become bound to do so, or file any preliminary prospectus or prospectus under Canadian securities 
laws, any registration statement under the U.S. Securities Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, or any 
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offering memorandum or other offering document with respect to any of the foregoing, or publicly announce any intention to 
do any of the foregoing, except: (a) issuance of Units under the Management Investment; (b) issuance of Common Shares upon 
the exercise of IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering and the Management Investment; or (c) upon exercise of the Over-
Allotment Option, without the prior written consent of TD Securities Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc. and Scotia Capital 
Inc., on behalf of the Agents, which consent may not be unreasonably withheld or delayed. 

Non-Certificated Inventory System 

The Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units will be issued and deposited in electronic form with CDS or its 
nominee pursuant to the book-based system administered by CDS. Certificates evidencing the Common Shares and the IPO 
Warrants comprising the Units will not be issued to purchasers, except in certain limited circumstances. Purchasers will receive 
only a customer confirmation from the Agents or other registered dealer who is a CDS participant and from or through whom 
a beneficial interest in the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units are purchased. Purchasers who are not 
issued a certificate evidencing the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units which are subscribed for by them 
at Closing are entitled to request that certificates be issued in their name. Such a request will need to be made through the CDS 
participant through whom the beneficial interest in the securities are held at the time of the request. 

Registration of ownership and transfers of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants comprising the Units (other than as noted 
above) may be effected through the book-based system administered by CDS or its nominees (with respect to interests of 
participants of CDS) and on the records of participants of CDS (with respect to interests of persons other than participants of 
CDS). CDS will be responsible for establishing and maintaining book-entry accounts for its CDS participants having interests 
in the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants. 

The ability of a beneficial shareholder to pledge the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants comprising the Units or otherwise 
take action with respect to such beneficial shareholder’s interest in such Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants (other than 
through a CDS participant) may be limited due to the lack of a physical certificate. 

Price Stabilization and Passive Market-Making 

In connection with the Offering and subject to applicable laws, the Agents may over-allot or effect transactions that stabilize 
or maintain the market price of the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants, as applicable, at a level other than that which might 
otherwise prevail in the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time. The Agents may 
carry out these transactions on any stock exchange on which the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants, as applicable, are listed, 
in the over-the-counter market or as otherwise permitted by applicable law. As a result of these activities, the price of the 
Common Shares or the IPO Warrants may be higher than the price that otherwise might exist in the open market. 

Pursuant to policy statements of certain Canadian securities regulators, the Agents may not, throughout the period of 
distribution, bid for or purchase Common Shares. The foregoing restriction is subject to certain exceptions including: (i) a bid 
or purchase permitted under the Universal Market Integrity Rules for Canadian Marketplaces administered by the Investment 
Industry Regulatory Organization of Canada relating to market stabilization and passive market making activities; (ii) a bid or 
purchase made for and on behalf of a customer where the order was not solicited during the period of the distribution, provided 
that the bid or purchase was for the purpose of maintaining a fair and orderly market and not engaged in for the purpose of 
creating actual or apparent active trading in, or raising the price of, such securities; or (iii) a bid or purchase to cover a short 
position entered into prior to the commencement of a prescribed restricted period. Pursuant to the first mentioned exception, in 
connection with the Offering the Agents may undertake transactions which stabilize or maintain the market price of the 
Common Shares at levels other than those which otherwise might prevail on the open market. Such transactions, if commenced, 
may be discontinued at any time. 

No Registration under the U.S. Securities Act 

The Units, the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants comprising the Units and the Common Shares issued upon exercise of 
the IPO Warrants have not been, and will not be, registered under the U.S. Securities Act or the securities laws of any state of 
the United States and may not be offered, sold or delivered, directly or indirectly, in the United States or to, or for the account 
or benefit of, U.S. Persons, except pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable state securities laws. Each Agent has agreed that it will not offer or sell Units or Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
within the United States, except in transactions exempt from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable state securities laws. The Agency Agreement provides that the Agents may only offer the Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants comprising the Units, through their U.S. broker dealer affiliates, within the United States to a limited number of 
“qualified institutional buyers” (as defined in Rule 144A under the U.S. Securities Act) that are also “qualified purchasers”, as 
defined in Section 2(a)(51)(A) of the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, to whom the Company may sell Common 
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Shares and IPO Warrants in transactions that comply with an exemption from the registration requirements of the U.S. 
Securities Act and in accordance with similar exemptions under applicable state securities laws. The Agency Agreement also 
provides that the Agents may offer and the Company may sell the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units 
outside the United States in accordance with Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act. The Units that are offered or sold in 
the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons will be “restricted securities” within the meaning of Rule 
144(a)(3) under the U.S. Securities Act and will be subject to restrictions to the effect that such securities have not been 
registered under the U.S. Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws and may only be offered, sold, pledged or 
otherwise transferred pursuant to certain exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and 
applicable state securities laws. Any certificates representing the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units and 
Common Shares issued upon exercise of the IPO Warrants which are sold in the United States or to, or for the account or 
benefit of, U.S. Persons in reliance on exemptions from the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act and applicable 
state securities laws will be in definitive form and will contain legends to the effect that such securities represented thereby 
have not been registered under the U.S. Securities Act and may only be offered for sale pursuant to certain exemptions from 
the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act. 

The IPO Warrants and the Common Shares issued upon exercise thereof have not been and will not be registered under the 
U.S. Securities Act or any applicable state securities laws, and the IPO Warrants will not be exercisable by or on behalf of a 
person in the United States or a U.S. Person, nor will certificates representing the Common Shares issued upon exercise of the 
IPO Warrants be registered or delivered to an address in the United States, unless an exemption from registration under the 
U.S. Securities Act and any applicable state securities laws is available and the Company has received an opinion of counsel 
of recognized standing or other evidence to such effect in form and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Company. 

This prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy any of the Units in the United States or 
to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons. In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the Offering, an offer 
or sale of the Units, the Common Shares and IPO Warrants comprising the Units or the Common Shares issued upon exercise 
of the IPO Warrants within the United States, or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons, by any dealer (whether or 
not participating in the Offering) may violate the registration requirements of the U.S. Securities Act if such offer or sale is 
made otherwise than in accordance with an exemption from registration under the U.S. Securities Act. 

The offer and sale of the Units pursuant to this Offering in the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. Persons 
shall be conducted in compliance with an available exemption from the registration requirements of the United States 
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. 

CERTAIN CANADIAN FEDERAL INCOME TAX CONSIDERATIONS 

In the opinion of Fogler, Rubinoff LLP, counsel to the Company, and Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP, counsel to the Agents, 
the following is a summary, as of the date hereof, of the principal Canadian federal income tax considerations under the Tax 
Act generally applicable to a person who acquires Common Shares and IPO Warrants pursuant to the Offering and who at all 
relevant times, for purposes of the Tax Act: (i) beneficially owns the Common Shares and IPO Warrants as capital property; 
and (ii) deals at arm’s length with the Company and the Agents and is not affiliated with the Company or an Agent (a “Holder”). 
Generally, the Common Shares and IPO Warrants will be considered to be capital property to a Holder provided that the Holder 
does not acquire or hold the Common Shares and IPO Warrants in the course of carrying on a business of buying and selling 
securities or in one or more transactions considered to be an adventure or concern in the nature of trade. Certain Holders who 
are residents of Canada and who might not otherwise be considered to hold Common Shares as capital property may, in certain 
circumstances, be entitled to have such Common Shares and every other “Canadian security” (as defined in the Tax Act) owned 
or subsequently acquired by them treated as capital property by making an irrevocable election in accordance with subsection 
39(4) of the Tax Act. Holders should consult their own tax advisors as to whether an election under subsection 39(4) of the Tax 
Act is available or advisable in their particular circumstances. Such an election is not available in respect of the IPO Warrants. 

This summary does not apply to a Holder: (i) that is a “financial institution” for purposes of the “mark-to-market” rules; (ii) an 
interest in which would be a “tax shelter investment”; (iii) that is a “specified financial institution”; (iv) that has made an 
election under the Tax Act to determine its Canadian tax results in a foreign currency; or (v) that has entered or will enter into 
a “derivative forward agreement”, a “synthetic disposition arrangement” or a “dividend rental arrangement”(all as defined in 
the Tax Act) with respect to Common Shares or IPO Warrants. 

This summary does not address the possible application of the “foreign affiliate dumping” rules that may be applicable to a 
Holder that is a corporation resident in Canada (for the purposes of the Tax Act) that is, or that becomes as part of a transaction 
or event or series of transactions or events that includes the acquisition of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants, controlled 
by a non-resident person, or, if no single non-resident person has control, by a group of non-resident persons that do not deal 
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with each other at arm’s length for purposes of the rules in section 212.3 of the Tax Act or that does not deal at arm’s length 
for purposes of the Tax Act with any such Canadian resident corporation. Such Holders should consult their own tax advisors. 

This summary is based on the facts set out in this prospectus, a certificate from the Company as to certain factual matters, the 
current provisions of the Tax Act and the regulations thereunder (the “Regulations”), all specific proposals to amend the Tax 
Act and the Regulations publicly announced by or on behalf of the Minister of Finance (Canada) prior to the date hereof (the 
“Tax Proposals”), and counsel’s understanding of the current administrative policies and assessing practices of the CRA 
published by it in writing prior to the date hereof. No assurance can be given that the Tax Proposals will be enacted in the form 
proposed or at all. This summary is not exhaustive of all possible Canadian federal income tax considerations and, except as 
mentioned above, does not take into account or anticipate any changes in law or administrative policy or assessing practice, 
whether by way of legislative, governmental or judicial decision or action, nor does it take into account other federal, provincial, 
territorial or foreign income tax legislation or considerations, which may differ materially from those discussed herein. 

This summary is of a general nature only and is not intended to be, nor should it be construed to be, legal or tax advice 
to any particular Holder, and no representations concerning the tax consequences to any particular Holder or 
prospective shareholder are made. Prospective Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to the tax 
consequences of an investment in the Common Shares and IPO Warrants having regard to their particular 
circumstances. 

Allocation of Cost 

Holders will be required to allocate on a reasonable basis their cost of each Unit between the Common Share and the IPO 
Warrant in order to determine their respective costs for purposes of the Tax Act. For its purposes, the Company intends to 
allocate $11.20 to each Common Share and $0.80 to each one-half of an IPO Warrant. The CRA is not bound by a Holder’s 
allocation. Holders are encouraged to consult their own tax advisors in this regard. 

The adjusted cost base to each Holder of a Common Share comprising part of a Unit acquired pursuant to the Offering will be 
determined by averaging the cost of such Common Share with the adjusted cost base to such Holder of all other Common 
Shares (if any) held by the Holder as capital property immediately prior to the acquisition. 

Exercise of an IPO Warrant 

No gain or loss will be realized by a Holder upon the exercise of an IPO Warrant to acquire a Common Share. When an IPO 
Warrant is exercised, the Holder’s cost of the Common Share acquired thereby will be equal to the aggregate of the Holder’s 
adjusted cost base of such IPO Warrant and the exercise price paid for the Common Share. The Holder’s adjusted cost base of 
the Common Share so acquired will be determined by averaging the cost of the Common Share with the adjusted cost base to 
the Holder of all Common Shares held as capital property by the Holder immediately before the acquisition of the Common 
Share. 

Taxation of Resident Holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants 

This section of the summary applies to a Holder who, at all relevant times, is, or is deemed to be, resident in Canada for the 
purposes of the Tax Act (a “Resident Holder”). 

Dividends on Common Shares 

Dividends on Common Shares, and amounts deemed under the Tax Act to be dividends, received by a Resident Holder that is 
an individual (other than certain trusts) will be included in income and will be subject to the gross-up and dividend tax credit 
rules normally applicable under the Tax Act to taxable dividends received from taxable Canadian corporations, including the 
enhanced gross-up and dividend tax credit in respect of dividends designated by the Company as “eligible dividends”. There 
may be limitations on the ability of the Company to designate dividends as “eligible dividends”. The gross-up and dividend tax 
credit rules do not apply to taxable dividends received by a trust in a year to the extent that such dividends are included in 
computing the income of a non-resident beneficiary of such trust. 

Dividends received or deemed to be received on a Common Share by a Resident Holder that is a corporation will be included 
in such Resident Holder’s income for the taxation year and will generally also be deductible in computing its taxable income 
for that taxation year. In certain circumstances, subsection 55(2) of the Tax Act may treat a taxable dividend received or deemed 
to be received by a Resident Holder that is a corporation as proceeds of disposition or a capital gain. Resident Holders that are 
corporations are urged to consult their own tax advisors having regard to their particular circumstances. 
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A Resident Holder that is a “private corporation” or a “subject corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) will generally be liable 
to pay a tax under Part IV of the Tax Act on dividends received or deemed to be received on the Common Shares to the extent 
such dividends are deductible in computing the Resident Holder’s taxable income for the taxation year. Such tax may be 
refunded in certain circumstances. 

Dispositions of Common Shares or IPO Warrants. 

Generally, upon a disposition or deemed disposition of Common Shares or IPO Warrants (which does not include the exercise 
of an IPO Warrant, and excluding a disposition arising on the expiring of an IPO Warrant), a capital gain (or capital loss) will 
be realized by a Resident Holder to the extent that the proceeds of disposition are greater (or less) than the adjusted cost base 
of the Common Share or the IPO Warrant, as applicable, to the Resident Holder immediately before the disposition and any 
reasonable costs of disposition. Such capital gain (or capital loss) will be subject to the treatment described below under the 
heading “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Taxation of Resident Holders of Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants – Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 

Expiry of an IPO Warrant 

The expiry of an unexercised IPO Warrant generally will result in a capital loss to the Resident Holder equal to the adjusted 
cost base of the IPO Warrant to the Resident Holder immediately before its expiry. The taxation of capital losses is described 
below under the heading “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations – Taxation of Resident Holders of Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants – Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses”. 

Taxation of Capital Gains and Capital Losses 

One-half of a capital gain (a “Taxable Capital Gain”) must generally be included in a Resident Holder’s income in the year 
of disposition. One-half of a capital loss (an “Allowable Capital Loss”) must generally be deducted by a Resident Holder only 
against Taxable Capital Gains realized in that taxation year. Allowable Capital Losses in excess of Taxable Capital Gains for 
a taxation year may be carried back and deducted in any of the three preceding taxation years or carried forward and deducted 
in any subsequent taxation year against net Taxable Capital Gains realized in such years to the extent and in the circumstances 
described in the Tax Act. If the Resident Holder is a corporation, any such capital loss realized on the sale of Common Shares 
may, in certain circumstances be reduced by the amount of any dividends, including deemed dividends, which have been 
received on such Common Shares. Analogous rules may apply where a corporation is a member of a partnership or a beneficiary 
of a trust that owns Common Shares, directly or indirectly through a partnership or a trust. Such Resident Holders should 
consult their own tax advisors. 

Refundable Tax 

A Resident Holder that is throughout the year a “Canadian-controlled private corporation” (as defined in the Tax Act) may be 
liable to pay a refundable tax on its “aggregate investment income”, which is defined in the Tax Act to include an amount in 
respect of a Taxable Capital Gain arising from the disposition of a Common Share or an IPO Warrant. 

Alternative Minimum Tax 

Taxable dividends received or deemed to be received, and capital gains realized by, a Resident Holder who is an individual 
(including certain trusts) may give rise to liability for alternative minimum tax. Resident Holders who are individuals should 
consult their own tax advisors. 

Taxation of Non-Resident Holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants 

This section of the summary applies to a Holder who, at all relevant times, is not (and is not deemed to be) resident in Canada 
and who does not use or hold (and is not deemed to use or hold) Common Shares and IPO Warrants in, or in the course of, 
carrying on a business in Canada (a “Non-Resident Holder”). This discussion does not apply to: (i) a Non-Resident Holder 
that carries on (or is deemed to carry on) an insurance business in Canada and elsewhere; or (ii) an authorized foreign bank (as 
defined in the Tax Act). Such Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors. 

Dividends on the Common Shares 

Canadian withholding tax at a rate of 25% (subject to reduction under the provisions of any applicable income tax treaty or 
convention) will be payable on the gross amount of dividends paid or credited (or deemed to be paid or credited) on the Common 
Shares to a Non-Resident Holder. The rate of withholding tax applicable to a dividend paid on the Common Shares to a Non-
Resident Holder who is a resident of the United States for purposes of the Canada-United States Tax Convention (1980) (the 
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“Convention”), beneficially owns the dividend, and qualifies for the full benefits of the Convention, will generally be reduced 
to 15%. 

The Company reserves the right to require Non-Resident Holders who wish to claim the benefits of an applicable tax treaty or 
convention to provide certification of eligibility for such benefits. 

Dispositions of Common Shares and IPO Warrants 

A Non-Resident Holder will generally not be subject to tax under the Tax Act in respect of any capital gain realized by such 
holder on a disposition (or deemed disposition) of Common Shares or IPO Warrants provided that the Common Shares or IPO 
Warrants, as applicable, are not “taxable Canadian property” of the Non-Resident Holder for purposes of the Tax Act. Provided 
the Common Shares are listed on a “designated stock exchange” (which currently includes the TSX), Common Shares and IPO 
Warrants generally will not constitute taxable Canadian property of a Non-Resident Holder unless, at any time during the 60-
month period immediately preceding their disposition by the Non-Resident Holder: (i) 25% or more of the issued shares of any 
class or series of the capital stock of the Company were owned or belonged to any combination of (A) the Non-Resident Holder, 
(B) persons not dealing at arm’s length with the Non-Resident Holder, and (C) partnerships in which the Non-Resident Holder 
or a person not dealing at arm’s length with the Non-Resident Holder holds a membership interest directly or indirectly through 
one or more partnerships; and (ii) more than 50% of the fair market value of the Common Shares was derived, directly or 
indirectly, from one or any combination of (A) real or immoveable property situated in Canada, (B) Canadian resource 
properties (as defined in the Tax Act), (C) timber resource properties (as defined in the Tax Act), or (D) options in respect of, 
or interests in, or for civil law rights in, any such properties whether or not the property exists. 

Even if the Common Shares and IPO Warrants are considered taxable Canadian property of a Non-Resident Holder, a Taxable 
Capital Gain resulting from the disposition (or deemed disposition) of the Common Shares or IPO Warrants will not be included 
in computing the Non-Resident Holder’s income for purposes of the Tax Act if the Common Shares or IPO Warrants, as the 
case may be, are “treaty-protected property” for purposes of the Tax Act. Common Shares and IPO Warrants will generally be 
treaty-protected property if the gain from the disposition (or deemed disposition) of such Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
would, because of an applicable income tax treaty or convention, be exempt from tax under the Tax Act. 

Non-Resident Holders should consult their own tax advisors with respect to whether their Common Shares and IPO Warrants 
are taxable Canadian property or treaty-protected property. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Company and the Units carries a number of risks, many of which are inherent in the Company’s business, 
including the risk that the entire investment may be lost. In addition to all other information set out in this prospectus, the 
following specific factors could materially adversely affect the Company and should be considered when deciding whether to 
make an investment in the Company and the Units. Other risks and uncertainties that the Company does not currently consider 
to be material, or of which the Company is not currently aware, may become important factors that affect the Company’s future 
financial condition and results of operations. The occurrence of any of the risks discussed below could materially adversely 
affect the business, prospects, financial condition, results of operations or cash flow of the Company. The Units are only suitable 
for investors: (i) who understand the potential risk of capital loss; (ii) who have a long-term investment horizon; (iii) for whom 
an investment in the Units is part of a diversified investment program; and (iv) who fully understand and are willing to assume 
the risks involved in such an investment program. Prospective purchasers of Units should carefully consider the following risks 
before investing in the Company and the Units. 

Risk Factors Related to the Offering 

Return on Investment is Not Guaranteed 

There can be no assurance regarding the amount of income to be generated by the Company’s investments. The Common 
Shares and the IPO Warrants are equity securities of the Company and are not fixed-income securities. Unlike fixed-income 
securities, there is no obligation of the Company to distribute to holders of Common Shares a fixed amount or to return the 
initial purchase price of a Common Share on a date in the future. The market value of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants 
will decline if the Company is unable to generate sufficient positive returns on its investment portfolio. 

Absence of a Prior Public Market 

There is currently no public market for the Common Shares and IPO Warrants. The TSX has conditionally approved the listing 
of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on exercise of IPO Warrants) on 
the TSX via the TSX Sandbox, an initiative intended to facilitate listing applications that may not satisfy all requirements and 
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guidelines of the TSX, but due to facts or situations unique to a particular issuer otherwise warrant a listing on the TSX. As the 
Company does not meet the original listing requirements of the TSX set out in Section 309(a) of the TSX Company Manual, 
the TSX has exercised its discretion to waive the requirements for historical earnings and pre-tax cash flow, and has agreed to 
list the Company pursuant to the TSX Sandbox. Listing on the TSX is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing 
requirements of the TSX by August 17, 2021, including, among other things, raising minimum gross proceeds of $100 million 
under the Offering and the distribution of a minimum number of freely tradable Common Shares and IPO Warrants having a 
minimum aggregate market value and held by a minimum number of public holders. It is a condition of Closing that the 
Common Shares and IPO Warrants issued pursuant to the Offering (including the underlying Common Shares issuable on 
exercise of IPO Warrants) are conditionally approved for listing on the TSX. The Company lacks an operating history and there 
is a very limited basis upon which a potential investor can evaluate the Company’s ability to achieve its stated investment 
objective. 

The Offering Price of the Units offered hereunder has been determined by negotiation between the Company and the Agents. 
The price paid for each Common Shares and IPO Warrant may bear no relationship to the price at which the Common Shares 
and IPO Warrants will trade in the public market subsequent to the Offering. The Company cannot predict the price at which 
the Common Shares or IPO Warrants will trade upon Closing, and there can be no assurance that an active trading market will 
develop after Closing or, if developed, that such a market will be sustained at the issue price under the Offering. In addition, if 
an active public market does not develop or is not sustained, investors may have difficulty selling their Common Shares and/or 
IPO Warrants and the prices at which the Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants trade may be adversely affected. 

Potential Volatility of the Price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants 

The market price for Common Shares and IPO Warrants may be volatile and subject to wide fluctuations in response to 
numerous factors, many of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following: (i) actual or anticipated 
fluctuations in the Company’s quarterly results of its underlying investments; (ii) recommendations by securities research 
analysts; (iii) changes in the economic performance or market valuations of other issuers that investors deem comparable to 
the Company; (iv) additions or departures of any of the executive officers and other key personnel of the Company or the 
Manager; (v) sales or perceived sales of additional Common Shares, IPO Warrants or securities convertible or exchangeable 
for Common Shares; (vi) the sale or purchase or attempted sale or purchase by a holder or prospective holder of a sizable 
quantity of Common Shares; (vii) significant acquisitions or business combinations, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or 
capital commitments by or involving the Company or its competitors; and (viii) news reports relating to trends, concerns, 
technological or competitive developments, regulatory changes and other related issues affecting the Company’s industry, 
target markets or the global economy in general. 

Financial markets have experienced significant price and volume fluctuations that have particularly affected the market prices 
of equity securities of public entities and that have, in many cases, been unrelated to the operating performance, underlying 
asset values or prospects of such entities. Accordingly, the market price of the Common Shares and/or the IPO Warrants may 
decline even if the Company’s operating results, underlying asset values or prospects have not changed. Additionally, these 
factors, as well as other related factors, may cause decreases in asset values that are deemed to be other than temporary, which 
may result in impairment losses. As well, certain institutional investors may base their investment decisions on consideration 
of the Company’s environmental, governance and social practices and performance against such institutions’ respective 
investment guidelines and criteria, and failure to meet such criteria may result in a limited or no investment in the Common 
Shares and/or the IPO Warrants by those institutions, which could adversely affect the trading price of the Common Shares 
and/or the IPO Warrants. 

There can be no assurance that continuing fluctuations in price and volume will not occur. If such increased levels of volatility 
and market turmoil continue for a protracted period of time, the Company’s operations and the trading price of the Common 
Shares and the IPO Warrants may be materially adversely affected. 

Dilution 

Where, in the opinion of the Board and management of the Company, additional capital is necessary or desirable to carry on 
the investment activities of the Company, the Company may create and issue additional securities at a price and otherwise on 
terms and conditions determined by the Board. Depending on the price at which such additional securities of the Company are 
offered for sale, the issuance of such additional securities may have a dilutive effect on the interests of shareholders. The 
number of Common Shares that the Company is authorized to issue is unlimited. Shareholders do not have any pre-emptive 
rights. Except as described under the heading “Plan of Distribution – Restrictions on Issuances of Common Shares”, the 
Company may, in its sole discretion, issue additional Common Shares, IPO Warrants or other securities from time to time 
(including pursuant to any equity-based compensation plans that may be introduced in the future), and the interests of 
shareholders may be diluted thereby. Further, the Company may from time to time finance portfolio investments using the 
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Company’s capital structure, including issuing Common Shares, to Portfolio Companies. This will dilute the interests of 
shareholders. 

The Company cannot predict the size of future issuances of Common Shares or other securities or the effect that future issuances 
and sales of Common Shares or other securities will have on the market price of the Common Shares and/or the IPO Warrants. 
Issuances of a substantial number of additional Common Shares or other securities, or the perception that such issuances could 
occur, may adversely affect prevailing market prices for the Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants. The initial assembly of 
Portfolio Company investments are anticipated to be made using the net proceeds of the Offering and the Management 
Investment, and the Company anticipates that approximately 90% of such net proceeds will be invested within 3 years from 
the Closing Date. See “Use of Proceeds”. The Company expects that additional Portfolio Company investments will be financed 
using any proceeds received on or from monetizing existing Portfolio Company investments, by the issuance of Common 
Shares and/or securities convertible into or exchangeable for Common Shares or through implementation of a credit facility or 
similar indebtedness. The Company expects to be able to generate sufficient funds for future growth in net Portfolio Company 
investments by utilizing these sources of funds. 

In creating and issuing additional securities of the Company, the Board will comply with the requirements of applicable 
securities law and the TSX or any other public listing exchange on which the Common Shares or the IPO Warrants may 
subsequently be listed, as the case may be, and will act in accordance with its fiduciary duties as Directors. 

Market Discount 

The price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants will fluctuate with market conditions and other factors (see “Risk 
Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering – Potential Volatility of the Price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants” 
above). If a holder of Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants sells its Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants, the price received 
may be more or less than the original investment. The Common Shares and/or IPO Warrants may trade at a discount from their 
book value. The Common Shares and the IPO Warrants may trade at prices that are, when aggregated, less than the Offering 
Price. 

Limited Control 

Holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants will have limited control over changes in the Company’s policies and operations, 
which increases the uncertainty and risks of an investment in the Company. The Board will determine major policies, including 
policies regarding financing, growth, debt capitalization and any future dividends to shareholders. Generally, the Board may 
amend or revise these and other policies without a vote of the holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants. Holders of 
Common Shares will only have a right to vote, as a class, in the limited circumstances described elsewhere in this prospectus. 
Holders of IPO Warrants will not have any rights to vote (except in the case of an amendment or supplement to the Warrant 
Indenture that adversely affects the interests of the holders of IPO Warrants as described elsewhere in this prospectus), and 
consequently, the approval of holders of IPO Warrants will not be required for the taking of any corporate action. The Board’s 
broad discretion in setting policies and the limited ability of holders of Common Shares and the IPO Warrants to exert control 
over those policies increases the uncertainty and risks of an investment in the Company. 

The IPO Warrants May Not Be “In The Money” 

There can be no assurance that the market price of the Common Shares will exceed the exercise price of the IPO Warrants, 
being $15.00 per Common Share during the term of the IPO Warrants or, if it does, that such price will be sustained. If the 
market price of the Common Shares does not exceed the exercise price of the IPO Warrants, purchasers of Units may not be in 
a position to realize any economic benefit from the IPO Warrants. 

Financial Reporting and Other Public Company Requirements 

Upon receiving a final receipt for this prospectus, the Company will become subject to reporting and other obligations under 
applicable Canadian securities laws and rules of any stock exchange on which the Common Shares and IPO Warrants are then-
listed, including National Instrument 52-109 − Certification of Disclosure in Issuers’ Annual and Interim Filings. These 
reporting and other obligations will place significant demands on the Company’s management, administrative, operational and 
accounting resources. In order to meet such requirements, the Company has appointed the Manager, pursuant to the 
Management Agreement to, among other things, establish systems, implement financial and management controls, reporting 
systems and procedures and hire qualified accounting and finance staff. However, if the Company or the Manager is unable to 
accomplish any such necessary objectives in a timely and effective manner, the Company’s ability to comply with its financial 
reporting obligations and other rules applicable to reporting issuers could be impaired. Moreover, any failure to maintain 
effective internal controls could cause the Company to fail to satisfy its reporting obligations or result in material misstatements 
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in its financial statements. If the Company cannot provide reliable financial reports or prevent fraud, its reputation and operating 
results could be materially adversely affected which could also cause investors to lose confidence in the Company’s reported 
financial information, which could result in a reduction in the trading price of the Common Shares and IPO Warrants. 

The Company does not expect that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and internal controls over financial 
reporting will prevent all error or fraud. A control system, no matter how well-designed and implemented, can provide only 
reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system 
must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. 
Due to the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control 
issues within an organization are detected. The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision making can 
be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of simple errors or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by individual 
acts of certain persons, by collusion of two or more people or by management override of the controls. Due to the inherent 
limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and may not be detected in a timely 
manner or at all. 

Broad Discretion over the Use of Proceeds from the Offering

Subject to the Voluntary Measures, the Company will have significant discretion as to the use of the net proceeds of the Offering 
and could spend the proceeds in ways that do not enhance the value of the Common Shares and/or the IPO Warrants. For 
example, the Company’s investment of the net proceeds of the Offering may not yield a favourable rate of return, or may even 
be lost in their entirety if the businesses in which the Company invests were to fail. 

Not Subject to the SPAC Rules of the TSX 

Although the Company has voluntarily adopted certain investor protection measures applicable to SPACs under the TSX’s 
SPAC rules, even if the Common Shares and IPO Warrants are listed on the TSX, the Company will not otherwise be subject 
to such rules and therefore shareholders will not be afforded certain of the investor protection measures that are required of 
SPACs, including that: (a) shareholders will not have the right to pre-approve any investments by the Company; and (b) there 
will be no mechanism for the Company to return funds to shareholders in the event that any of the net proceeds of the Offering 
are not deployed within a fixed period of time. 

Trading Price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants Relative to Book Value 

The Company cannot predict whether the Common Shares and/or the IPO Warrants will trade at a discount from, a premium 
to, or at the Book Value. As a result, the return experienced by a shareholder may differ from the underlying financial 
performance of the Company’s holdings. 

The market price of the Common Shares and/or the IPO Warrants at any given point may not accurately reflect the Company’s 
long-term value. The market price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants will be determined by, among other things, 
the relative demand and supply of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants in the market, the Company’s investment 
performance and investor perception of the Company’s overall attractiveness as an investment as compared with other 
investment alternatives. 

The market price of the Common Shares and the IPO Warrants will likely be affected by other factors outside of the control of 
the management of the Company, including but not limited to, global macroeconomic developments, and market perceptions 
and expectations regarding the attractiveness of various economies, industries or corporations in which the Company invests. 
See “Risk Factors – Risk Factors Related to the Offering – Potential Volatility of the Price of the Common Shares and the IPO 
Warrants” above. 

Risk Factors Related to the Business of the Company 

Newly-Formed Company with No Operating History or Revenues 

The Company is a recently formed company with no operating results, and will not commence operations until it receives the 
net proceeds of the Offering. As the Company lacks an operating history, there is a very limited basis upon which a potential 
investor can evaluate the Company’s ability to achieve its stated investment objective. The Company currently has no binding 
plans, arrangements or understandings with any prospective investment and may be unable to complete one or more investments 
following Closing. If the Company fails to invest in one or more businesses following Closing, such uninvested funds will 
principally be invested in Permitted Low-Risk Investments which are not expected to generate significant operating revenues. 
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Unknown Merits and Risks of Future Investments 

As the Company has not yet identified any specific target businesses in which to invest, there is no basis for a prospective 
investor in the Units to evaluate the possible merits or risks of any particular target company’s operations, results of operations, 
cash flows, liquidity, financial condition or prospects. Although the Company will endeavour to evaluate the risks inherent in 
a particular investment, there can be no assurance that the Company will properly ascertain or assess all of the significant risks 
of such investment or that the Company will have adequate time or access to complete appropriate due diligence investigations. 
Furthermore, some of the risks may be outside of the Company’s control and leave the Company with no ability to mitigate or 
control the chances that those risks will adversely impact the target company. 

Substantial Loss of Capital 

The investments to be made by the Company are speculative in nature and purchasers of Units under this prospectus could 
experience a loss of all or substantially all of their investment in the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company 
will be able to make and realize investments or generate positive returns. There can also be no assurance that the returns 
generated, if any, will be commensurate with the risks of investing in the types of investments contemplated by the Company’s 
investment objectives. As such, an investment in the Company should only be considered by persons who can afford a loss of 
their entire investment. 

Holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants Are Not Entitled to Vote on the Company’s Proposed Investments 

In determining how best to invest the net proceeds of the Offering, the Company will be relying on the Manager to source and 
identify suitable investments. Accordingly, holders of Common Shares and IPO Warrants will not be afforded the opportunity 
to either approve or oppose an investment opportunity of the Company. Thus, the Company may consummate any such 
investment even if a majority of the holders of its outstanding equity securities do not favour the particular investment. 

Long-Term Nature of Investment 

An investment in Common Shares and IPO Warrants requires a long-term commitment with no certainty of return. Some 
investments to be made by the Company are not expected to generate current income. Therefore, the return of capital to the 
Company and the realization of gains, if any, from the Company’s investments will generally occur only upon the partial or 
complete realization or disposition of such investment. While an investment of the Company may be realized or disposed of at 
any time, it is generally expected that the ultimate realization or disposition of most of the Company’s investments will not 
occur for a number of years after each such investment is made. 

Potential Lack of Investment Diversification 

Other than the Investment Concentration Restriction, the Company will not have any specific limits on the holdings in securities 
of issuers, or in any one industry or size of issuer. Additionally, the Company intends to primarily focus on companies located 
in Canada and the United States. Accordingly, the securities in which the Company invests may not be diversified across many 
sectors and will be concentrated in specific regions or countries, such as Canada and the United States. The Company may also 
have a significant portion of investments in the securities of a single issuer. 

A relatively high concentration of assets could result in a portfolio that may be more vulnerable to fluctuations in value resulting 
from adverse conditions that may affect the economy, a particular industry, or a segment of issuers than would otherwise be 
the case if the Company were required to maintain wide diversification. Consequently, significant declines in the fair value of 
the Company’s larger investments will produce a material decline in the Company’s reported earnings. 

Financial Market Fluctuations and Deterioration of Political and Market Conditions 

In accordance with the Company’s business objective and investment strategies, the Company will invest in growth to late 
stage private operating businesses, with long-term growth potential, which private businesses may become public, or may be 
acquired by a public issuer. The Company would not be precluded from owning an investment in a public issuer. With respect 
to publicly traded issuers, fluctuations in the market price of such securities may negatively affect the value of such investments. 
In addition, general instability in the public debt market and other securities markets may impede the ability of businesses to 
refinance their debt through selling new securities, thereby limiting the Company’s investment options with respect to a 
particular portfolio investment. 

To the extent that the economy deteriorates for an extended period of time, one or more of the Company’s investments could 
be materially harmed. In addition, the Company’s investments may be affected by changes in political and market conditions, 
such as interest rates, availability of credit, inflation rates, changes in laws, and national and international circumstances. Other 
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developments, such as war and occupation, terrorism and related geopolitical risks, natural disasters, and public health 
emergencies, including an epidemic or pandemic, may lead to increased short-term market volatility, unusual liquidity 
concerns, and may have adverse long-term effects on world economies and markets generally, including Canadian, United 
States and other economies and securities markets. The effects of these or similar events on the economies and securities 
markets of countries cannot be predicted. For example, the recent spread of COVID-19 has caused volatility in the global 
financial markets, resulted in significant disruptions to global business activity and caused a slowdown in the global economy. 
These events could also have an acute effect on individual issuers or related groups of issuers. These risks could also adversely 
affect securities markets, fixed income markets, inflation and other factors relating to the portfolio investments of the Company. 
Unexpected changes in these factors could negatively impair the Company’s financial condition, profitability and cash flows, 
and may also have a negative effect on the valuation of, and the ability of the Company to exit or partially divest from, 
investment positions. 

While the precise impact of the recent COVID-19 outbreak remains unknown, it has introduced uncertainty and volatility in 
global markets and economies. The duration of the COVID-19 outbreak and its impact cannot be determined with certainty, 
but it may adversely affect the performance of the Company or one or more of the businesses in which it investments. 

Depending on economic and market conditions, the Company may incur substantial realized and unrealized losses in future 
periods, all of which may materially adversely affect its results of operations and the value of any investment in the Company. 

Failure to Execute the Company’s Investment Strategies 

Although the Company intends to make long-term investments that achieve superior risk-adjusted investment performance, 
this goal relies on the successful execution of its investment strategies. The successful execution of the Company’s investment 
strategies is uncertain as it requires suitable opportunities, careful timing and business judgment, as well as sufficient resources 
to make investments and restructure them, if required, notwithstanding difficulties experienced in a particular industry. 

In addition, there is no assurance that the Company will be able to identify suitable or sufficient opportunities that meet its 
investment criteria and be able to make investments at attractive prices to supplement its growth in a timely manner, or at all. 

Making a determination as to the fundamental value and the value-enhancing potential of an investment may involve 
uncertainties and judgmental determinations. The Company may fail to value opportunities accurately or to consider all relevant 
factors that may be necessary or helpful in evaluating an opportunity. There may be certain liabilities, obligations, facts or 
circumstances that are not discovered during the Company’s due diligence prior to the completion of an investment. 

The Company may fail to close on a potential investment opportunity for any number of reasons, including those beyond the 
Company’s control. Failure to close on a potential investment may result in a loss of substantial management time and attention 
and of significant accounting, legal or other fees and expenses. 

Further, the Company may underestimate the costs necessary to bring an investment up to standards established for its intended 
market position, may be exposed to unexpected risks and costs associated with its investments, and/or may be unable to quickly 
and effectively integrate new investments into its existing operations or exit from the investment on favorable terms. 

Pace of Completing Investments 

The Company’s business is, with the assistance of the Manager, to identify suitable investment opportunities, pursuing such 
opportunities and consummating such opportunities. If the Company is unable to source and manage its investments effectively, 
it would adversely impact the Company’s financial position and earnings. There can be no assurance as to the pace of finding 
and implementing investment opportunities. 

Conversely, there may only be a limited number of suitable investment opportunities at any given time. This may cause the 
Company, while it deploys cash proceeds (from the Offering, the Management Investment, future inflows of capital, or 
otherwise) not yet invested, to hold significant levels of cash, cash equivalents or Permitted Low-Risk Investments. A lengthy 
period prior to which capital is deployed may adversely affect the Company’s overall performance. 

Control or Significant Influence Risk 

Although the Company will endeavour to make investments that allow the Company to acquire control or exercise significant 
influence over management of its Portfolio Companies and the strategic direction of its portfolio, there can be no assurance 
that all investments will provide the Company with a degree of influence or control over their portfolio investments. In addition, 
the exercise of control over a Portfolio Company imposes additional risks of liability for environmental damage, product 
defects, failure to supervise management and other types of liability in which the limited liability characteristic of business 
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operations may be ignored. The exercise of control over an investment could expose the assets of the Company to claims by 
such businesses, its shareholders and its creditors. While the Company intends to manage its investments in a manner that will 
minimize the exposure to these risks, the possibility of successful claims cannot be precluded. 

Minority Investments 

The Company may make minority equity investments in businesses in which the Company does not participate in the 
management or otherwise control the business or affairs of such businesses. The Company will monitor the performance of 
each investment and maintain an ongoing dialogue with each business management team, however, it will be the responsibility 
of the management of the business to operate the business on a day-to-day basis, and the Company may not have the right or 
ability to control or otherwise influence such business. The Company will not control the business and affairs of all Portfolio 
Companies. Accordingly, these companies may undertake activities which the Company does not believe is in their best 
interests. 

Ranking of Company Investments and Structural Subordination 

The Company will invest in private equity and debt securities, some of which may ultimately become public equity and debt 
securities. Portfolio investments may have, or may be permitted to incur, other debt that ranks equally with, or senior to, the 
debt in which the Company invests. By their terms, such debt instruments may entitle the holders to receive payment of interest 
or principal on or before the dates on which the Company is entitled to receive payments with respect to the debt instruments 
in which the Company invests. Also, in the event of insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, reorganization or bankruptcy of a 
portfolio business, holders of debt instruments ranking senior to the Company’s investment in that portfolio business would 
typically be entitled to receive payment in full before the Company receives any distribution. After repaying such senior 
creditors, such portfolio business may not have any remaining assets to use to repay its obligation to the Company. In the case 
of debt ranking equally with debt instruments in which the Company invests, the Company would have to share on an equal 
basis any distributions with other creditors holding such debt in the event of an insolvency, liquidation, dissolution, 
reorganization or bankruptcy of the relevant portfolio business. 

Follow-On Investments 

Following the initial investment in a business, the Company may be called upon to provide additional funds or have the 
opportunity to increase its investment in such business through the exercise of a warrant or other right to purchase securities or 
to fund additional investments through such business. There is no assurance that the Company will make follow-on investments 
or that the Company will have sufficient funds to make any such investment. Even if the Company has sufficient capital to 
make a desired follow-on investment, the Company may elect not to make such investment, as the Company may not want to 
increase its level of risk, the Company may prefer other opportunities or the Company may be restricted from doing so under 
its investment guidelines. Any decision by the Company not to make follow-on investments or its inability to make such follow-
on investments may have a negative impact on the portfolio business in need of such investment, may result in a missed 
opportunity for the Company to increase its participation in a successful operation or may reduce the expected return on the 
investment. 

Prepayments of Debt Investments 

Debt investments made by the Company may be repaid or prepaid by Portfolio Companies prior to maturity. When this occurs, 
the Company will generally reinvest these proceeds in Permitted Low-Risk Investments, pending their future investment in 
new Portfolio Companies. This reinvestment will typically have substantially lower yields than the debt being prepaid and the 
Company could experience significant delays in reinvesting these amounts. Any future investment in a new portfolio business 
may also be at lower yields than the debt that was repaid. As a result, the Company’s results of operations could be adversely 
affected if one or more Portfolio Companies elect to prepay amounts owed to the Company. Downward changes in interest 
rates may cause prepayments to occur at a faster than expected rate, thereby effectively shortening the maturity of the security 
and making the security less likely to be an income-producing instrument. Additionally, prepayments, net of prepayment fees 
(if any), could negatively impact the Company’s return on equity. 

Risks upon Disposition of Investments 

In connection with the disposition of an investment in a Portfolio Company, the Company may be required to make 
representations about the business and financial affairs of the business, or may be responsible as a selling securityholder for 
the contents of disclosure documents under applicable securities laws. The Company may be required to indemnify the 
borrowers, investors or purchasers of such investment or underwriters to the extent that any such representation turns out to be 
incorrect, inaccurate or misleading. 
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Bridge Financings 

From time to time, the Company may lend to businesses on a short-term, unsecured basis in anticipation of a future issuance 
of equity or long-term securities. Such bridge loans will typically be convertible into a more permanent, long-term security. It 
is possible, however, for reasons not always in the Company’s control, that such long-term securities may not be issued and 
such bridge loans may remain outstanding. In such an event, the interest rate on such loans may not adequately reflect the risk 
associated with the unsecured position taken by the Company. 

Reliance on Key Personnel and Risks Associated with the Management Agreement 

The management and governance of the Company depends on the services of certain key personnel, including the Manager 
and certain executive officers of the Company. The loss of the services of any key personnel could have a material adverse 
effect on the Company and materially adversely affect the Company’s financial condition and results of operations. 

The Company will rely on the Manager with respect to the sourcing and advising with respect to its investments. Consequently, 
the Company’s ability to achieve its investment objectives depends in large part on the Manager and its ability to identify and 
advise the Company on attractive investment opportunities. This means that the Company’s investments are dependent upon 
the Manager’s business contacts, its ability to successfully hire, train, supervise, manage and retain its personnel and its ability 
to maintain its operating systems. If the Company were to lose the services provided by the Manager or its key personnel or if 
the Manager fails to satisfactorily perform its obligations under the Management Agreement, the Company’s investments and 
growth prospects may decline. 

The Company may be unable to duplicate the quality and depth of management from the Manager if the Company were to 
source and manage its own investments or if it were to hire another manager. Prospective investors should not purchase any 
securities of the Company unless they are prepared to rely on the members of the Board, the Company’s executive officers and 
the Manager. The Management Agreement may be terminated in certain circumstances and is only renewable on certain 
conditions. Accordingly, there can be no assurance that the Company will continue to have the benefit of the Manager’s 
services, including its personnel, or that the Manager will continue to be the Company’s manager. If the Manager should cease 
for whatever reason to be the manager of the Company, the cost of obtaining substitute services may be greater than the fees 
the Company will pay the Manager under the Management Agreement, and this may adversely affect the Company’s ability to 
meet its objectives and execute its strategy which could materially and adversely affect the Company’s cash flows, operating 
results and financial condition. 

Effect of Fees 

The Company will be required to pay the Management Fee and Performance Fee, if any, to the Manager. From time to time, 
the payment of such fees will reduce the actual returns to holders of Common Shares. A portion of these fees will be payable 
to the Manager regardless of whether the Company produces positive investment returns. 

Performance Fee could induce the Manager to make Speculative Investments 

The Performance Fee that may be payable to the Manager may create an incentive for the Manager to make or recommend 
investments that are more speculative or involve more risk than would be the case in the absence of such a compensation 
arrangement. The way in which the Performance Fee payable is determined may encourage the Manager to use or recommend 
the use of leverage to increase the return on the Company’s investments. Increased use of leverage and the corresponding 
increased risk of replacement of that leverage at maturity could increase the likelihood of default, which could materially and 
adversely affect the Company’s cash flows, operating results and financial condition. 

Reliance on the Performance of Underlying Assets 

The Company will not have any operations, activities, or other active businesses other than the acquisition, retention and 
management of its investments. Accordingly, although the Company generally intends to take an active role in overseeing and 
monitoring its investments, factors unique to its Portfolio Companies, such as changes in operating performance, profitability, 
financial position, creditworthiness, management, strategic direction, achievement of goals, mergers, acquisitions, divestitures, 
or distribution policies, may affect the value of the Company’s investments, and in turn, the overall performance of the 
Company. In addition, a decline in the state of the capital markets, changes in law and/or other events, could have a negative 
effect on the value of the Company’s investments and the Company. 

Changes that negatively impact the Company’s portfolio investments could adversely affect the Company’s ability to sell its 
investments for a capital gain or to otherwise earn revenue. 
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Operating and Financial Risks of Investments 

Businesses in which the Company invests could deteriorate as a result of, among other factors, an adverse development in their 
business operations, a change in the competitive environment or an economic downturn. As a result, businesses that the 
Company expects to be stable may operate at a loss or have significant variations in operating results, may require substantial 
additional capital to support their operations or to maintain their competitive position, or may otherwise have a weak financial 
condition or experience financial distress. In some cases, the success of the Company’s investment strategy will depend, in 
part, on the ability of the Company to restructure and effect improvements in the operations of a business in which it has 
invested. The activity of identifying and implementing restructuring programs and operating improvements at businesses entails 
a high degree of uncertainty. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to successfully identify and implement 
such restructuring programs and improvements. 

Allocation of Personnel 

The Manager’s officers and employees may not be able to devote all of their business time and attention to the Company as 
they may be involved in other operations and businesses which the Manager undertakes from time to time. The Manager’s 
officers and employees will devote such time and attention to the business of the Company as they reasonably consider 
necessary to effectively carry out the operations of the Company and satisfactorily perform its obligations under the 
Management Agreement. 

Potential Conflicts of Interest 

The Company will rely on the Manager’s expertise in identifying and advising on investment opportunities, transaction 
execution and asset management capabilities. The Manager may also provide similar services to others. The services to be 
provided by the Manager under the Management Agreement are to be provided on a non-exclusive basis to the Company, and 
accordingly, there are no restrictions on the Manager from providing similar services to other entities or from engaging in other 
activities in the future (whether or not their investment objectives, strategies and policies are similar to those of the Company). 
The Company has entered into the Non-Competition Arrangements with the Management Investors, which addresses certain 
conflicts of interest. See “The Manager – Non-Competition Arrangements”. The Manager will allocate investment 
opportunities among the Company and the Manager’s other clients and businesses in accordance with the Business Opportunity 
Allocation Agreement (see “The Manager – Allocation of Investment Opportunities”). As a result of this agreement, the 
Company may, from time to time, be precluded from participating in an investment opportunity available to the Manager that 
would otherwise be compatible with the Company’s investment objectives and restrictions. In addition, although allocation of 
investment opportunities will be made in accordance with the Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement, the Manager may 
encounter conflicts of interest when allocating investment opportunities among the Company and the Manager’s other clients 
and businesses. 

The Manager is not restricted from forming additional investments vehicles, entering into other management relationships, 
exercising investment responsibility, engaging in other business (or non-business) activities or directly or indirectly purchasing, 
selling, holding or otherwise dealing with any securities for the account of any such other business or for other clients 
(including, without limitation, for or on behalf of clients that invest or may invest in the Company). These activities may be in 
competition with the Company or involve substantial time and resources of the Manager. These activities, including the 
establishment of other investment vehicles which may be more, similarly or less concentrated than the Company, may give rise 
to additional conflicts of interest. 

In addition, members of the Board will, from time to time, in their individual capacities, deal with parties with whom the 
Company may be dealing, or may be seeking investments similar to those desired by the Company. It is possible that the 
interests of these persons could conflict with those of the Company. Applicable corporate law contains conflict of interest 
provisions requiring members of the Board to disclose their interests in certain contracts and transactions and to refrain from 
voting on those matters. 

The Liability of the Manager is Limited and the Company and the Manager have not been Represented by Separate Legal 
Counsel 

Under the Management Agreement, the Manager does not assume any responsibility other than to perform the obligations, 
duties and responsibilities described in the Management Agreement. As a result, the right of the Company to recover against 
the Manager may be limited to damages arising out of the performance or non-performance of the responsibilities explicitly 
set forth in the Management Agreement. In addition, the Management Agreement contains provisions exonerating the Manager 
and related persons from liability in connection with the performance of obligations under the Management Agreement or 
indemnifying the Manager or related persons under certain circumstances, even if the Manager has been negligent. These 
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protections from liability may result in the Manager tolerating greater risks when making investment-related decisions or 
providing investment-related advice than would otherwise be the case, including when determining whether to use or advise 
with respect to leverage in connection with investments. See “The Manager – Management Agreement”. 

The Company and the Manager have not been represented by separate legal counsel in connection with the structuring of the 
Company, its operations, contractual relationships and the Offering, and such terms have not been negotiated at arm’s length. 

Reputation 

The Company could be negatively impacted if there is misconduct or alleged misconduct by its personnel or those of the 
Manager or the Portfolio Companies in which the Company invests, including historical misconduct. Risks associated with 
misconduct at Portfolio Companies is heightened in cases where it does not have legal control or significant influence over a 
particular Portfolio Company or is not otherwise involved in actively managing a Portfolio Company. In such situations, given 
the Company’s ownership position and affiliation with the Portfolio Company, it may still be negatively impacted from a 
reputational perspective through this association. In addition, even where the Company has control over a Portfolio Company, 
if it is a newly acquired Portfolio Company that the Company is in the process of integrating then the Company may face 
reputational risks related to historical or current misconduct or alleged misconduct at such Portfolio Company for a period of 
time. 

There is a risk that employees of the Manager could engage in misconduct that adversely affects its reputation, business and 
ability to successfully execute its investment strategy and which, in turn, may harm the operations and financial condition of 
the Company. The Manager’s business often requires that it deal with confidential matters relating to companies on which it 
may provide advice or invest. It is not always possible to detect or deter employee misconduct, and the precautions the Manager 
takes to detect and prevent these types of activities may not be effective in all cases. If any of the Manager’s employees were 
to engage in misconduct or were to be accused of such misconduct, whether or not substantiated, the Manager’s business and 
reputation could be adversely affected and a loss of investor confidence could result, which could materially adversely affect 
the Company. 

Valuation Methodologies Involve Subjective Judgments 

For purposes of IFRS-compliant financial reporting, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities will be valued in accordance 
with IFRS. Accordingly, the Company is required to follow a specific framework for measuring the fair value of its assets and 
liabilities and, in its audited financial statements, to provide certain disclosures regarding the use of fair value measurements. 

The fair value measurement accounting guidance establishes a hierarchical disclosure framework that ranks the observability 
of market inputs used in measuring financial instruments at fair value. The observability of inputs depends on a number of 
factors, including the type of financial instrument, the characteristics specific to the financial instrument and the state of the 
marketplace, including the existence and transparency of transactions between market participants. Financial instruments with 
readily quoted prices, or for which fair value can be measured from quoted prices in active markets, generally will have a high 
degree of market price observability and less judgment applied in determining fair value. 

A portion of the Company’s investment portfolio will be in the form of securities that are not publicly traded. The fair value of 
securities and other investments that are not publicly traded may not be readily determinable. The Company will value these 
securities quarterly at fair value as determined in good faith by the Company and in accordance with the valuation policies and 
procedures described under “Calculation of Total Assets and Book Value”. However, the Company may be required to value 
its securities at fair value as determined in good faith by the Board to the extent necessary to reflect significant events affecting 
the value of its securities. The Company may utilize the services of an independent valuation firm to aid it in determining the 
fair value of these securities. The types of factors that may be considered in fair value pricing of the Company’s investments 
include the nature and realizable value of any collateral, the portfolio business’ ability to make payments and its earnings, the 
markets in which the portfolio investment does business, comparison to publicly traded companies, discounted cash flow and 
other relevant factors. Because such valuations, and particularly valuations of private securities and private issuers, are 
inherently uncertain, such valuations may fluctuate over short periods of time and may be based on estimates, and the 
Company’s determinations of fair value may differ materially from the values that would have been used if a ready market for 
these securities existed. The value of the Total Assets could be materially adversely affected if the Company’s determinations 
regarding the fair value of its investments were materially higher than the values it ultimately realizes upon the disposition of 
such securities. 

The value of the Company’s investment portfolio may also be affected by changes in accounting standards, policies or practices. 
From time to time, the Company will be required to adopt new or revised accounting standards or guidance. It is possible that 
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future accounting standards that the Company is required to adopt could change the valuation of the Company’s assets and 
liabilities. 

Due to a wide variety of market factors and the nature of certain securities to be held by the Company, there is no guarantee 
that the value determined by the Company or any third-party valuation agents will represent the value that will be realized by 
the Company on the eventual disposition of the investment or that would, in fact, be realized upon an immediate disposition of 
the investment. Moreover, the valuations to be performed by the Company or any third-party valuation agents are inherently 
different from the valuation of the Company’s securities that would be performed if the Company were forced to liquidate all 
or a significant portion of its securities, which liquidation valuation could be materially lower. 

Legal Proceedings 

The Company or its Portfolio Companies may, from time to time, become party to a variety of legal claims and regulatory 
proceedings in Canada, the United States or elsewhere. The existence of such claims against the Company or its affiliates, 
portfolio investments, members of the Board or officers of the Company could have various adverse effects, including the 
incurrence of significant legal expenses defending such claims, even those claims without merit. The Company intends to 
manage day-to-day regulatory and legal risk primarily by implementing appropriate policies, procedures and controls. Internal 
and external legal counsel are also expected to work closely with the Company to identify and mitigate areas of potential 
regulatory and legal risk. 

Foreign Security Risk 

The Company’s investment portfolio may include issuers, domestic or otherwise, with multinational organizations and who 
have significant foreign business and foreign currency risk. The value of these securities may be influenced by foreign 
government policies, lack of information about foreign corporations, political or social instability and the possible levy of 
foreign withholding tax. 

Foreign Exchange Risks 

The Company’s reporting currency is the Canadian dollar. A portion of the Company’s investments may include securities 
denominated in foreign currency. The Company does not intend to implement any measures to hedge such foreign currency 
exposure. Accordingly, the Book Value of the Company’s portfolio will fluctuate depending on the rate of exchange between 
the Canadian dollar and such foreign currencies. The Company may, from time to time, experience gains and losses resulting 
from the fluctuations of foreign currencies, which could impact the Company’s financial condition, profitability or cash flows. 

Investments in Private Issuers 

As the Company intends to focus investing in growth to late stage private issuers in Canada and the United States, the Company 
will invest in the securities of private issuers. Issuers whose securities are not publicly traded are not subject to the disclosure 
and other investor protection requirements that would be applicable if their securities were publicly traded. As minimal public 
information exists about private businesses, the Company could be required to make investment decisions on whether to pursue 
a potential investment in a private business on the basis of limited information, which may result in an investment in a business 
that is not as profitable as the Company initially suspected, if at all. The Company must, therefore, rely on its and the Manager’s 
management team to obtain the information necessary to make an informed investment decision. 

The valuations ascribed to such private securities within the Company’s portfolio will be measured at fair value in accordance 
with IFRS, and the resulting values may differ from values that would have otherwise been used had a ready market existed 
for the investment. The valuation process for these private securities is not based on publicly available prices and is, to a degree, 
subjective in nature. These valuations will be reflected in the Book Value of the equity securities of the Company. 

Opinions From Independent Investment Banks or Accounting Firms Are Not Contemplated 

The Company is not required to obtain an opinion from an independent investment bank or accounting firm that the price the 
Company is paying for a particular investment is fair to the Company from a financial point of view. If such an opinion is not 
obtained, holders of Units will be relying on the judgment of the Board, the Company’s executive officers and the Manager, 
who will determine fair market value based on standards generally accepted by the financial community. Except as required 
by law, the Company has no intention of obtaining an opinion from an independent investment bank or accounting firm prior 
to making each of its investments. 
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Resources Could be Wasted in Researching Investment Opportunities that are not Ultimately Completed 

The investigation of each specific investment opportunity and the negotiation, drafting and execution of the relevant 
agreements, disclosure documents and other instruments requires substantial management time and attention and substantial 
costs for accountants, lawyers and others. In the event that the Company elects not to complete a specific investment, the costs 
incurred up to that point for the proposed transaction are not likely to be recoverable by the Company. Furthermore, in the 
event the Company reaches an agreement relating to a specific investment, it may fail to complete such an investment for any 
number of reasons, including those beyond the Company’s control. Any such occurrence will likely also result in a loss to the 
Company of the related costs incurred for accountants, lawyers and others. 

Material, Non-Public Information 

The Company may substantially participate in, or influence the conduct, affairs or management of, a Portfolio Company. 
Directors, officers, employees, designees, associates or affiliates of the Company or the Manager may, from time to time, serve 
as directors of, or in a similar capacity with, a Portfolio Company. By reason of their responsibilities in connection with these 
and other activities, certain Company or Manager personnel may acquire confidential and/or material non-public information 
or be restricted from initiating transactions in certain securities. The Company will not be free to act upon any such information. 
In addition, these individuals may become subject to trading restrictions pursuant to the internal trading policies of such 
businesses. Due to these restrictions, the Company may not be able to initiate a transaction that it otherwise might have initiated 
and may not be able to sell an investment that it otherwise might have sold. 

Illiquid Assets 

In accordance with the Company’s business objective and investment strategies, the Company will invest in securities of growth 
to late stage private issuers in Canada and the United States, that are either thinly traded or have no market at all. It is possible 
that the Company may not be able to sell portions of such positions without facing substantially adverse prices, or may be 
required to sell such securities before their intended investment horizon, which could negatively impact the performance of 
investments and the Company’s financial condition, profitability and cash flows. 

Furthermore, it is possible and expected that certain of the private issuer Portfolio Companies will consider having their 
securities listed with a stock exchange, as a means of creating liquidity for its investors. However, there can be no assurance 
that the listing of these securities will provide a viable exit mechanism, as these securities may experience low trading volumes 
and a low market capitalization at the time of intended disposal. Also, securities laws in Canada or elsewhere may impose an 
escrow or lock-in period on promoters’ holdings in private businesses seeking listing through initial public offerings, which 
would reduce secondary market liquidity. Although the Company would generally endeavour to avoid or minimize such escrow 
or lock-in restrictions on its shareholdings in its portfolio investments, there can be no assurance that it will be able to do so. 

Competitive Market for Investment Opportunities 

The Company competes with a large number of other investors, such as private equity funds, mezzanine funds, investment 
banks and other equity and non-equity based public and private investment funds, and other sources of financing, including 
traditional financial services companies, such as commercial banks. Competitors may have a lower cost of funds and may have 
access to funding sources that are not available to the Company. In addition, certain competitors of the Company may have 
higher risk tolerances or different risk assessments, which could allow them to consider a wider variety of investments and 
establish more relationships and build their respective market shares. There can be no assurance that the competitive pressures 
faced by the Company will not have a material adverse effect on its activities, financial condition and results of operations. In 
addition, as a result of this competition, the Company may not be able to take advantage of attractive investment opportunities 
from time to time and there can be no assurance that it will be able to identify and make investments. 

The success of the Company will depend on the availability of appropriate investment opportunities and the ability of the 
Company or the Manager to identify and source those investments. There can be no assurance that there will be a sufficient 
number of suitable investment opportunities to enable the Company to invest all of the net proceeds of the Offering or that such 
investment opportunities will lead to completed investments by the Company. As noted above, the Company will be competing 
with private equity funds, as well as mezzanine funds, institutional investors and, potentially, strategic investors, for prospective 
investments. As a result of this competition, there can be no assurance that the Company will be able to locate suitable 
investment opportunities, acquire such investments on acceptable terms, achieve an acceptable rate of return or fully invest the 
net proceeds of the Offering and the Management Investment. 
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Competition and Technology Risks 

The Company intends to hold investments in the securities of businesses that face intense competitive pressures within the 
markets in which they operate. Many factors, including market and technological changes, may erode the competitive 
advantages of the businesses in which the Company invests. Accordingly, the Company’s future operating results will depend, 
to a degree, on whether or not those businesses are successful in protecting or enhancing their competitive positioning. 

Use of Leverage 

The Company will not undertake a significant debt financing (except ordinary course short-term trade or accounts payable) 
unless such a financing is done after the Company has deployed more than 50% of the net proceeds of the Offering and the 
Management Investment. Following such time, the Company may borrow up to an amount not exceeding 20% of the Total 
Assets, measured at the time of borrowing. The risk to Shareholders may increase if investments purchased with borrowed 
money decline in value. While the use of leverage can increase the rate of return, it can also increase the magnitude of loss in 
unprofitable positions beyond the loss which would have occurred if there had been no borrowings. The interest expense and 
other costs incurred in connection with such borrowing may not be recovered by appreciation in the securities purchased or 
carried. Leveraging will thus tend to magnify the losses or gains from investment activities. 

If at any time an amount owed is called by a lender, the Company may be required to liquidate its investments to comply with 
the restriction or to repay the indebtedness. Such sales may occur at a time when the market for the securities of a portfolio 
investment is depressed, affecting the value of the portfolio investment and the return to the Company. In addition, the Company 
may not be able to renew loan facilities on acceptable terms. 

There can be no assurance that the borrowing strategy employed by the Company will enhance returns, and it may, in fact, 
reduce returns. 

Credit Risk 

Credit risk is the risk of a financial loss occurring as a result of default of a counterparty on its obligations to the Company. 
The Company may be subject to credit risk on its financial assets, including loans receivable and corporate debt investments, 
such as bonds. 

Tax Risks 

There can be no assurances that the tax laws applicable to the Company under the Tax Act or under foreign tax regimes will 
not be changed in a manner which could adversely affect the Company’s operating results or profitability. 

Regulatory Changes 

Certain industries, such as financial services, health care, and telecommunications, remain heavily regulated and may be more 
susceptible to an acceleration in regulatory initiatives in Canada, the United States and elsewhere. Investments in these sectors 
may be substantially affected by changes in government policy, and the Company cannot predict whether or not such changes 
will have a material adverse impact on the Company’s investments or Company profitability. 

Use of Custodian and/or a Broker to Hold Assets 

Some or all of the assets of the Company may be held in one or more margin accounts maintained by the Custodian. The 
Custodian or a broker appointed by the Company may also lend, pledge or hypothecate the assets of the Company. The 
Company may experience losses due to insufficient assets of the Custodian or such broker to satisfy the claims of its creditors, 
and adverse market movements while its positions cannot be traded, and which would adversely affect the total return to the 
Company. 

PROMOTER 

The Manager has taken the initiative in founding and organizing the Company and may therefore be considered a promoter of 
the Company for the purposes of applicable securities legislation. The Manager will not hold any Common Shares or IPO 
Warrants immediately following Closing. The owners of the Manager, being the Management Investors, will acquire Common 
Shares and IPO Warrants under the Management Investment as described under “Management Investment”. The Manager also 
acts as manager of the Company under the Management Agreement and thereby receives certain fees as described under “The 
Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee. The Manager will not receive any benefits, directly or indirectly, from the 
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issuance of securities offered hereunder other than as described under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance 
Fee”. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

Since April 1, 2021, there are no existing legal proceedings to which the Company is or was a party to, or that any of its property 
is or was the subject of, nor is the Company aware of any such legal proceedings being contemplated. 

There were no: (i) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Company by a court relating to provincial and territorial securities 
legislation or by a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this prospectus; (ii) 
other penalties and sanctions imposed by court or regulatory body against the Company that the Company believes must be 
disclosed for this prospectus to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities distributed 
under the Offering; or (iii) settlement agreements the Company entered into before a court relating to provincial and territorial 
securities legislation or with a securities regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date of this 
prospectus. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

Other than as described elsewhere in this prospectus, there are no material interests, direct or indirect, of any of the Company’s 
directors or executive officers, any shareholder that beneficially owns, or controls or directs (directly or indirectly), more than 
10% of any class or series of the Company’s outstanding voting securities, or any associate or affiliate of any of the foregoing 
persons, in any transaction within the three years before the date hereof that has materially affected or is reasonably expected 
to materially affect the Company. 

EXPERTS 

The matters referred to under “Eligibility for Investment” and “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”, as well 
as certain other legal matters relating to the issue and sale of the Units, will be passed upon on behalf of the Company by 
Fogler, Rubinoff LLP and on behalf of the Agents by Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP. As at the date of this prospectus, the 
partners and associates of each of Fogler, Rubinoff LLP and Blake, Cassels & Graydon LLP beneficially own, directly and 
indirectly, less than 1% of the outstanding securities or other property of the Company, its associates or its affiliates. 

AUDITOR, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants, located at 18 York Street, 
Suite 2600, Toronto, Ontario, Canada M5J 0B2, is the Company’s auditor and is independent of the Company within the 
meaning of the Rules of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares will be Computershare Investor Services Inc. at its principal office 
located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. The transfer agent and registrar for the IPO Warrants will be Computershare Trust 
Company of Canada at its principal office located in Toronto, Ontario, Canada. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

This prospectus includes a summary description of certain of the Company’s material agreements. The summary description 
discloses all attributes material to an investor in the Units but is not complete and is qualified by reference to the terms of the 
material agreements, which will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com, under Stack Capital’s profile. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such material agreements. 

The following are the Company’s only material contracts that will be in effect on Closing (other than certain agreements entered 
into in the ordinary course of business):  

(a) the Agency Agreement;  

(b) the Warrant Indenture; 

(c) the Management Agreement; 

(d) the Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement; and 

(e) the Custody Agreement. 
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Copies of the foregoing documents will be available following Closing on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in certain of the provinces and territories of Canada provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from 
an agreement to purchase securities. This right may be exercised within two business days after receipt or deemed receipt of a 
prospectus and any amendment. In several of the provinces and territories, the securities legislation further provides a purchaser 
with remedies for rescission or, in some jurisdictions, revisions of the price or damages if the prospectus and any amendment 
contains a misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of the 
price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities legislation of the purchaser’s 
province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s 
province or territory for the particulars of these rights or consult with a legal adviser. 

In an offering of exercisable securities, investors are cautioned that the statutory right of action for damages for a 
misrepresentation contained in the prospectus is limited, in certain provincial and territorial securities legislation, to the price 
at which the exercisable securities is offered to the public under the prospectus offering. This means that, under the securities 
legislation of certain provinces and territories, if the purchaser pays additional amounts upon exercise of the security, those 
amounts may not be recoverable under the statutory right of action for damages that applies in those provinces and territories. 
The purchaser should refer to any applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for 
the particulars of this right of action for damages or consult with a legal adviser. 
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GLOSSARY 

“75% Investment Requirement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Important Information About this Prospectus”; 

“Advance Notice Provisions” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Description of Share Capital – Nomination of 
Directors”; 

“Advisory Board” means the advisory board of the Company, as described under “Directors and Management of the Company 
– Advisory Board”; 

“Agency Agreement” means the agency agreement among the Company, the Manager and the Agents dated June 9, 2021, as 
further described under “Plan of Distribution”; 

“Agents” means, collectively, TD Securities Inc., RBC Dominion Securities Inc., Scotia Capital Inc., National Bank Financial 
Inc., Canaccord Genuity Corp., Raymond James Ltd., Cormark Securities Inc., Haywood Securities Inc., iA Private Wealth 
Inc., Manulife Securities Incorporated, Richardson Wealth Ltd. and Wellington-Altus Private Wealth Inc.; 

“Audit Committee” means the audit committee of the Board, as described under “Directors and Management of the Company 
– Committees of the Board – Audit Committee”; 

“Board” means the board of directors of the Company; 

“Book Value” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Calculation of Total Assets and Book Value”; 

“Book Value per Share” means, on any day, the Book Value of the Company on such day divided by the aggregate number 
of Common Shares that are outstanding on such day; 

“Business Opportunity Allocation Agreement” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Allocation of 
Investment Opportunities”; 

“Calculation Period” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“CBCA” means the Canada Business Corporations Act; 

“CDS” means CDS Clearing and Depository Services Inc.; 

“Closing” means the closing of the Offering; 

“Closing Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Code of Conduct” means the code of conduct of the Company, as further described under “Directors and Management of the 
Company – Directors and Executive Officers”; 

“Common Shares” means the common shares in the capital of the Company, as further described under “Description of Share 
Capital – Common Shares”; 

“CRA” means the Canada Revenue Agency; 

“Custodian” means TD Securities Inc., acting as custodian under the Custody Agreement; 

“Custody Agreement” means an agreement to be entered into among the Company and the Custodian pursuant to which the 
Custodian will provide certain custodial services to the Company in respect of the Company’s investment portfolio and certain 
other assets of the Company; 

“Designated Rating Organization” means: (a) each of DBRS, Fitch, Moody’s, S&P, including their DRO affiliates; or (b) 
any other credit rating organization that has been designated under applicable Canadian securities legislation; 

“Determination Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“DRO affiliate” has the same meaning as in section 1 of National Instrument 25-101 − Designated Rating Organizations; 
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“Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee” means the governance, compensation and nominating committee 
of the Board, as described under “Directors and Management of the Company – Committees of the Board – Governance, 
Compensation and Nominating Committee”; 

“High Water Mark” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board; 

“IFRS 10” means International Financial Reporting Standards 10 – Consolidated Financial Statements; 

“Investment Concentration Restriction” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Important Information About this 
Prospectus”; 

“IPO Warrants” means the Common Share purchase warrants in the capital of the Company, as further described under 
“Description of Share Capital – IPO Warrants”; 

“Manager” means SC Partners Ltd., a corporation incorporated under the laws of the Province of Ontario; 

“Management Agreement” means the management agreement to be entered into on Closing between the Company and the 
Manager, as amended, restated or supplemented from time to time, as further described under “The Manager – Details of the 
Management Agreement”; 

“Management Fee” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“Management Investors” means Jeffrey Parks, Jason Meiers, Jimmy Vaiopoulos and Brian Viveiros; 

“Market Price” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“Material Company Breach” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Details of the Management 
Agreement”; 

“Members of the Immediate Family” means with respect to any individual, each parent (whether by birth or adoption), 
spouse, child (including any step-child) or other descendants (whether by birth or adoption) of such individual, each spouse of 
any of the aforementioned persons, each trust created solely for the benefit of such individual and/or one or more of the 
aforementioned persons, and each legal representative of such individual or of any aforementioned persons (including without 
limitation a tutor, curator, mandatary due to incapacity, custodian, guardian or testamentary executor), acting in such capacity 
under the authority of the law, an order from a competent tribunal, a will or a mandate in case of incapacity or similar instrument.
For the purposes of this definition, a person shall be considered the spouse of an individual if such person is legally married to 
such individual, lives in a civil union with such individual or is the common law partner (as defined in the Tax Act) of such 
individual, and a person who was the spouse of an individual within the meaning of this paragraph immediately before the 
death of such individual shall continue to be considered a spouse of such individual after the death of such individual; 

“Minimum Offering” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Named Executive Officer” is defined by securities legislation to mean: (i) the Chief Executive Officer; (ii) the Chief Financial 
Officer; (iii) each of the three most highly compensated executive officers of the Company, including any of its subsidiaries, 
or the three most highly compensated individuals acting in a similar capacity, other than the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, at the end of the most recently completed financial year whose total compensation was, individually, more 
than $150,000 for that financial year; and (iv) each individual who would be a “Named Executive Officer” under paragraph (iii) 
but for the fact that the individual was neither an executive officer of the Company or its subsidiaries, nor acting in a similar 
capacity, at the end of the most recently completed financial year. 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements of the Canadian Securities Administrators, 
as amended from time to time; 

“NI 51-102” means National Instrument 51-102 – Continuous Disclosure Obligations of the Canadian Securities 
Administrators, as amended from time to time; 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees of the Canadian Securities Administrators, as amended 
from time to time; 
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“No Cause Termination Right” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Details of the Management 
Agreement”; 

“Non-Competition Arrangements” means the non-competition arrangements embodied in the Management Agreement 
between the Company and the Management Investors as described under “The Manager – Non-Competition Arrangements”; 

“Offering” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Offering Price” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Over-Allotment Option” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Performance Fee” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“Permitted Holders” means: (a) a Management Investor and any Members of the Immediate Family of such Management 
Investor; and (b) any person or entity controlled, directly or indirectly, by one or more persons referred to in clause (a); 

“Permitted Low-Risk Investments” means: (a) an evidence of indebtedness that is issued, or fully and unconditionally 
guaranteed as to principal and interest, by (i) the government of Canada or the government of a jurisdiction, (ii) the government 
of the United States, the government of one of the states of the United States, the government of another sovereign state, or a 
Permitted Supranational Agency, if, in each case, the evidence of indebtedness has a designated rating, or (iii) a Canadian 
financial institution or a financial institution that is not incorporated or organized under the laws of Canada or of a province or 
municipality thereof if, in either case, evidences of indebtedness of that issuer or guarantor that are rated as short term debt by 
a Designated Rating Organization or its DRO affiliate have a designated rating; (b) commercial paper that has a term to maturity 
of 365 days or less and an approved credit rating and that was issued by a person or company other than a government or 
Permitted Supranational Agency; (c) money market mutual funds; and (d) deposits standing to the credit of the Company in 
the records of a bank or a credit union (including investments guaranteed by the Government of Canada or of a province or 
territory of Canada, deposits in or receipts, deposit notes, certificates of deposits, acceptances and other similar instruments 
issued, endorsed or guaranteed by a bank listed in Schedule I of the Bank Act (Canada)); 

“Permitted Supranational Agency” means the African Development Bank, the Asian Development Bank, the Caribbean 
Development Bank, the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, the European Investment Bank, the Inter-
American Development Bank, the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and the International Finance 
Corporation; 

“PF Payment Date” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “The Manager – Management Fee and Performance Fee”; 

“Plan” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Eligibility for Investment”; 

“Portfolio Company” has the meaning ascribed thereto on the cover page of this prospectus; 

“Regulations” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”; 

“SEDAR” means the System for Electronic Document Analysis and Retrieval at www.sedar.com; 

“SN 51-349” means Canadian Securities Administrators Multilateral Staff Notice 51-349 Report on the Review of Investment 
Entities and Guide for Disclosure Improvements; 

“SPAC” means a Special Purpose Acquisition Corporation as contemplated in the TSX Company Manual; 

“Tax Act” means the Income Tax Act (Canada) and the regulations thereunder; 

“Tax Proposals” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Certain Canadian Federal Income Tax Considerations”; 

“Total Assets” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Calculation of Total Assets and Book Value”; 

“TSX” means the Toronto Stock Exchange; 

“U.S. Person” has the meaning ascribed thereto under Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act; 

“U.S. Securities Act” means the United States Securities Act of 1933, as amended; 
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“United States” has the meaning ascribed thereto in Regulation S under the U.S. Securities Act; 

“Units” means those units of the Company being sold under the Offering, consisting of one Common Share and one-half of an 
IPO Warrant; 

“Voluntary Measures” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Important Information About this Prospectus”; 

“Voluntary Measures By-Law Provisions” has the meaning ascribed thereto under “Important Information About this 
Prospectus”; 

“Warrant Agent” means Computershare Trust Company of Canada, in its capacity as warrant agent under the Warrant 
Indenture; and 

“Warrant Indenture” means the warrant indenture to be dated as of the Closing Date between the Company and the Warrant 
Agent as further described under “Description of Share Capital – IPO Warrants”. 
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Independent auditor’s report 

To the Directors of Stack Capital Group Inc. 

Our opinion 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Stack 
Capital Group Inc. (the Company) as at April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation), and its financial performance and its cash flows 
for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IFRS). 

What we have audited 
The Company’s financial statements comprise: 

• the statement of financial position as at April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation); 

• the statement of earnings for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation); 

• the statement of comprehensive income for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation); 

• the statement of shareholder’s equity for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation); 

• the statement of cash flows for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation); and 

• the notes to the financial statements, which include significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

 Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Independence
We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial 
statements in Canada. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statement 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS, and 
for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 
management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process.  

 Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statement 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is 
a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
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As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and 
perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to 
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern.  

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether 
the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.  

/s/PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP

Chartered Professional Accountants, Licensed Public Accountants 

Toronto, Ontario 
June 9, 2021 
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Stack Capital Group Inc. 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Statement of Financial Position as at April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) 

2021 

Assets 

    Current assets 

        Cash $               10 

Shareholder’s equity 

    Share capital – 1 common share issued and outstanding $               10 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 

Approved on behalf of the Board: 

“Jeff Parks” “John Bell” 
Director & Chief Executive Officer Director 
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Stack Capital Group Inc. 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Statement of Earnings for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) 

Revenue $              - 

Expenses - 

Provision for income taxes - 

Net earnings  $              -

Stack Capital Group Inc. 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Statement of Comprehensive Income for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) 

Net earnings $              - 

Other comprehensive income, net of income taxes - 

Comprehensive income $              -

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Stack Capital Group Inc. 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Statement of Shareholder’s Equity for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) 

Shareholder’s Equity, beginning of period $                 - 

Issuance of 1 common share 10 

Shareholder’s Equity, end of period $              10              

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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Stack Capital Group Inc. 
(In Canadian dollars) 

Statement of Cash Flows for the one day period ended April 1, 2021 (date of incorporation) 

Financing activity 

Issuance of 1 common share $              10                  
Increase in cash $              10              

Cash, beginning of period - 
Cash, end of period $              10 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Financial Statements  
April 1, 2021 
(in Canadian dollars unless otherwise stated)

1. Business operations 

Stack Capital Group Inc. (the “Company”) is an investment holding company. Its business objective is to maximize its long-
term capital appreciation by seeking to achieve superior risk-adjusted investment performance. The Company intends to invest 
in equity, debt and/or other securities of high growth, early-to-late-stage private businesses. 

SC Partners Ltd. (the “Manager”) has taken the initiative in creating the Company and will act as the company’s administrator 
and is responsible to source and advise with respect to all investments for the Company. The Company is federally incorporated 
and domiciled in Ontario, Canada. The registered office of the Company and the Manager is located at 77 King St. W, Suite 
3000, Toronto, ON, M5K 1G8. 

2. Basis of presentation 

The financial statements of the Company, as at and for the one day period ended April 1, 2021, were prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 

The financial statements as at April 1, 2021 were approved for issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on May 10, 2021. 

3. Summary of significant accounting policies 

Functional and presentation currency 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the company’s functional and presentation currency. 

Cash 
Cash comprises cash on deposit and is stated at fair value. 

4. Fair value 

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The carrying value of cash approximates its fair value. 

5. Risks associated with financial instruments 

The Company’s overall risk management program seeks to maximize the returns derived for the level of risk to which the 
Company is exposed and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. 

Credit risk 
The Company is exposed to credit risk, which is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for 
the other party by failing to discharge an obligation. As at April 1, 2021, the credit risk is considered limited. 

6. Share capital 

The Company’s authorized share capital consists of an unlimited number of common shares. 

As at April 1, 2021, one common share was issued and outstanding. 

7. Related party transactions 

The Manager is currently the Company’s sole shareholder. 

8. Subsequent events 

On May 12, 2021, the Company filed a preliminary long form prospectus, and the Company is expected to file a (final) long 
form prospectus for purposes of completing a Canadian initial public offering of units consisting of one common share in the 
capital of the Company and one-half of a common share purchase warrant. Concurrent with the closing, certain directors and 
officers of the Manager have agreed to a private placement for units of the Company which is a precondition of the closing of 
the initial public offering. The Company intends to finalize an agreement for a U.S. private placement for units of the Company 
at the date of closing. 
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APPENDIX A − BOARD MANDATE 

STACK CAPITAL GROUP INC. 

MANDATE OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

1. Statement of Purpose 

The Board of Directors (the “Board”) is responsible for the stewardship of Stack Capital Group Inc. (“Stack Capital”) 
and for supervising the management of the business and affairs of Stack Capital. Accordingly, the Board acts as the ultimate 
decision-making body of Stack Capital, except with respect to those matters that must be approved by the shareholders or upon 
which discretionary authority has been delegated to Stack Capital’s manager (the “Manager”). The Board has the power to 
delegate its authority and duties to committees or individual members, to senior management and to the Manager as it 
determines appropriate, subject to any applicable law. The Board explicitly delegates to senior management responsibility for 
the day-to-day operations of Stack Capital, including for all matters not specifically assigned to the Board or to any committee 
of the Board. Where a committee of the Board, senior management or the Manager is responsible for making recommendations 
to the Board, the Board will carefully consider those recommendations. 

2. Board Mandate 

The Board members’ primary responsibility is to act in good faith and to exercise their business judgment in what 
they reasonably believe to be the best interests of Stack Capital. In fulfilling its responsibilities, the Board is, among other 
matters, responsible for the following: 

• exercising its powers and taking whatever actions may be necessary or desirable in order to carry out Stack 
Capital’s investment objectives, as stated in its articles of incorporation or elsewhere; 

• determining, from time to time, the appropriate criteria against which to evaluate performance, and set strategic 
goals and objectives within this context; 

• monitoring performance against both strategic goals and objectives of Stack Capital and the Manager; 

• appointing the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and other corporate officers of Stack Capital; 

• delegating to the CEO the authority to manage and supervise the business of Stack Capital, including making 
any decisions regarding Stack Capital’s ordinary course of business and operations that are not specifically 
reserved to the Board under the terms of that delegation of authority; 

• determining what, if any, executive limitations may be required in the exercise of the authority delegated to 
management; 

• on an ongoing basis, satisfying itself as to the integrity of the CEO and other executive officers and that the CEO 
and the other executive officers create a culture of integrity throughout Stack Capital; 

• monitoring and evaluating the performance of the CEO and the other executive officers against the corporate 
objectives; 

• succession planning; 

• participating in the development of and approving a long-term strategic plan for Stack Capital; 

• reviewing and approving the business and investment objectives to be met by management and ensuring they 
are consistent with long-term goals; 

• satisfying itself that Stack Capital is pursuing a sound strategic direction in accordance with the corporate 
objectives; 

• reviewing operating and financial performance results relative to established corporate objectives; 

• approving an annual fiscal plan and setting targets and budgets against which to measure executive performance 
and the performance of Stack Capital; 

• ensuring that it understands the principal risks of Stack Capital’s business, and that appropriate systems to 
manage these risks are implemented; 

• ensuring that the materials and information provided by Stack Capital to the Board and its committees are 
sufficient in their scope and content and in their timing to allow the Board and its committees to satisfy their 
duties and obligations; 
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• reviewing and approving Stack Capital’s annual and interim financial statements and related management’s 
discussion and analysis, annual information form, annual report (if any) and management circular; 

• overseeing Stack Capital’s compliance with applicable audit, accounting and reporting requirements, including 
in the areas of internal control over financial reporting and disclosure controls and procedures; 

• confirming the integrity of Stack Capital’s internal control and management information systems; 

• approving any securities issuances and repurchases by Stack Capital; 

• determining the amount and timing of dividends to shareholders, if any; 

• approving the nomination of directors; 

• maintaining records and providing reports to shareholders; 

• establishing committees of the Board, where required or prudent, and defining their respective mandates; 

• approving the charters of the Board committees and approving the appointment of directors to Board committees 
and the appointment of the Chairs of those committees; 

• satisfying itself that a process is in place with respect to the appointment, development, evaluation and succession 
of senior management; 

• adopting a communications policy for Stack Capital (including ensuring the timeliness and integrity of 
communications to shareholders, other stakeholders and the public and establishing suitable mechanisms to 
receive shareholder views); and 

• monitoring the social responsibility, integrity and ethics of Stack Capital. 

3. Independence of Directors

The Board believes that the majority of its members should be independent. For this purpose, a director is independent 
if he or she would be independent within the meaning of National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance 
Practices, as the same may be amended from time to time. On an annual basis, the Board will determine which of its directors 
is independent based on the rules of applicable stock exchanges and securities regulatory authorities and will publish its 
determinations in the management circular for Stack Capital’s annual meeting of shareholders. Directors have an on-going 
obligation to inform the Board of any material changes in their circumstances or relationships that may affect the Board’s 
determination as to their independence and, depending on the nature of the change, a director may be asked to resign as a result. 

4. Board Size

The Board will periodically review whether its current size is appropriate. The size of the Board will, in any case, be 
within the minimum and maximum number provided for in the articles of Stack Capital (1 to 10). 

5. Committees

The Board will have an audit committee, and a governance, compensation and nominating committee, the charters of 
each of which will be as established by the Board from time to time. The Board may, from time to time, establish and maintain 
additional or different committees as it deems necessary or appropriate. 

Circumstances may warrant the establishment of new committees, the disbanding of existing committees or the 
reassignment of authority and responsibilities amongst committees. The authority and responsibilities of each committee are 
set out in a written mandate approved by the Board. At least annually, each mandate shall be reviewed and, on the 
recommendation of the governance, compensation and nominating committee, approved by the Board. Each committee Chair 
shall provide a report to the Board on material matters considered by the committee at the next regular Board meeting following 
such committee’s meeting. 

6. Board Meetings

Agenda 

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for establishing the agenda for each Board meeting. 
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Frequency of Meetings 

The Board will meet as often as the Board considers appropriate to fulfill its duties, but in any event at least once per 
quarter. 

Responsibilities of Directors with Respect to Meetings 

Directors are expected to regularly attend Board meetings and Board committee meetings (as applicable) and to review 
in advance all materials for Board meetings and Board committee meetings (as applicable). 

Minutes 

Regular minutes of Board and Board committee proceedings will be kept and will be circulated on a timely basis to 
all directors and Board committee members, as applicable, and the Chairman of the Board (and to other directors, by request, 
for review and approval). 

Attendance at Meetings 

The Board (or any Board committee) may invite, at its discretion, non-directors to attend a meeting. Any member of 
management will attend a meeting if invited by the Board or Board committee, as applicable. The Chairman of the Board may 
attend any Board committee meeting. 

Meetings of Independent Directors 

After each meeting of the Board, the independent directors may meet without the non-independent directors. In 
addition, separate, regularly scheduled meetings of the independent directors of the Board may be held, at which members of 
management are not present. The agenda for each Board meeting (and each Board committee meeting to which members of 
management have been invited) will afford an opportunity for the independent directors to meet separately. 

Residency 

Applicable residency requirements will be complied with in respect of any Board or Board committee meeting. 

7. Communications with Shareholders and Others 

The Board will ensure that there is timely communication of material corporate information to shareholders. 

Shareholders and others, including other securityholders, may contact the Board with any questions or concerns, 
including complaints with respect to accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters, by contacting the Chief 
Financial Officer of Stack Capital at such address or telephone number designated by Stack Capital from time to time. 

8. Service on other Boards and Audit Committees

The Board believes that its members should be permitted to serve on the boards of other public entities so long as 
these commitments do not materially interfere with and are not incompatible with their ability to fulfill their duties as a member 
of the Board. 

9. Code of Conduct

The Board will adopt a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code”). The Board expects all directors, officers 
and employees of Stack Capital and its subsidiaries to conduct themselves in accordance with the highest ethical standards, and 
to adhere to the Code. Any waiver of the Code for directors or executive officers may only be made by the Board or one of its 
committees and will be promptly disclosed by Stack Capital, as required by applicable law, including the requirements of any 
applicable stock exchanges. 
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APPENDIX B − AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER 

STACK CAPITAL GROUP INC. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER  

1. Statement of Purpose 

The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) of Stack Capital Group Inc. (“Stack Capital”) has been established by the 
Board of Directors of Stack Capital (the “Board”) for the purpose of overseeing the accounting and financial reporting 
processes of Stack Capital, including the audit of the financial statements of Stack Capital. 

The Committee is responsible for assisting with the Board’s oversight of: (1) the quality and integrity of Stack 
Capital’s financial statements and related disclosure; (2) Stack Capital’s compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; 
(3) the independent auditor’s qualifications, performance and independence; and (4) the integrity of the internal controls at 
Stack Capital. 

2. Committee Membership 

Members 

The Committee will consist of as many members of the Board as the Board may determine but, in any event, not less 
than three members, a majority of whom shall be resident Canadians. Members of the Committee will be appointed by the 
Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating 
Committee of the Board (the “Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee”). Any member of the Committee 
may be removed and replaced at any time by the Board, and will automatically cease to be a member if he or she ceases to meet 
the qualifications set out below. The Board will fill vacancies on the Committee by appointment from among qualified members 
of the Board, taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating 
Committee. If a vacancy exists, the remaining members of the Committee may exercise all of its powers so long as there is a 
quorum and subject to any legal requirements regarding the minimum number of members of the Committee. 

Chair 

Each year, the Board will designate one of the members of the Committee to be the Chair of the Committee (the 
“Chair”), taking into account any recommendation that may be made by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating 
Committee. If, in any year, the Board does not appoint a Chair, the incumbent Chair shall continue in office until a successor 
is appointed. The Board will adopt and approve a position description for the Chair which sets out his or her role and 
responsibilities. 

Qualifications 

All of the members of the Committee shall be selected based upon the following, to the extent that the following are 
required under the applicable law: (i) each member shall be an independent director; and (ii) each member shall be financially 
literate. For the purpose of this Charter, the terms “independent” and “financially literate” shall have the meanings attributed 
thereto in National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees, as the same may be amended or replaced from time to time. 

Tenure 

Each member of the Committee shall hold office until his or her term as a member of the Committee expires or is 
terminated. 

Ex Officio Members and Management Attendance 

The Committee may invite, at its discretion, members of management of Stack Capital or its manager to attend any 
meetings of the Committee. Any member of management of Stack Capital or its manager will attend a Committee meeting if 
invited by the Committee. The Chairman of the Board, if not already a member of the Committee, will be entitled to attend 
each meeting of the Committee as an observer. 
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3. Committee Operations

Frequency of Meetings 

The Chair, in consultation with the other members of the Committee, will determine the schedule and frequency of 
meetings of the Committee, provided that the Committee will meet at least once per quarter. 

Agenda and Reporting to the Board 

The Chair will establish the agenda for meetings in consultation with the other members of the Committee and the 
Chairman of the Board. To the maximum extent possible, the agenda and meeting materials will be circulated to the Committee 
members in advance to ensure sufficient time for study prior to the meeting. The Committee will report to the Board at the next 
meeting of the Board following each Committee meeting. 

Minutes 

Regular minutes of Committee proceedings will be kept and will be circulated to all Committee members and the 
Chairman of the Board (and to any other director that requests that they be sent to him or her) on a timely basis for review and 
approval. 

Quorum 

A quorum at any Committee meeting will be a simple majority. 

Procedure 

The procedure at Committee meetings will be determined by the Committee. 

Transaction of Business 

The powers of the Committee may be exercised at a Committee meeting where a quorum is present or by resolution 
in writing signed by all members of the Committee. 

Absence of Chair 

In the absence of the Chair, the Committee may appoint one of its other members to act as chair of that meeting. 

Exercise of Power Between Meetings 

Between meetings, and subject to any applicable law, the Chair or any member of the Committee designated for this 
purpose, may, if required in the circumstance, exercise any power delegated by the Committee. The Chair or other designated 
member will promptly report to the other Committee members in any case in which this interim power is exercised. 

4. Committee Duties and Responsibilities

The Committee is responsible for performing the duties set out below and any other duties that may be assigned to it 
by the Board, and performing any other functions that may be necessary or appropriate for the performance of its duties. 

Independent Auditor’s Qualifications and Independence 

(i) The Committee must recommend to the Board at all appropriate times the independent auditor to be 
nominated or appointed for the purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, 
review or attest services for Stack Capital and approve the compensation to be paid to the independent 
auditor. 

(ii) The Committee is directly responsible for overseeing the work of the independent auditor engaged for the 
purpose of preparing or issuing an auditor’s report or performing other audit, review or attest services for 
Stack Capital, including the resolution of disagreements between Stack Capital management and the 
independent auditor regarding financial reporting. The independent auditor will report directly to the 
Committee, and the Committee will evaluate and be responsible for Stack Capital’s relationship with the 
independent auditor. 
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(iii) The Committee must pre-approve any permitted non-audit services to be provided by the independent auditor 
to Stack Capital or its subsidiaries, provided that no approval will be provided for any service that is 
prohibited under the rules of the Canadian Public Accountability Board or the Chartered Professional 
Accountants of Canada. The Committee may delegate to one or more of its members the authority to pre-
approve those permitted non-audit services provided that any such pre-approval must be presented to the 
Committee at its next meeting and that the Committee may not delegate pre-approval of any non-audit 
internal control related services. The Committee may also adopt specific policies and procedures relating to 
pre-approval of permitted non-audit services to satisfy the pre-approval requirement provided that the 
procedures are detailed as to the specific service, the Committee is informed of each non-audit service and 
the procedures do not include the delegation of the Committee’s responsibilities to Stack Capital management 
or pre-approval of non-audit internal control related services. The Committee will review with the lead audit 
partner whether any of the audit team members receive any discretionary compensation from the audit firm 
with respect to non-audit services performed by the independent auditor. 

(iv) The Committee will obtain and review with the lead audit partner and a more senior representative of the 
independent auditor, annually or more frequently as the Committee considers appropriate, a report by the 
independent auditor describing: (a) the independent auditor’s internal quality-control procedures; (b) any 
material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the independent 
auditor, or by any inquiry, review or investigation by governmental, professional or other regulatory 
authorities, within the preceding five years, respecting independent audits carried out by the independent 
auditor, and any steps taken to deal with these issues; and (c) in order to assess the independent auditor’s 
independence, all relationships between the independent auditor and Stack Capital and the independent 
auditor’s objectivity and independence in accordance with the rules, policies and standards applicable to 
auditors. 

(v) After reviewing the report referred to above and the independent auditor’s performance throughout the year, 
the Committee will evaluate the independent auditor’s qualifications, performance and independence. The 
evaluation will include a review and evaluation of the lead partner of the independent auditor. In making its 
evaluation, the Committee will take into account the opinions of Stack Capital management and Stack 
Capital’s internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the internal audit function). The Committee 
will also consider whether, in order to assure continuing auditor independence, there should be a rotation of 
the audit firm itself. The Committee will present its conclusions to the Board. 

(vi) The Committee will review with the Board any issues that arise with respect to the performance and 
independence of the independent auditor and, where issues arise, make recommendations about whether 
Stack Capital should continue with that independent auditor. 

(vii) The Committee has the responsibility for approving the independent auditor’s fees. In approving the 
independent auditor’s fees, the Committee should consider, among other things, the number and nature of 
reports issued by the independent auditor, the quality of the internal controls, the impact of the size, 
complexity and financial condition of Stack Capital on the audit work plan, and the extent of internal audit 
and other support provided by Stack Capital to the independent auditor. 

(viii) The Committee will ensure the regular rotation of members of the independent auditor’s team as required by 
law. 

(ix) The Committee will establish hiring policies for employees and former employees of its independent auditor. 

Financial Statements and Financial Review 

(x) The Committee will review the annual audited financial statements and quarterly financial statements with 
management and the independent auditor, including management’s discussion and analysis, before their 
release and their filing with securities regulatory authorities. The Committee will also review all news 
releases relating to annual and interim financial results prior to their public release. The Committee will also 
consider, establish, and periodically review policies with respect to the release or distribution of any other 
financial information, including earnings guidance and any financial information provided to ratings agencies 
and analysts, and review that information prior to its release. 

(xi) The Committee will review all other financial statements of Stack Capital that require approval by the Board 
before they are released to the public, including, without limitation, financial statements for use in 
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prospectuses or other offering or public disclosure documents and financial statements required by regulatory 
authorities. The Committee may review the annual information form and management circular of Stack 
Capital prior to its filing. 

(xii) The Committee will meet separately and periodically with Stack Capital management, the internal auditors 
(or other personnel responsible for the internal audit function) and the independent auditor. 

(xiii) The Committee will oversee Stack Capital management’s design and implementation of an adequate and 
effective system of internal controls at Stack Capital, including ensuring adequate internal audit functions. 
The Committee will review the processes for complying with internal control reporting and certification 
requirements and for evaluating the adequacy and effectiveness of specified controls. The Committee will 
review the annual and interim conclusions of the effectiveness of Stack Capital’s disclosure controls and 
procedures and internal controls and procedures (including the independent auditor’s attestation that is 
required to be filed with securities regulators). 

(xiv) The Committee will review with management and the independent auditor: (a) major issues regarding 
accounting principles and financial statement presentations, including critical accounting principles and 
practices used and any significant changes to Stack Capital’s selection or application of accounting principles, 
and major issues as to the adequacy of Stack Capital’s internal controls and any special audit steps adopted 
in light of material control deficiencies; (b) analyses prepared by Stack Capital management and/or the 
independent auditor setting forth significant financial reporting issues and judgments made in connection 
with the preparation of the financial statements, including analysis of the effects of alternative generally 
accepted accounting principle (“GAAP”) methods on the financial statements of Stack Capital and the 
treatment preferred by the independent auditor; (c) the effect of regulatory and accounting initiatives, as well 
as off-balance sheet structures, on the financial statements of Stack Capital; and (d) the type and presentation 
of information to be included in earnings press releases (including any use of “pro forma” or “adjusted” non-
GAAP information). 

(xv) The Committee will regularly review with the independent auditor any difficulties the auditor encountered 
in the course of its audit work, including any restrictions on the scope of the independent auditor’s activities 
or on access to requested information, and any significant disagreements with management. The Committee 
will also review with the independent auditor any material communications with the independent auditor, 
including any management letter or schedule of unadjusted differences. 

(xvi) The Committee will review with Stack Capital management, and any outside professionals as the Committee 
considers appropriate, important trends and developments in financial reporting practices and requirements 
and their effect on Stack Capital’s financial statements. 

(xvii) The Committee will review with Stack Capital management and the independent auditor the scope, planning 
and staffing of the proposed audit for a current year. The Committee will also review the organization, 
responsibilities, plans, results, budget and staffing of any internal audit departments. In addition, management 
of Stack Capital’s subsidiaries will consult with the Committee, or in the case of Stack Capital’s publicly 
traded subsidiaries, the audit committees of those subsidiaries, on the appointment, replacement, 
reassignment or dismissal of personnel in the respective internal audit departments. 

(xviii) The Committee will meet with management to discuss guidelines and policies governing the process by 
which Stack Capital and its subsidiaries assess and manage exposure to risk and to discuss Stack Capital’s 
major financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and control such exposures. 

(xix) The Committee will review with management, and any internal or external counsel as the Committee 
considers appropriate, any legal matters (including the status of pending litigation) that may have a material 
impact on Stack Capital and any material reports or inquiries from regulatory or governmental agencies. 

(xx) The Committee will review with the Board any issues that arise with respect to the quality or integrity of 
Stack Capital’s financial statements, compliance with legal or regulatory requirements, or the performance 
of the internal audit function. 
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Additional Oversight 

(xxi) The Committee will establish procedures for: (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received 
by Stack Capital regarding accounting, internal accounting controls, auditing matters or potential violations 
of law; and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of Stack Capital of concerns regarding 
questionable accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters or potential violations of law. This 
will include the establishment of a whistleblower policy. 

(xxii) The Committee will annually review the expenses of the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial 
Officer of Stack Capital. 

5. Access to Advisors

The Committee may, in its sole discretion, retain counsel, auditors or other advisors in connection with the execution 
of its duties and responsibilities and may determine the fees of any advisors so retained. Stack Capital will provide the 
Committee with appropriate funding for payment of compensation to such counsel, auditors or other advisors and for ordinary 
administrative expenses of the Committee that are necessary or appropriate in carrying out its duties. 

6. Committee Chair

In addition to the responsibilities of the Chair described above, the Chair has the primary responsibility for monitoring 
developments with respect to financial reporting in general, and reporting to the Committee on any significant developments. 

7. Committee Evaluation 

The performance of the Committee will be evaluated by the Governance, Compensation and Nominating Committee 
as part of its annual evaluation of the Board committees. 
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